EFORWOOD Tools for Sustainability Impact Assessment

Public Preferences for Silvicultural Attributes of European Forests

David Edwards, Marion Jay, Frank Jensen, Beatriz Lucas, Mariella Marzano, Claire Montagne, Andy Peace and Gerhard Weiss



EFI Technical Report 61, 2011

Public Preferences for Silvicultural Attributes of European Forests

David Edwards, Marion Jay, Frank Jensen, Beatriz Lucas, Mariella Marzano, Claire Montagne, Andy Peace and Gerhard Weiss

Publisher: European Forest Institute Torikatu 34, FI-80100 Joensuu, Finland Email: publications@efi.int http://www.efi.int

Editor-in-Chief: Risto Päivinen

Disclaimer: The views expressed are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent those of the European Forest Institute or the European Commission. This report is a deliverable from the EU FP6 Integrated Project EFORWOOD – Tools for Sustainability Impact Assessment of the Forestry-Wood Chain.

Preface

This report is a deliverable from the EU FP6 Integrated Project EFORWOOD – Tools for Sustainability Impact Assessment of the Forestry-Wood Chain. The main objective of EFORWOOD was to develop a tool for Sustainability Impact Assessment (SIA) of Forestry-Wood Chains (FWC) at various scales of geographic area and time perspective. A FWC is determined by economic, ecological, technical, political and social factors, and consists of a number of interconnected processes, from forest regeneration to the end-of-life scenarios of wood-based products. EFORWOOD produced, as an output, a tool, which allows for analysis of sustainability impacts of existing and future FWCs.

The European Forest Institute (EFI) kindly offered the EFORWOOD project consortium to publish relevant deliverables from the project in EFI Technical Reports. The reports published here are project deliverables/results produced over time during the fifty-two months (2005–2010) project period. The reports have not always been subject to a thorough review process and many of them are in the process of, or will be reworked into journal articles, etc. for publication elsewhere. Some of them are just published as a "front-page", the reason being that they might contain restricted information. In case you are interested in one of these reports you may contact the corresponding organisation highlighted on the cover page.

Uppsala in November 2010

Kaj Rosén EFORWOOD coordinator The Forestry Research Institute of Sweden (Skogforsk) Uppsala Science Park SE-751 83 Uppsala E-mail: firstname.lastname@skogforsk.se





Project no. 518128

EFORWOOD

Tools for Sustainability Impact Assessment

Instrument: IP

Thematic Priority: 6.3 Global Change and Ecosystems

Deliverable D2.3.3 Public Preferences for Silvicultural Attributes of European Forests

Due date of deliverable: Month 30 (moved to Month 38) Actual submission date: Month 55

Start date of project: 011105 Duration: 51 months

Organisation name of lead contractor for this deliverable: Forest Research (FR)

Final version

| Project co-funded by the European Commission within the Sixth Framework Programme (2002-2006) | | | | | | |
|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| | Dissemination Level | | | | | |
| PU | Public | Х | | | | |
| PP | Restricted to other programme participants (including the Commission Services) | | | | | |
| RE | Restricted to a group specified by the consortium (including the Commission Services) | | | | | |
| CO | Confidential, only for members of the consortium (including the Commission Services) | | | | | |

Deliverable D2.3.3: Public Preferences for Silvicultural Attributes of European Forests

David Edwards¹, Marion Jay², Frank Jensen³, Beatriz Lucas⁴, Mariella Marzano¹, Claire Montagne⁵, Andy Peace¹ and Gerhard Weiss⁶

¹Forest Research (FR), Northern Research Station, Scotland
 ²Albert-Ludwigs University (ALUFR), Freiburg, Germany
 ³Forest & Landscape (KVL), University of Copenhagen, Denmark
 ⁴Centre Tecnologic Forestal de Catalunya (CTFC), Barcelona, Spain
 ⁵Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA), Nancy, France
 ⁶University of Natural Resources and Applied Sciences (BOKU), Vienna, Austria

Corresponding author: David Edwards, Forest Research, UK E-mail: <u>david.edwards@forestry.gsi.gov.uk</u> Tel: +44 131 445 8495

ABSTRACT

This report seeks to determine the relationship and contribution of 12 key silvicultural attributes to the recreational value of forests in Europe. While the majority of research in this field has focused on individual case studies, this study is one of the few to provide a pan-European synthesis through a combination of a literature review and primary research. A Delphi survey was carried out with panels of experts in each of four contrasting European regions: Great Britain, the Nordic Region, Central Europe, and Iberia. For each attribute, participants were asked to state what they believed to be the nature of the relationship, and relative contribution, of each attribute to the overall recreational value of forests. The findings indicate that 'size of trees' is universally considered one of the most important attributes, along with attributes that reflect level of intervention such as 'size of clear-cuts', 'residue from thinning and harvesting', and 'visual penetration'. The results also suggest that, on average, the public prefer a degree of intervention to 'tidy up' the forest, creating a situation of 'managed naturalness'. Other key findings include the relative unimportance of 'number of tree species'. There are also some striking variations in the ranking of certain attributes across regions. 'Residue' is considered of very little importance in Central Europe whereas it scores highly elsewhere. Similarly, in Great Britain, the highest importance is attached to 'variation in tree size', although this attribute scores low elsewhere. The low importance given to 'variation between stands' in Great Britain contrasts with the Nordic Region and Central Europe, where, arguably, similar kinds of forest may extend across large areas and may be seen to be monotonous.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the 46 members of the four Delphi panels who generously gave their time to participate in the Delphi survey that formed part of the findings presented in this report:

- **Great Britain:** Simon Bell, Mike Christie, Guy Garrod, Max Hislop, Iona Hyde, Anna Lawrence, Alister Scott, Nicholas Shepherd, Bill Slee and Ken Willis.
- Nordic Region: Mattias Boman, Lars Helge Frivold, Vegard Gundersen, Sven-G Hultman, Eeva Karjalainen, Minna Komulainen, Anders Lindhagen, Irja Löfström, Eija Pouta, Dan Rydberg, Tuija Sievänen and Per Wallsten.
- **Central Europe:** Arne Arnberger, Andreas Bernasconi, Matthias Buchecker, Peter Elsasser, Erwin Frohmann, Ralf Hansmann, Marcel Hunziker, Florian Kraxner, Gerd Lupp, Carsten Mann, Andreas Muhar, Ulrike Pröbstl, Stephan Wild-Eck and Veronika Wirth.
- **Iberia:** José G. Borges, Raul Brey, Alejandro Caparrós Gass, Gloria Domínguez Torres, Francois Lefevre, Livia Madureira, Robert Mavsar, Nicolas Robert, Eduardo Rojas Briales, Cristina Vega García.

We also thank Jean-Michel Carnus, Jeoffrey Dehez, Bill Mason, Jose Manuel Gonzalez, Stefania Pizzirani, Mart-Jan Schelhaas, Roz Shields, Mike Smith, Phillip Taylor; other members of the EFORWOOD Module 2 team; and participants at a workshop organised in October 2008 at the 4th International Conference on Monitoring and Management of Visitor Flows in Recreational and Protected Areas (MMV4), Montecatini Terme, Italy.

CONTENTS

| Abstract | 2 |
|---|----|
| Acknowledgements | 3 |
| Contents | 4 |
| 1. INTRODUCTION | 5 |
| 2. MEHODS | 6 |
| The literature review | 6 |
| Assessing recreational value | 6 |
| Selecting silvicultural attributes | 8 |
| The Delphi survey | 10 |
| 3. RESULTS | 13 |
| Results of the Delphi survey | 13 |
| Results of the literature review | 16 |
| 1. Size of trees within stand | 16 |
| 2. Variation in tree size within stand | 19 |
| 3. Variation in tree spacing within stand | 20 |
| 4. Extent of tree cover within stand | 22 |
| 5. Visual penetration through stand | 25 |
| 6. Density of ground cover up to 50cm height within stand | 30 |
| 7. Number of tree species within stand | 31 |
| 8. Size of clear-cuts | 35 |
| 9. Residue from harvesting and thinning | 37 |
| 10. Amount of deadwood (standing and fallen) | 39 |
| 11. Variation between stands along a 5km trail through forest | 41 |
| 12. 'Naturalness' of forest edges | 45 |
| Preferences for naturalness | 46 |
| 4. VARIATIONS IN PUBLIC PREFERENCES | 49 |
| Geographical variation | 49 |
| Social groups | 50 |
| Recreational activities | 54 |
| Contextual factors | 56 |
| 5. CONCLUSIONS | 59 |
| Appendices | 61 |
| Appendix 1: Individual responses to the Delphi survey | 61 |
| Appendix 2: Comments received during the Delphi survey | 66 |
| Bibliography | 73 |

1. INTRODUCTION

As part of the EU-funded Integrated Project EFORWOOD, a computer-based *ex ante* sustainability impact assessment tool ('ToSIA') was developed for the European forestry wood chain. During the project, a set of some 24 indicators was identified through an iterative process with stakeholders, covering as far as possible the three pillars of sustainability: nine indicators under the 'economic' pillar, seven under 'social', and eight under 'environmental'. As part of Work Package 2.3 'Social and Cultural Values', an effort was made to develop the indicator 'recreational value of forests' to reflect the considerable public benefits derived from visits to forests, and to incorporate this within the impact assessment tool. This work was seen as important because, otherwise, the project would only have focused on employment-related social indicators, sending out the message that these represent the only important aspects of social value derived from forests.

The resulting 'recreational value' indicator consisted of a score, on a scale from 1-10, assigned to each of 240 forest stand types across Europe that differed according to tree species composition, stand age, forest management alternative, and region. A conceptual framework and methodology was developed to obtain the scores using a pan-European Delphi survey with 46 experts located in four contrasting European regions: Great Britain, Nordic Region, Central Europe, and Iberia, and then to combine them with outputs from EFISCEN, a forest resource projection model, to assess the long term impacts of changes in forest management to the recreational value of forests (Schelhaas et al., in prep.).

The use of a Delphi survey presented an opportunity to ask additional questions that would provide further insights into the impacts of forest management on recreational value of forests in Europe. A literature review was carried out, which helped the authors to identify 12 key silvicultural attributes with a significant impact on recreational value of forests. For each attribute, Delphi survey participants were asked to state what they believed to be the nature of the relationship, and relative contribution, of each attribute to the overall recreational value. It was apparent from the literature review that the majority of research in this field involves case studies and few attempts have been made to synthesise the results across large geographical areas. For the first time, this study quantified the nature and relative contribution of each attribute to recreational value at a pan-European level.

The geographical focus of the literature review and the Delphi survey was Europe but the review was extended to include key studies and reviews that were produced in the USA, where the information appears to support the European findings or fills in gaps in understanding about preferences for European forests.

In the next section, an account of the literature review and the Delphi survey methodology is given, along with a description of the methods commonly used in forest preference research. Section 3 presents the results of both the survey and the literature review. Section 4 uses additional material from the literature review to explore the extent to which generalisations can be made about public preferences across different geographical regions, social groups and recreational activities. The conclusions highlight key findings and issues raised by the study.

2. METHODS

THE LITERATURE REVIEW

The literature review presented in this report drew upon the combined knowledge of the WP2.3 team comprising social scientists from UK, Denmark, Austria France, Germany and Spain. First, the available English language material was assembled by the UK representatives, and then partners from the other countries supplemented this by searching additional references, including those written in other languages, which they summarised in English using a template. All relevant peer-reviewed work was included so that the findings were based primarily on evidence shown to be robust. However, other sources were used where this appeared to make a significant contribution.

The references were assembled initially through the prior knowledge of individual team members and their colleagues and supplemented with database and internet searches. Search engines that were used included Google Scholar, Web of Knowledge, CAB and AGRIS. To ensure consistency, the following keywords were used by all team members: a) Europe, b) forest, c) National Parks (secondary key term), d) protected areas (secondary key term). These terms were then combined with each of the following: preference, perceptions, silviculture, attitudes, scenic beauty, management alternatives, valuation methods, landscape, recreational benefits, recreational values, zoning, forest design, and forest infrastructure. To avoid repeating the work of others, existing literature reviews were utilised as much as possible, in particular reviews by Ribe (1989) for North America and Europe, and Gundersen and Frivold (2008) for Fennoscandia.

Several points need to be made about the scope of the review, and possible limitations. First, no search can be wholly comprehensive and some articles (e.g. grey literature and work in progress) may not be included. Secondly, the substantial literature on the economic value of non-market benefits of forests contains occasional studies that could be used indirectly to determine relative aesthetic preferences for different types of forest, for example contingent valuation studies that estimate willingness to pay for visits to different types of forest, and hedonic pricing methods to calculate the impact of different types of forest on property prices. Although some of these studies were located, it is likely that others remain undiscovered. Thirdly, it is clear from the results presented here that the coverage of Europe is patchy, with many case studies reported from Scandinavia and fewer studies from Southern and Eastern Europe. To some extent the Delphi survey addresses this uneven coverage in the existing research.

ASSESSING RECREATIONAL VALUE

A continuum of landscape assessment methodologies can be described, from those which emphasise the physical attributes of the setting to those which focus on the subjective meanings attached by individuals who encounter the landscape (Lee (2001: 3). Thus, Lee proposed the following four tiered model, drawing on Zube et al. (1982: 8), Daniel and Vining (1983), Kaplan and Kaplan (1989) and others (cf. Jensen and Koch, 1998: 48ff; Shepherd and Harshaw, 2001).

1. The expert or formal aesthetic model

This method is based upon the view that aesthetic quality is determined by the physical elements of the landscape. There is no emphasis on perception, and the human response is taken as constant (Lee 2001: 3, citing Daniel and Vining, 1983) Lee (2001: 3) writes: "The properties which determine environmental quality are believed to transcend different landscapes and landscape types." These are assessed by skilled and trained observers and typically include the forms, lines, colour and texture of landscape features, while the relationships between these may be assessed in terms of their diversity, harmony, unity and contrast. There are conflicting views on the extent to which the judgements of experts reflect those of the general public (ibid.)

2. The phenomenological or existential model

At the other end of the spectrum are approaches which seek to evaluate the meanings which people attach to the landscape. The approach goes well beyond the visual realm, with the landscape seen as a source of "tactile, olfactory and auditory experiences in addition to actions, affordances and intentions". Similarly, in addition to current subjective feelings, the approach incorporates "the observer's history of experiences, associations, interpretations and expectations". All of these aspects of individual experience cannot be separated and need to be included in the assessment (Lee 2001: 4). The approach uses in-depth interview or analysis of literary sources, producing rich qualitative data on a very small number of samples, but this cannot provide generalisable knowledge of preferences for physical attributes of the landscape (Lee, 2001: 5, cf. Scott et al., 2009).

3. The psychological model

In this approach individuals are asked to select from a checklist of adjectives that describe the landscape. Lee (2001: 5) writes: "A high quality landscape is one that evinces many positive feelings, warmth, security, relaxation, freedom or happiness. A low quality one evinces expressions of claustrophobia, insecurity, gloom, anxiety and so on." The relevance of these feelings is then assessed by relating them to scores for overall scenic quality derived by independent groups of subjects. The approach has identified the importance of the notion of 'mystery', 'complexity', 'coherence' and a 'sense of spatiousness' to landscape quality (Lee, 2001: 5, citing Kaplan and Kaplan, 1989).

4. The psychophysical model

This approach seeks to relate individual physical attributes of the landscape with overall measures of scenic quality, again derived by independent groups of subjects. Lee (2001: 5) argues that the psychophysical approach provides the greatest prospect for incorporating public preferences into planning and design guidelines.

The majority of the information presented in the literature review has been drawn from preference studies that use the psychophysical model, using visual (pictures or computer images) and sometimes verbal or field stimuli to elicit preferences for landscapes that differ according to specific attributes. Jensen and Koch (1988: 55) list a number of advantages of using pictures, including the ability to transmit a large quantity of information to the viewer but disadvantages include the fact that a picture is only a static representation of reality with the possibility that key preference-determining factors are missing. There are issues regarding the extent to which visual preferences derived in this way can act as a proxy for recreational value, and also the scope for generalisation about preferences for forest types across different social groups (see Section 4).

On the relative validity of visual, verbal and field stimuli, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 243) write: "Tahvanainen et al. (2001) found big differences between opinions based on verbal questions and opinions based on photos for grading, and recommended using visual stimuli for assessing people's visual preferences. [...] Koch (1988) and Karjalainen (2006) summarized methodological studies testing the validity of using photos instead of on-site field presentation, and concluded that photos can constitute a valid basis for preference studies of forests and landscapes, regardless of being greyscale or in colour, provided that they are selected carefully." Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 246) continue: "Tyrvainen and Tahvanainen (1999) compared differences in viewer response to 28mm panoramic photographs representing a series of rural landscapes and to computer graphic drawings representing the same landscapes, and found that the presentation format had little effect on the ratings."

The most established approach to assessing and modelling recreational values on the basis of visual representations of a forest is to develop regression models which fit recreational scores (or more precisely visual quality scores) with silvicultural variables derived from inventory data. This work was developed in the USA in the 1970s and 1980s using established psychophysical techniques and referred to as the Scenic Beauty Estimation (SBE) method. It sought to predict the SBE for the forests in a given region on the basis of its silvicultural attributes. Brown and Daniel (1984) describe its history, methods and application with reference to pioneering studies by Shafer et al. (1969), Daniel and Boster (1976) and Arthur (1977). They summarise their approach as a "method of measuring

scenic beauty, standard forest inventory techniques for measuring landscape characteristics, and statistical models to relate the two" (Brown and Daniel, 1984: 3).

Typically, the SBE method involves systematic photography of randomly located views within forested areas. The photographs are then presented to a sample of observers who individually rate the scenic beauty of the image on a ten point scale. The ratings are then adjusted to allow for differences in how individuals used the rating scale to derive unbiased scores for public perception of scenic beauty. The silvicultural attributes of each photographed scene are then measured using standard inventory methods, including ground vegetation, tree height, number of stems, and basal area. A number of regression models are then developed by selecting the optimum number of variables (for which data were available to forest managers) with the most impact on the SBE score. The coefficient for each independent variable in the model reflects its contribution to the overall SBE. Brown and Daniel were able to explain a large proportion of the variance in perceived scenic beauty for the relatively simple ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*) ecosystem in Arizona where they worked (ibid: 3-9, 28).

Since their study was conducted, the method has been applied extensively, in particular in Scandinavia, possibly aided by the relatively simple composition of the Scandinavian forest landscape. A variation on the method, which has been applied in Catalonia (Blasco et al., 2008), is to take photographs of the target tree species and develop computer images of individual trees, which can then be assembled into images representing near views of forest stands with known combinations of variables such as height, density, and level of ground cover. Tyrvainen et al. (2005: 90, citing Karjalainen and Tyrvainen, 2002) write: "Today digital image editing... and in the future virtual landscape simulators offer the most sophisticated means of visualization for landscape research".

SELECTING SILVICULTURAL ATTRIBUTES

The results presented in this report are organised around 12 key silvicultural attributes. These were selected through an iterative process alongside: a) the review of forest preference literature, b) the development of a conceptual framework within Module 2 of EFORWOOD for modelling the impacts of scenarios on sustainability indicators (Edwards et al., in press), c) presentation and discussion of ideas with researchers within and beyond the project, including participants at a workshop organised by WP2.3 at the MMV4 conference in Tuscany in October 2008 on monitoring and management of visitor flows to protected areas, and d) piloting of the Delphi survey questionnaire.

The attributes that were chosen are given in Table 1, listed in the random order that was used throughout the study. Most of the published articles on forest preferences produce their own variation on this typology. Typically the attributes become parameters in one or more regression models. Another typology of attributes with a similar scope and purpose to those given here is provided by Lee (2001) using terms commonly used by UK Forestry Commission landscape architects (see Box 1 below). The typology developed for our study differs to that of Lee's in several ways, including its distinction between stand and landscape level, and its focus on the stand level which provides more scope for modelling. Most importantly, our study uses attributes which have been studied repeatedly in landscape preference research. The aim was to select attributes that support the task of deriving recreational scores for different forest stand types as part of the Delphi survey. As far as possible the attributes were chosen because they were separable and additive (cf. Garrod, 2002: 10).

| Table 1. Silvicultural attributes covered by the study |
|---|
| 1. Size of trees within stand |
| • Stand age: from establishment to maturity |
| Canopy height: from low to high |
| 2. Variation in tree size within stand |
| Variation in tree size: from uniform to diverse |
| • Number of canopy layers: from one to many |
| 3. Variation in tree spacing within stand |
| Variation in tree spacing: from regular to different sized groups of trees and openings |
| 4. Extent of tree cover within stand |
| • Tree cover: from sparse (i.e. retention and seed trees) to moderate (e.g. shelterwood and |
| selection systems) to full (i.e. closed canopy) |
| 5. Visual penetration through stand |
| • Distance visible: from short to long |
| • Understorey and shrub layer: from dense to absent |
| 6. Density of ground vegetation cover up to 50 cm height within stand |
| Ground cover: from absent to dense |
| 7. Number of tree species within stand |
| Number of species: from one to many |
| 8. Size of clear-cuts |
| Size of clear-cuts: from small to large |
| 9. Residue from harvesting and thinning |
| Volume of tree stumps, branches and other visible woody residue: from low to high |
| 10. Amount of natural deadwood (standing and fallen) |
| Volume of deadwood: from low to high |
| 11. Variation <i>between</i> stands along a 5 km trail through forest |
| Number of forest stand types* encountered: from one to many |
| 12. 'Naturalness' of forest edges |
| Proportion of 'natural' looking (i.e. not straight) edges: from low to high |
| |

Box 1. A typology of forest landscape attributes (Source: Lee 2001: 134)

1. Scale (whether the size of a woodland, the proportions of woodland and open ground, and the proportions of different component areas of the woodland reflect the scale of the landscape) 2. Shape (whether the shape of the woodland – external edge shape – and the shape of internal components of the woodland is organic or geometric)

- 3. Broadleaved/conifer
- 4. Overall diversity
- 5. Species diversity
- 6. Age diversity
- 7. Colour diversity (diversity is the number and degree of different features in the landscape)

8. Spacing/density (in distant views, the impression of close planting, closed canopy and an absence of open space contribute to a low score. In internal views, the impression of openness, whether between trees or groups of trees, or through the trees gives a high score)

9. Human intrusion (the extent to which an impression is gained of the hand of man having been present. Thus, discordant man-made features indicate greater intrusion than features which blend, even though they may be equally man-made)

10. Genius loci (the spirit of a place or its strength of character. That which gives the landscape its unique character)

Confusion can arise regarding the distinction between silvicultural 'attributes' and 'interventions'. Many of the studies reported here examine both silvicultural attributes, i.e. measurable features of the forest landscape, and the immediate or longer term effects of interventions, such as different thinning and harvesting regimes. The list of attributes compiled here was restricted to features that can (at least in theory) be measured in any forest stand, regardless of its forest management alternative or phase of development, so that the conclusions can be used to support the process of deriving recreational scores for all stands. As far as possible, evidence of the effects of each type of intervention on public preferences were assigned to the most appropriate silvicultural attribute. The effects of thinning, selection and shelterwood systems are considered mainly under 'visual penetration through stand'. The effects of clear-cuts and related measures which are, at least in part, carried out for aesthetic reasons such as use of retention trees and seed trees are covered under 'extent of tree cover within stand'.

THE DELPHI SURVEY

Once the attributes were selected, and the literature review was carried out, the Delphi survey was implemented. The steps in the survey process are summarised in Table 2, and are based upon the protocol for the Delphi method developed by Novakowski and Wellar (2008). The method is described in detail in Edwards et al. (in press).

Delphi is a social research technique that seeks to provide a reliable group opinion on how to solve a complex problem through the use of expert judgement (Landeta, 2006: 468; cf. Linstone and Turoff, 1975: 3). Typically, a panel of experts is invited to participate anonymously in a questionnaire survey. Questions are structured in a way that allows participants to rank, or select from, a continuum of possible answers, thereby allowing the group statistical response to be analysed. After the first round of responses has been received, the results are summarised by the survey monitor, and the survey is redistributed to each panel member who is given the opportunity to revise their original answers in the light of the full set of anonymous responses. The process undergoes one or more iterations until stability in the responses is reached. Often, but not always, the responses converge towards a position of consensus (Gordon, 1994: 3).

| Preparation for the survey |
|--|
| 1. Identify and address knowledge gaps |
| 2. Ensure Delphi is the most appropriate research instrument |
| Survey design |
| 3. Preparation of draft background report and survey |
| 4. Establish criteria for recruitment of participants |
| 5. Select and contact participants |
| 6. Trial run |
| 7. Final revision of background report and survey |
| Survey implementation |
| 8. Round 1: distribution of report and survey |
| 9. Incorporation of feedback from round 1 |
| 10. Round 2: redistribution of survey |
| 11. Incorporation of feedback from previous round [Return to step 10 until stability is reached] |
| Analysis of results |
| 12. Final tabulation of responses |
| 13. Analysis of final results |
| Dissemination to participants |
| 14. Anonymous post-Delphi survey |
| 15. Dissemination of research results |
| Source: Adapted from 'Flowchart for a normative Delphi' (Novakowski and Wellar, 2008: 1488). |

Table 2. Steps for obtaining recreational scores using the Delphi method

Survey design

To apply the survey across Europe, four panels were assembled, one for each of four case study regions: a) Great Britain (i.e. upland areas of Scotland, England and Wales), b) Nordic Region (i.e. boreal areas of Norway, Sweden and Finland), c) Central Europe (i.e. southern Germany, Austria and Switzerland) and d) Iberia (i.e. Mediterranean areas of Spain and Portugal). These were selected to reflect the diversity of biogeographical and socio-cultural contexts in Europe (cf. Pröbstl *et al.*, 2009). The survey was carried out between September 2009 and January 2010 in parallel in each of the four regions. Overall, 46 experts participated in the survey: 10 in each of the Great Britain and Iberia panels, 12 in the Nordic panel, and 14 in the Central Europe panel. Two rounds were required before stability in responses was reached.

The survey questionnaire presented the 12 attributes and asked participants the following three questions:

(a) For each attribute listed in the table [see Table 1 above], please indicate whether its relationship to the recreational value of the forests in your region is best described as: positive, negative, bell-shaped, U-shaped, or even [see Fig 1 below]. For example, for 'attribute 1', if you think recreational value increases when 'stand age' increases from establishment to maturity, please write 'P' for 'positive'.

(b) For each attribute, please assign a weighting, on a scale from 1 (low) to 10 (high), to indicate its relative contribution to the overall recreational value of the forests in your region. Use the same weighting for different attributes if appropriate.

(c) For each attribute, indicate your level of confidence in your answers for 'a' and 'b' (low, medium, or high).

Please provide any comments and explanations for your answers in the box provided.

Fig 1. Relationships between silvicultural attributes and recreational values

| | Positive Recreational value increases when the level of the attribute increases from low to high |
|------------|---|
| | Negative Recreational value decreases when the level of the attribute increases from low to high |
| \frown | Bell-shaped Recreational value is enhanced by the attribute, except when the level of the attribute is very low or very high |
| \bigcirc | U-shaped Recreational value is reduced by the attribute, except when the level of the attribute is very low or very high |
| | Even Recreational value is not affected by the level of the attribute |

It was explained to participants that: "The 'recreational value' of a forest is defined here in terms of the preferences of people who regularly use forests as sites for recreation (i.e. 'forest visitors'). Their preferences for a given forest are likely to be influenced by many factors, but this survey is concerned only with silvicultural attributes (tree size, stand density, species composition, etc). For most visitors, these are important because they affect the visual attractiveness of the forest. However, some visitors may also value the same attributes for non-aesthetic reasons, e.g. because they provide better habitats

for hunting, bird-watching, or collection of mushrooms and berries. When completing the questions, try to take these differences into account, and answer on behalf of the 'average' visitor."

At the end of Round 1 the scores and comments were collated and provisional analysis carried out. Questionnaires for Round 2 were prepared and circulated. These were tailored for each individual: a table was provided which gave the results from the first round of everyone in their panel. Also, on a separate page, alongside a new score-sheet, their personal scores from Round 1 were provided. Participants were invited to reconsider their previous answers in the light of the aggregated group's response, and to revise them (or comment upon them) if they felt this was appropriate. Once all responses to Round 2 had been received, the results were analysed and, since it was clear that stability in responses had been reached, participants were informed that the survey was completed and asked whether they were willing to have their names identified (see Acknowledgements).

3. RESULTS

This section starts by presenting the results of the Delphi survey for all attributes in all regions. Each attribute is then considered in turn: the Delphi survey findings for that attribute are highlighted and then compared with the relevant findings of the literature review. The comments provided by respondents in each panel have been anonymised, and are reproduced in full in Appendix 2. They cover a range of issues. Most provide explanations for their responses to help with interpretation, while others reflect upon the survey design or their level of confidence in their personal responses.

RESULTS OF THE DELPHI SURVEY

All 46 participants completed the two rounds of the Delphi survey that were required before stability in the responses was reached, although some participants made no changes to their Round 1 responses. The number of changes made to individual responses during Round 2 for each region is shown in Table 3. If 'relationship', 'contribution' and 'confidence rating' for each of the 12 attributes in a given region are all considered as separate 'responses', then, overall, around 10% of responses were changed in Round 2, which is less than the rule of thumb proposed by Nelson that stability is reached when fewer than 20% of individual participants' responses have changed (Nelson, 1978: 45, cited in Novakowski and Wellar, 2008: 1494).

| | Great Britain | Nordic Region | Central Europe | Iberia | Average (weighted) |
|--|------------------|------------------|-------------------|--------|-----------------------|
| Percentage of participants who changed at least one response | 70 | 67 | 86 | 60 | 72 |
| Percentage of responses that were changed | 9.7 | 6.5 | 14.5 | 8.6 | 10.1 |

Table 3. Changes to responses made during Round 2, by region

The average results for 'relationship', 'relative contribution' and 'confidence rating' for each attribute in each region are given below.

Relationship

The data on the relationship of each attribute to the recreational value of forests for each respondent are given in Appendix 1. The most commonly identified relationship for each region is given in Table 4, plus the results of the Exact Test for each attribute.

A Pearson Exact Chi-Square Test was used to test the allocation of distribution types across all four regions. This was done separately for each attribute. The Exact Test is used because the data is on a nominal scale: there is no relationship between the five distribution types. The test analyses how extreme the values for each attribute are compared to how they could have been. When the P value is greater than 0.05 it can be assumed with at least 95% certainty that there is no difference between regions. The analysis suggests that the allocation of distribution types for each attribute can be regarded as similar across the four regions, with the exception of attributes 4, 5 and 6. Table 4 shows that there was less agreement between regions for these attributes (see also Appendix 1). Attribute 4 (extent of tree cover) was similar in Great Britain, Central Europe and Iberia, but in Nordic Region the results were equally for positive and bell-shaped. For Attribute 5 (visual penetration) the most common distribution type was bell-shaped, except in Iberia where it was positive. For Attribute 6 (density of ground vegetation) the most common distribution types.

| Table 4. Most frequently identified relationship to recreational value, and Exact text results, by |
|--|
| region |

| Attribute | Great Britain | Nordic Region | Central Europe | Iberia | All regions (% of total counts) | Exact test (P) |
|-----------------------------------|------------------|------------------|-------------------|--------|---|-------------------|
| 1. Size of trees | Р | Р | Р | Р | P (91) | 0.35 |
| 2. Variation in tree size | Р | В | Р | Р | P (63) | 0.43 |
| 3. Variation in tree spacing | Р | Р | Р | В | P (59) | 0.06 |
| 4. Extent of tree cover | В | P/B | В | В | B (74) | 0.03 |
| 5. Visual penetration | В | В | В | Р | B (54) | 0.02 |
| 6. Density of ground vegetation | В | В | В | Ν | B (59) | 0.02 |
| 7. Number of tree species | Р | Р | В | Р | P (52) | 0.49 |
| 8. Size of clear-cuts | Ν | Ν | Ν | Ν | N (93) | 0.43 |
| 9. Residue | Ν | Ν | Ν | Ν | N (69) | 0.84 |
| 10. Amount of natural deadwood | В | Ν | В | В | B (59) | 0.10 |
| 11. Variation between stands | Р | В | Р | Р | P (59) | 0.09 |
| 12. 'Naturalness' of forest edges | Р | P | Р | Р | P (93) | 0.06 |

NB: N=46 for all attributes except Attribute 12 where it was 45.

Relative contribution

The data for relative contribution of each attribute to the overall recreational value of forests for each respondent are also given in Appendix 1. The mean scores for each attribute for each region are summarised in Table 5.

| | Mean contribution | | | | | | |
|-----------------------------------|-------------------|---------------|----------------|--------|--|--|--|
| Attribute | Great Britain | Nordic Region | Central Europe | Iberia | | | |
| 1. Size of trees | 7.8 | 9.7 | 7.5 | 7.9 | | | |
| 2. Variation in tree size | 8.0 | 5.7 | 6.2 | 5.1 | | | |
| 3. Variation in tree spacing | 6.8 | 6.1 | 6.8 | 5.0 | | | |
| 4. Extent of tree cover | 6.3 | 7.0 | 6.3 | 7.0 | | | |
| 5. Visual penetration | 5.9 | 7.8 | 5.9 | 8.2 | | | |
| 6. Density of ground vegetation | 4.0 | 5.6 | 5.0 | 6.1 | | | |
| 7. Number of tree species | 5.9 | 6.4 | 4.8 | 7.2 | | | |
| 8. Size of clear-cuts | 7.1 | 9.1 | 7.3 | 7.8 | | | |
| 9. Residue | 6.5 | 9.5 | 4.4 | 8.1 | | | |
| 10. Amount of natural deadwood | 4.2 | 7.2 | 5.1 | 5.9 | | | |
| 11. Variation between stands | 4.8 | 8.7 | 7.5 | 6.1 | | | |
| 12. 'Naturalness' of forest edges | 6.1 | 6.0 | 7.1 | 6.0 | | | |
| Mean | 6.1 | 7.4 | 6.2 | 6.7 | | | |

Table 5. Mean contribution to recreational value, by region

A J-T test was carried out to determine whether there were significant differences between the four regions in the distribution or 'shape' of the weightings for each attribute. This test showed that there was a significant difference for all attributes except Attribute 2, 3 6, 11 and 12. However, the differences could also be because respondents for a given region tended to use the ten point scale in a different way: the shape of the distribution may be the same but shifted up or down the scale. In Table 4 we see that the mean contribution for all attributes was different between regions suggesting that there was a difference between regions in how the average individual used the ten point scale.

To resolve this problem of the scale being used differently, and to allow the scores for each region to be compared, the ratings were converted into rankings. The ranked scores were then analysed for each individual respondent to test whether they had ranked the attributes similarly or differently. The test used was Kendall's Coefficient of Concordance. This is to assess whether individuals agree or differ in their scoring of the relative contribution of the 12 attributes, i.e. whether they are in the same order (and therefore whether they can be combined and represented as an average for each attribute). The test showed that, within each of the four regions, there was strong agreement between individuals in the ranking of the contribution of the attributes (P < 0.001).

A similar analysis was then carried out across all four regions. There was also general agreement (P = 0.06) suggesting that it could be stated with 94% confidence that the rankings for all four regions were in the same order. Attributes 1, 4, and 8 showed the highest agreement in the order of importance across the four regions, and Attributes 2, 3, 9 and 11 showed the lowest agreement.

The overall ranking for each region is also given in Table 6. Using this information, in Table 7, the attributes have been reordered according to their relative contribution to the recreational value of forests in Europe as follows (from highest to lowest).

| | | Overall | | | |
|-----------------------------------|------------------|------------------|-------------------|--------|---------|
| Attribute | Great Britain | Nordic Region | Central Europe | Iberia | ranking |
| 1. Size of trees | 11 | 12 | 11.5 | 10 | 12 |
| 2. Variation in tree size | 12 | 2 | 6 | 2 | 5 |
| 3. Variation in tree spacing | 9 | 4 | 8 | 1 | 5 |
| 4. Extent of tree cover | 7 | 6 | 7 | 7 | 7 |
| 5. Visual penetration | 4.5 | 8 | 5 | 12 | 9 |
| 6. Density of ground vegetation | 1 | 1 | 3 | 5.5 | 1 |
| 7. Number of tree species | 4.5 | 5 | 2 | 8 | 3 |
| 8. Size of clear-cuts | 10 | 10 | 10 | 9 | 11 |
| 9. Residue | 8 | 11 | 1 | 11 | 10 |
| 10. Amount of natural deadwood | 2 | 7 | 4 | 3 | 2 |
| 11. Variation between stands | 3 | 9 | 11.5 | 5.5 | 8 |
| 12. 'Naturalness' of forest edges | 6 | 3 | 9 | 4 | 5 |

Table 6. Ranked mean contribution to recreational value, by region (12=highest; 1=lowest)

| Table 7. Ranked mean | contribution to | o recreational | value, by | region, in | descending order |
|------------------------|-----------------|----------------|-----------|------------|------------------|
| (12=highest; 1=lowest) | | | | | |

| | | Overall | | | |
|-----------------------------------|------------------|------------------|-------------------|--------|---------|
| Attribute | Great Britain | Nordic Region | Central Europe | Iberia | ranking |
| 1. Size of trees | 11 | 12 | 11.5 | 10 | 12 |
| 8. Size of clear-cuts | 10 | 10 | 10 | 9 | 11 |
| 9. Residue | 8 | 11 | 1 | 11 | 10 |
| 5. Visual penetration | 4.5 | 8 | 5 | 12 | 9 |
| 11. Variation between stands | 3 | 9 | 11.5 | 5.5 | 8 |
| 4. Extent of tree cover | 7 | 6 | 7 | 7 | 7 |
| 12. 'Naturalness' of forest edges | 6 | 3 | 9 | 4 | 5 |
| 3. Variation in tree spacing | 9 | 4 | 8 | 1 | 5 |
| 2. Variation in tree size | 12 | 2 | 6 | 2 | 5 |
| 7. Number of tree species | 4.5 | 5 | 2 | 8 | 3 |
| 10. Amount of natural deadwood | 2 | 7 | 4 | 3 | 2 |
| 6. Density of ground vegetation | 1 | 1 | 3 | 5.5 | 1 |

Confidence ratings

Appendix 1 shows the count of confidence ratings for 'relationship' and 'relative contribution' assigned to each attribute in each region. These data are used in Table 8 to calculate a median confidence rating, by giving a score of 1 for low, 2 for medium, and 3 for high level of confidence. The medians suggest that respondents had medium or high confidence in the information they provided for 'relationship' and 'relative contribution' for all attributes with the exception of Attribute 6 in Nordic Region where the level of confidence was between low and medium. Overall, confidence in participants' responses was highest in Central Europe and lowest in Iberia, although the pattern across the four regions appears to be quite consistent (see also Appendix 1).

| Attribute | Great Britain (n=10) | Nordic Region (n=12) | Central Europe (n=14) | Iberia (n=10*) |
|-----------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------|
| 1. Size of trees | 3 | 3 | 3 | 3 |
| 2. Variation in tree size | 3 | 2 | 3 | 2 |
| 3. Variation in tree spacing | 3 | 2 | 3 | 2 |
| 4. Extent of tree cover | 2 | 2 | 2 | 2 |
| 5. Visual penetration | 2 | 3 | 3 | 2.5 |
| 6. Density of ground vegetation | 2 | 1.5 | 3 | 2 |
| 7. Number of tree species | 2 | 2 | 2 | 2 |
| 8. Size of clear-cuts | 2.5 | 3 | 3 | 2.5 |
| 9. Residue | 2 | 3 | 2 | 3 |
| 10. Amount of natural deadwood | 2 | 2 | 2 | 2 |
| 11. Varitaion between stands | 2 | 3 | 3 | 2 |
| 12. 'Naturalness' of forest edges | 2 | 2 | 3 | 2 |
| Median | 2 | 2 | 3 | 2 |

| Table 8. Median | confidence ratin | g for 'relations | hip' and ' | 'contribution'. | by region |
|-----------------|------------------|------------------|------------|-----------------|-----------|
| | | | | | |

*N=9 for attribute 12 in Iberia.

RESULTS OF THE LITERATURE REVIEW

This section presents the findings of the literature review, carried out by the authors, on relationship and contribution of each attribute to recreational value, and compares this information with the results of the Delphi survey. The reader may also wish to refer to Appendix 2 which includes comments raised by participants that help to interpret the scores for individual attributes.

1. SIZE OF TREES WITHIN STAND

This attribute was ranked in the top three in all four regions in terms of its relative contribution to the overall recreational value of forests. Overall it ranked highest across all regions (see Table 9).

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value |
|-----------------|--|
| Great Britain | 11 |
| Nordic Region | 12 |
| Central Europe | 11.5 |
| Iberia | 10 |
| Overall ranking | 12 |

| Table 9. Ranked mean contribution | of 'size of trees within stand', by region |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| Tuble > Rumea mean contribution | of size of crees within stund , by region |

The relationship to recreational value was consistently seen as positive across the four regions. Thus, as stand age increases from establishment to maturity, or as canopy height increases from low to high, the recreational value increases (see Table 10).

| Region | | Modal class | | | | |
|-----------------------|----------|-------------|--------------------|----------|------|--------------|
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | wioual class |
| Great Britain (n=10) | 8 | | 1 | 1 | | Positive |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | 12 | | | | | Positive |
| Central Europe (n=14) | 13 | | 1 | | | Positive |
| Iberia (n=10) | 9 | | | | 1 | Positive |

 Table 10. Relationship to recreational value of 'size of trees within stand', by region

These findings were universally supported by the literature review. 'Size of trees', 'maturity of stand', or by implication 'canopy height', appears to be the attribute with the most important and generalisable link to recreational value, with larger trees being preferred. For example, in a review article of preference studies from USA and Europe, Ribe (1989: 62) writes: "An element of visual forest condition also prevalently given aesthetic merit is the presence or dominance of large trees. This intuitive aesthetic sensibility is confirmed by preference research, as mature and old-growth forests and trees of all kinds do enjoy aesthetic affection (Brown and Daniel 1984, 1986, Brush 1978, 1979, Kellomaki 1975, Klukas and Duncan 1967, Schroeder and Daniel 1981, Schweitzer and others 1976, Herzog 1984)."

Similarly, in a more recent review of studies in Fennoscandia, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) write: "Numerous surveys with different methodologies showed that preference increases with increasing tree age, or, more exactly, with tree size, and with advancing stage of stand development (Haakenstad 1972, 1975; Lind et al. 1974; Kellomäki 1975; Saastamoinen 1982; Hultman 1983; Korhonen 1983; Kellomäki and Savolainen 1984; Pukkala et al. 1988; Kardell 1990; Hallikainen 1998; Karjalainen, 2000; Lindhagen and Hörnsten 2000; Silvennoinen et al., 2001; Tyrväinen et al. 2001)."

Reviewing similar literature to Ribe, Silvennoinen et al. (2001: 12) write: "People prefer stands of tall trees, especially pines and birches (Savolainen and Kellomaki, 1981; Schroeder and Daniel, 1981; Brown and Daniel, 1986; Hull and Buhyoff, 1986; Brown, 1987; Hull et al, 1987; Rudis et al., 1988; Axelsson-Lindgren, 1990; Ribe, 1990; Mattson and Li, 1994; Hallikainen, 1998; Liao and Nogami, 1999)."

The positive effect of tree size applies whether trees are measured by height, standing volume or diameter, as highlighted by Ribe (1989: 62): "This positive affect applies to big trees identified by height (Savolainen and Kellomaki 1981, Klukas and Duncan 1967) or by more conventional measures like standing volume or diameter (Arthur 1977, Brown and Daniel 1984, Daniel and Boster 1976, Daniel and Schroeder 1979, Schroeder and Daniel 1981, Vodak and others 1985)."

Similarly, diameter is shown to be correlated with scenic beauty in Catalonia. Blasco et al. (2008: 9) write: "...the larger the diameter, the higher scenic beauty is. Large number of small trees and pines decreased the scenic beauty." They continue (2008:10-11): "Our models indicate that an enlargement in the mean diameter of trees increases the scenic beauty, which corresponds to previous studies (Arthur 1977; Brush 1979: Benson and Ullrich 1981; Buhyoff et al. 1986; Rudis et al 1988)."

There is some evidence that the positive contribution of large trees is increased in stands with lower density. Ribe (1989: 62) adds: "Large trees are even more important in stands with fewer trees per acre (Hull and Buhyoff 1986)." However he also adds (1989:62): "Results clearly comparing the aesthetic gains achievable from different numbers of large trees per acre in different forest types have not been reported."

Mature stands may have reinforcing attributes, in particular lower tree density (and hence the possibility of greater visual penetration – see below). Ribe (1989: 62) adds: "In general, forest stands that include noticeable evidence of large trees have been found to be more attractive. Such mature

forests may also tend to exhibit reinforcing scenic attributes, such as lower tree densities and understories, although this is not always explicitly tested or noted in reporting the value of large trees."

There are some exceptions to the general pattern. In a study conducted in Denmark, the link between stand age and public preference was stronger for broadleaves than for conifers. Jensen (1997: 143) writes: "According to the mean assessment of the population in 1977 and 1994 surveys, the popularity of deciduous forest increases as the age of the stand increases – for winter and summer alike. Concerning the popularity of coniferous forest, it was not possible to detect any relationship to age of stand in the results of the 1977 survey. This was, however, the case in 1994, where the pattern gets close to that found for deciduous forest."

Likewise, in Norway a substantial proportion of respondents to a national survey didn't know or were neutral about their preference for old growth versus young growth forest. Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) continue: "In a national survey of Norway's population (Hoen and Winther 1993), respondents were asked if they preferred to visit "old growth forest" rather than "young growth forest". Forty-eight per cent of the respondents agreed and only 8% disagreed, but as many as 44% selected the neutral or don't know options."

Recovery over time

Some studies have highlighted that recreational value is influenced by the time that has elapsed since silvicultural treatments were carried out. For example, the recreational value of stands in establishment phase may be particularly low after clearfelling, but it may increase gradually over time due to a decline in visible woody residue, disturbed soil, and other evidence of intervention, rather than due to an increase in tree size over the same period of time.

Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 263) write: "The length of time since the treatment has been found to correlate positively with the stand's visual quality (Hultman 1983, Brown and Daniel 1984, Hull and Buhyoff 1986, Kardell and Mard 1989, Ribe 1989, Kardell 1990, Palmer 1990, Lindhagen 1996). However the development of dense undergrowth after the treatment may have an opposite influence on the visual quality (Schroeder and Daniel 1981, Brown and Daniel 1984, Hull et al. 1987)." Similarly, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) write: "Visual amenity value increases with the development of the new tree generation. After removal of the seed trees, the amenity value of a naturally regenerated stand is equal to that of a clear-cut stand at the same development stage." The temporal effect is summarised in the table below (see also 'Residue from harvesting and thinning').





Fig. 3. Average temporal development of the scenic beauty score (range 1-10) of a Scots pine stand, as evaluated from photographs, in clear-felling and natural regeneration.

18

One possibility that was rarely raised in the literature and the Delphi survey is that a young stand may contribute to the recreational value of a forest visit because it allows visitors to see beyond the stand itself. Occasionally this effect may be negative, for example if it reveals the recently cut edge of a neighbouring mature stand, although often it facilitates attractive views over distant stands, hills or mountains, or simply provides a welcome relief to the monotony of the closed-canopy forest. This would suggest a U-shaped distribution, a possibility raised by one respondent from the Great Britain Delphi panel.

Another point is that the results suggest that a mature stand of uniformly large trees is preferable to a mature stand with a diversity of tree ages. As noted under 'variation in tree size', this may not always be the case, for example as suggested by the high importance attached to variation in tree size by the Great Britain panel.

2. VARIATION IN TREE SIZE WITHIN STAND

Overall, this attribute was ranked 5 out of 12 across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests. It was the highest ranking attribute in Great Britain, yet for the other three regions it was seen as relatively unimportant. The variation between regions was very high (see Table 11).

| Table 11. Ranked mean contribution of 'variation in tree size within sta | nd', by region |
|--|----------------|
|--|----------------|

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value |
|-----------------|--|
| Great Britain | 12 |
| Nordic Region | 2 |
| Central Europe | 6 |
| Iberia | 2 |
| Overall ranking | 5 |

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as positive by most respondents in each region except the Nordic Region where slightly more respondents considered the relationship to be bell-shaped (see Table 12). Thus, for Great Britain, Central Europe and Iberia, as variation in tree size within stand increases, from uniform to diverse, or as the number of canopy layers increases from one layer to many, the recreational value increases. Some respondents, especially in the Nordic Region, felt that very low or very high variation caused its contribution to be negative.

| Table 12. Relationship | to recreational value of 'variation in tree size within stand', b | y region |
|------------------------|---|----------|
| | | |

| Decien | Relationship to recreational value | | | | | Modal class |
|-----------------------|------------------------------------|----------|--------------------|----------|------|-------------|
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | Modal class |
| Great Britain (n=10) | 8 | | 2 | | | Positive |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | 5 | | 6 | | 1 | Bell-shaped |
| Central Europe (n=14) | 10 | | 4 | | | Positive |
| Iberia (n=10) | 6 | | 4 | | | Positive |

The positive contribution of variation in vertical stand structure is highlighted by several studies. In their review of Fennoscandian studies, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) write, under 'stratification or vertical structure': "Several surveys with different methodologies indicated that the public tends to give high scores to irregular stands with a mixture of trees of different sizes, as long as they are not disturbed by obvious traces from cutting operations (Lind et al., 1974; Hultman, 1983; Kellomäki and Savolainen, 1984; Kardell 1990, 2001; Lindhagen and Hörnsten, 2000)." Elsewhere, Gundersen and Frivold (2005:10) write on 'intermediate cuttings' how thinning from below appears to be more appreciated than thinning from above, but add: "On the other hand, a survey by Savolainen and Kellomaki (1981) stressed the importance of keeping some stratification, by leaving a maximum of 1000 – 1500 evenly scattered small trees per hectare after thinning."

Similarly, the earlier review of USA and European studies by Ribe (1989: 60) gives a mixed perspective on the impact of vertical diversity. Referring to USA studies, he writes: "Two reported findings relate to scenic beauty explicitly to forests' age structure. In one, mature even-aged ponderosa pine stands were preferred to uneven-aged stands, which were preferred to young even-aged stands (Brown and Daniel 1984). Later Ribe (1989: 60) continues: "The scenic effect of vertical forest structure is not so clear [compared to density and glades and visual penetration]. Brown and Daniel (1984) found vertical diversity, or the number of canopy layers, unrelated to SBEs. Similarly, Yarrow (1966) found that some respondents preferred mixed crown heights while others preferred single canopy layered forests. The scenic value of the low structural element of an understory of seedlings and/or shrubs has more frequently been investigated..." The study by Yarrow was carried out in Great Britain.

The positive impact of vertical diversity is confirmed in the Nordic Region by Silvennoinen et al. (2001: 18) who write: "A new predictor in our models, compared to earlier ones, is the skewness of the height distribution of trees, which increases the priority. Skewness is high in stands where tall trees overtop an under-storey of small trees, such as a regeneration area with standing seed trees and successful regeneration or a sparsely populated mature stand with naturally emerged spruce under-storey. The effect of skewness in our models corresponds to the result of Savolainen and Kellomaki (1981) who found that a conifer under-storey increases priority. Other studies indicate that bushes and lower vegetation make the view more pleasing (Schroeder and Daniel, 1981; Ribe 1990). Seed tree stands are experienced as rather pleasant visual environment (Mattsson and Li, 1994; Karjalainen, 1996; Lindhagen, 1996; Karjalainen and Komulainen, 1999)."

A review of Nordic literature by Tyrvainen et al. (2005: 91-92) concludes that: "In general, old and mature forest stands are preferred over young and small trees, but small trees, if they form the lower canopy layer of a two-storey stand, are considered to improve the aesthetic value of the stand." This last point was supported by Silvennoinen et al. (2001: 12) who write: "Stands of small trees are not appreciated, but small trees may be considered to look good if they form the lower canopy layer of a two-storey stand (Savolainen and Kellomaki, 1981; Schroeder and Daniel, 1981; Ribe, 1990)."

Elsewhere in Europe, Hekhuis and Wieman (1999:342) demonstrate that age variation can be an important factor influencing recreational value of forests in The Netherlands. They identify variation in age classes or development phases within tree stands as a key criterion for consideration. In a study of the ecological and social benefits of forests in Lorraine, France, Després and Normandin (1998) also found that there was a high preference for uneven-aged forests (77% of responding households preferred them).

While the literature presents evidence of the value of vertical diversity, the Delphi survey strongly suggests that this attribute is much more important in Great Britain than elsewhere in Europe. The high importance attached to vertical diversity in the Great Britain Delphi panel is also supported by a study by Garrod (2002: 10) who reported the following public preferences for structural (height) diversity in UK forests: trees of various heights, 74.8%; trees that are all similar heights, 9.9%; equal preference, 14.7%; neither, 0.7%. In UK, it is possible that, in the public imagination, even aged stands of conifers are regarded as particularly unattractive, not necessarily because they are even aged but because they tend to be dense stands of Sitka spruce that are rarely permitted to grow to maturity, are rarely thinned, and are often designed insensitively with geometric edges that fit poorly in the landscape.

3. VARIATION IN TREE SPACING WITHIN STAND

Overall, this attribute was ranked 5 out of 12 across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests (see Table 13). It was ranked relatively highly in Great Britain (linked perhaps to the high importance attached in Great Britain to variation in tree size) and Central

Europe, but was seen as relatively unimportant in the Nordic Region and especially in Iberia. The variation between regions was very high.

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value |
|-----------------|--|
| Great Britain | 9 |
| Nordic Region | 4 |
| Central Europe | 8 |
| Iberia | 1 |
| Overall ranking | 5 |

11

2

Table 13. Ranked mean contribution of 'variation in tree spacing within stand', by region

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as positive by most respondents, and by fewer respondents as bell-shaped (see Table 14) In Iberia most respondents considered the relationship to be bell-shaped. Thus, for Great Britain, the Nordic Region and Central Europe, as variation in tree spacing within stand increases from regular to different sized groups of trees and openings, the recreational value increases. Some respondents, especially in Iberia, felt that very low or very high variation caused its contribution to be negative.

| Tuble 1 is Relationship to recreational value of variation in the spacing within stand , by region | | | | | | |
|--|----------|------------------------------------|--------------------|----------|------|-------------|
| Region | | Relationship to recreational value | | | | |
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | Modal class |
| Great Britain (n=10) | 8 | | 2 | | | Positive |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | 6 | | 5 | | 1 | Positive |

3

7

Positive

Bell-shaped

1

 Table 14. Relationship to recreational value of 'variation in tree spacing within stand', by region

Spacing

Iberia (n=10)

Central Europe (n=14)

The literature review presents evidence of the positive impact of variation in tree spacing. In Great Britain, Garrod (2002: 10) reported the following public preferences for tree spacing in UK forests: regularly spaced trees, 10.1%; randomly spaced trees, 77.4%, equal preference, 11.8%; neither, 0.7%. Garrod's study used 33 photographs of forest landscapes from across UK, and more than 400 respondents in a series of choice experiments. "Of all the preferences investigated, the strongest were for plantings that mixed trees and open space and where spacing of trees was random rather than regular". Similarly, Lee (2001: 21) found a preference for more natural woodland that was not planted in straight lines. See also Willis et al. (2003) on spacing pattern.

Clumping and natural openings

In UK, Garrod (2002; 10) concludes that there is a preference for forest stands with openings. Referring mainly to studies in USA, Ribe (1989: 60) shows a mixed response to horizontal structural diversity. He writes: "The spatial distribution of tree density may also matter in scenic preferences, but this is not yet clear. Clumping of dense trees in ponderosa pine stands showed some evidence of being slightly preferred (Arthur 1977), but alternatively of being less so in the same kind of forest (Brown and Daniel 1984, 1986). The weakness of these relations, or factors correlated with clumping in the scene samples, might account for the discrepancy. In the latter case, clumping distributions, which create well-bounded and therefore visually defined meadow openings, may improve scenic beauty, especially if large enough (Brush 1978, 1979)." Ribe continues, noting the link between this attribute and visual penetration (1989: 60): "In any case, the positive aesthetic affect of forest openings, like that of less dense forests, likely has to do with the distance one can see into such landscapes, and measures of such visual penetration have been found to be correlated with scenic beauty (Echelberger 1979, Kardell 1979, Kellomaki and Savolaunen 1984)."

Later Ribe (1989: 61-2) discusses the effect of canopy openings: "The presence of canopy openings in eastern US forests has been found to have a weak but positive influence upon scenic preferences (Brush 1979, Radar 1971). Such findings have been attributed to the visual desirability of resulting

increases in ground vegetation cover in western US forests (Brown and Daniel 1984, 1986) and to lighting contrasts which contribute to crown prominence in ponderosa pine (Arthur 1977). However, in some other forest types, canopy openings can produce increased sapling densities over time, which may then account for lower perceived beauty, although this effect may not always be attributed to an open canopy in research reports."

Referring to the pattern of clear cuts, Ribe (1989: 65-6) writes: "Difference attributable to the spatial type of clear-cut pattern, as observed from within a forest, can be detected and make a scenic difference (Boster and Daniel 1972). Patch clear-cuts are preferred to larger ones, but are less attractive than shelterwood cuts (Schweitzer and others 1976). Patch cuts have also been found slightly preferable to strip-cuts and again less attractive than partial cuts (Echelberger 1979)." Regarding thinning in rows, Jensen (1993: 87) writes: "The experts' perception agrees with the preferences of the population – selective thinning ranks higher in preference than thinning in rows."

Gobster (1999: 56) writes: "But while forest ecologists have shown that fragmentation due to forest harvesting and other activities can be reduced by making fewer but larger openings and by minimising edge/area rations (i.e. round instead of linear), visual preference research shows that people generally prefer smaller openings over large ones, and opening that are scattered over those that are concentrated."

Structural diversity within stands is a part of what many people consider to be 'naturalness' or 'wildness', which is often valued highly. However, structural diversity within stands also reduces visual penetration, which may also be valued highly. To some extent, the two effects may cancel each other out. The logical conclusion is that, overall, people prefer size diversity within stands so long as there is still visual penetration. Irregular spacing patterns are preferred to straight lines, and hence the effect of line thinning is undesirable. Clumping of trees, for example due to patchy regeneration or selective felling, may be preferred because it gives the impression of naturalness, but it is hard to generalise.

4. EXTENT OF TREE COVER WITHIN STAND

Overall, this attribute was ranked 7 out of 12 across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests (see Table 15). It was ranked consistently at around this level of importance, with very little variation between regions.

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value |
|-----------------|--|
| Great Britain | 7 |
| Nordic Region | 6 |
| Central Europe | 7 |
| Iberia | 7 |
| Overall ranking | 7 |

Table 15. Ranked mean contribution of 'extent of tree cover within stand', by region

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as bell-shaped by most respondents, with the exception of the Nordic Region where it was equally judged to be bell-shaped and positive (see Table 16). Thus, in general, as extent of tree cover increases from sparse (i.e. retention and see trees) to moderate (e.g. shelterwood and selection systems) to full (i.e. closed canopy), the recreational value increases and then decreases. Very low or very high tree cover was considered less valuable than a moderate level of tree cover.

| Region | Relationship to recreational value | | | | | Modal class | |
|-----------------------|------------------------------------|----------|--------------------|----------|------|---------------|--|
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | wioual class | |
| Great Britain (n=10) | 1 | | 9 | | | Bell-shaped | |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | 6 | | 6 | | | Positive/Bell | |
| Central Europe (n=14) | 1 | 2 | 10 | | 1 | Bell-shaped | |
| Iberia (n=10) | 1 | | 9 | | | Bell-shaped | |

Table 16. Relationship to recreational value of 'extent of tree cover within stand', by region

Retention, seed and shelter trees

A number of studies suggest that a very sparse tree cover, comprising retention, seed and/or shelter trees retained after clearfelling, improves recreational value. For example, Lindhagen (1996: 386) notes that keeping seed trees may be a method of achieving acceptance for the cuttings and to make the regeneration as smooth as possible for the visitors.

In their review of Fennoscandian studies, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 249-50) write: "Leaving seed trees or other single trees on a clear-cut area generally improves people's impression of it, likewise provision of a view (Kardell et al., 1977; Hultman, 1983; Kardell and Mård, 1989; Kardell, 1990; Mattsson and Li, 1994a)." Later, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) write of retention trees: "Tönnes et al. (2004) studied the scenic impact of retention trees. Retention trees are left on clear-cut areas mainly for the benefit of biological diversity. For that reason it is recommended to leave them in groups rather than as solitary trees. However, grading of photos showed that solitary retention trees provide a higher aesthetic value than a similar number of retention trees in groups. Leaving fewer retention trees than corresponding to a volume of $3m^3ha^{-1}$ does not significantly improve the scenic value of a clear-cut area." This contrasts with Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) citing a study of long-distance views carried out by Karjalainen and Komulainen (1999) which showed that: "seed trees improved the scenic appearance of cutting sites, but solitary retention trees did not significantly enhance the visual quality of the scene."

Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 263) write: "Natural regeneration with seed and shelter trees has often been found to be visually more acceptable than clear-felling and planting (Haakenstad 1972, Hultman 1979, Kardell 1990, Pings 1993, Mattson and Li 1994, Lindhagen 1996, Mäntymaa 1998). However, some studies indicate that there is not a great difference between the visual acceptability of clear-cutting and seed tree felling (Brunson and Reiter 1996)."

Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 271) add to this, with their own results: "Natural regeneration with seed trees seems to be a way to avoid the very negative effect of a clear-felling, especially in the case of Scots pine stands. This is because both the seed tree stand and an established regeneration of pines are regarded as much more attractive than an open area. A seed tree stand with an established regeneration of pines was regarded as almost as beautiful as a mature stand, and clearly better than a young seedling or sapling stand without seed trees. This indicates that keeping part of the seed trees on the regeneration area for a long time is another way to lessen the negative visual impacts of regeneration (Haakenstad 1972, Hultman 1979, Karhu and Kellomaki 1980, Kardell 1990, Pings 1993, Mattsson & Li 1994, Lindhagen 1996, Karjalainen 1996, Karjalainen and Komulainen 1999). This conclusion is not in agreement with some of the earlier studies (Brunson and Shelby 1992, Johnson et al. 1994, Brunson and Reiter 1996)."

Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 271) continue: "Regeneration of more fertile sites occupied by spruce and birch is more problematic: the seed tree method is seldom successful with spruce and a dense cover of hardwood seedlings and saplings, which soon appear on a fertile regeneration area, is not appreciated. A too sparse seed tree stand may give an impression of a deserted landscape (Kardell 1978, Lucas 1991). A birch seed tree stand is typically very sparse and the trees are not particularly attractive as isolated trees. Only a dense enough seed tree stand is thought to be clearly better than an open area (Lindhagen 1996, Karjalainen and Komulainen 1999)."

Landscape composition

Studies of landscape composition which consider preferences for the proportion of trees in the landscape tend to confirm the bell-shaped distribution identified during the Delphi survey. Tryväinen et al. (2005: 92) write: "Variation is greatly appreciated, not only due to mixtures with other types of trees, but also combination of trees with fields, meadows and, in particular, water elements (Schmithüsen et al. 1997)." Willis (2003: 4.1.1), citing Garrod and Willis (1992) concludes that a patchwork of woods rather than 100% forest cover appears to be preferred.

The study in UK by Garrod (2002: 10) reported the following public preferences for size of forest in UK: large forests, 22.4%; small woodlands. 57.2%; equal preference, 19.2%; neither, 1.2%. This again suggests preference for moderate tree cover. The same study reported the following public preferences for proportions of trees and space in UK forested landscapes: a mix of trees and open spaces, 83.4%; just trees, 5.3%; equal preference, 10.8%; neither, 0.5%. Garrod writes: "Of all the preferences investigated, the strongest were for plantings that mixed trees and open space and where spacing of trees was random rather than regular". Roth and Krämer (2000) also identify a preference for forest/field mixtures within the landscape.

Similarly, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) write: "Various investigations have pointed out that forests with possibilities for views over the surroundings are preferred (Haakenstad 1972, 1975; Lind et al. 1974; Kellomäki and Savolainen 1984)." Later (2008: 249) they write: "In two Norwegian landscape studies, photos showing pastoral fields and woodlands with broadleaved trees got the highest scores of all nature types presented (Strumse 1994; 2002a, b)."

Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 251) write: "Non-managed, overgrown fields and afforestation of such abandoned fields were considered the most disturbing factors in the local cultural landscape for landowners, landscape planners, and people participating in the planning process in several rural landscapes and villages in Finland (Komulainen, 1998). Karjalainen and Komulainen (1998) showed manipulated slides of various options for afforestation of abandoned farmland to a mixed group of voluntary survey participants in North Finland. All options were perceived as disturbing despite the afforested area in each option being 'small'. The situation of the afforested area was more important for the scenic beauty than the tree species used. Afforestation near the edge of an adjacent forest was preferred to location in the middle of the field. Using a similar method with respondents from East Finland, Tahvanainen et al. (1996) found that moderate afforestation was little appreciated if it was applied to originally attractive cultural landscapes (cf. Strumse, 1996). A survey in Sweden (Kardell, 1990) showed very heterogeneous opinions among respondents when asked about their impression of a field afforested with *P. abies.*"

Hunziker and Kienast (1999: 163-164) studied landscape preferences for spontaneous forest regeneration of abandoned agricultural land, and showed a preference for medium levels of reforestation. They write: "...we generated a series of 'reforestation images' by subjecting one single, real photograph of a landscape to computer-aided photo editing. [...] Five images were compared: 1) cleared, 2) not reforested, 3) slightly reforested, 4) mostly forested, 5) completely forested." Scenario 1 resembled intensive agriculture; scenario 2 resembled the 'traditional' condition of the land in the 1950s, and scenarios 3-5 showed the 'current' condition. Hunziker and Kienast (1999: 166-8) continue with their results: "...the curves representing preference values given for increasing degrees of reforestation are similar to a bell, with a peak at the level of partial reforestation. [3 is most preferred, followed by 4, then 2, then 5, then 1]. A landscape with a medium level of reforestation seems to be the type of landscape people find most attractive. This result, therefore, substantiates the assumption arising from existing theories and prior research (Hunziker 1995)."

Hunziker et al. (2008: 144-5) compared preferences for four landscape scenarios in Switzerland: 1) 'status quo', 2) 'intensification', 3) restoring tradition' and 4) 'reforestation': "The results... show that the general Swiss public assesses all scenarios of cultural landscape change positively." [Preferences were in order: 1, 2, 4, 3.] Regarding the positive assessment for 'spontaneous reforestation' they write:

"This result is rather surprising because previous studies have found that extensive and homogenous spontaneous reforestation tends to be viewed negatively (Volk 1985; Hunziker 1995; Tahvanainen et al. 1996; Hunziker and Kienast 1999). However... other recent studies in Switzerland and the Netherlands have also found rather positive attitudes towards rewilding (e.g. Bauer 2005; Van den Berg and Koole 2006)."

Garrod (2002: 13-14) reports on preferences for different "generic forest landscapes" compared to non-forested alternatives in UK. The landscapes under study were: 1) plateau conifer, 2) mountain conifer, 3) hilly/rolling conifer, 4) mountain broadleaves, 5) hilly/rolling broadleaves, and 6) urban fringe broadleaves. He writes: "Clear preferences for forested landscapes compared with the non-forested alternatives are only found for broad-leaved woodland in a peri-urban setting". [...] The lack of significant willingness to pay values associated with certain landscape contexts is a cause for concern. [This is partly due to the small sample size] ...Willingness to pay values were based on a maximum of 160 choices from 40 individuals. [...] The negative coefficients associated with views of broad-leaved woodlands in mountain areas are also observed in both samples. The results may therefore reflect indifference among the population regarding certain forested landscapes or dissonance in preferences across the population." Note that the added benefit of the forest views representing recreational opportunities was elicited separately and subtracted from the landscape benefit.

To conclude, it is hard to generalise from the literature about the preferred percentage of forest cover because much depends upon what is between the forests, and the overall layout and context. We can conclude that presence of a significant proportion of open space is positive, and that the bell-shaped distribution suggested by the results of the Delphi survey may be tentatively supported.

5. VISUAL PENETRATION THROUGH STAND

Overall, this attribute was ranked 9 out of 12 across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests (see Table 17). However, there was high variation between regions, with the Iberian panel ranking it highest, and Great Britain and Central Europe ranking it as relatively unimportant.

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value | | | |
|-----------------|--|--|--|--|
| Great Britain | 4.5 | | | |
| Nordic Region | 8 | | | |
| Central Europe | 5 | | | |
| Iberia | 12 | | | |
| Overall ranking | 9 | | | |

Table 17. Ranked mean contribution of 'visual penetration through stand', by region

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as bell-shaped by most respondents, again with the exception of Iberia where it was considered to be positive (see Table 18). Thus, in general, very low and very high levels of visual penetration through a stand were considered to be negative compared to moderate levels. Likewise, moderate understorey and shrub layers were considered more positive to absent, or very dense, understorey and shrub layers.

| Table 18. Relationship to recreational value of 'visual | penetration through stand', by region |
|---|---------------------------------------|
|---|---------------------------------------|

| Region | Relationship to recreational value | | | | | Modal class |
|-----------------------|------------------------------------|----------|--------------------|----------|------|---------------|
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | Willian Class |
| Great Britain (n=10) | 1 | | 6 | 1 | 2 | Bell-shaped |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | 4 | | 8 | | | Bell-shaped |
| Central Europe (n=14) | 4 | | 9 | | 1 | Bell-shaped |
| Iberia (n=10) | 8 | | 2 | | | Positive |

These conclusions appear to be supported by the literature. Kaplan (1985: 173) suggests that in the USA open forests receive higher preference ratings because they increase visual access or because less groundcover supports easier access. She states that: "Information that facilitates comprehension about what might be going on is valued; thus smoother textures, suggestions of paths, and sufficient openness to permit at least a sense of visual access is appreciated."

Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) write: "People tend to appreciate visibility in the forest (Haakenstad 1972, 1975; Hultman 1983), at least to some extent. In a small study with visual stimuli, Kellomaki and Savolainen (1984) concluded that the scenic value culminated when visibility passed 40-50 m."

Rydberg and Falck (2000: 13) explored fear of dense woodland (as well as attitudes towards edges): "...people tend to prefer more open woodlands and forests of the pillared-hall type (Parsons 1995). The sense of 'enclosure', which is a fundamental physical feature of forests, often causes people to feel fear and anxiety (Burgess 1995); nevertheless the sense of enclosure is also the main reason people appreciate woodlands."

Herzog and Kirk (2005: 621) studied path curvature, danger and visibility in forests in USA. It is relevant to understanding preferences for visual access: "Mystery refers to the promise that more could be seen if one entered more deeply into a setting. In general, mystery enhances preference, as documented by 30 years of research (for review see Kaplan, Kaplan and Ryan 1998), although not everyone is convinced (Stamps 2004)." [...] Herzog and Kirk continue (2005: 623): "On theoretical ground, one might expect that visibility, the ability to see unhindered into a setting, generally would be a desirable property in a forest setting. Blocked views make it difficult to comprehend any setting and discourage exploration. Thus, they have been associated both theoretically (s. Kaplan 1979) and empirically (e.g. Herzog 1992) with depressed preference. [...] Conversely, visual access has been associated with positive reactions to forest settings [refs]. [...] Likewise the burgeoning literature on fear of crime highlights the fact that blocked views afford concealment for criminals and thus are associated with danger reactions [refs]. [...] Two recent studies of preference and danger in natural settings (Herzog & Kropscott 2004, Herzog & Kutzli 2002) have included a predictor variable called visual access, defined as the ability to see all parts of a setting without having one's views blocked or interfered with."

Tryväinen et al. (2005: 92) write: "In a study in Helsinki, Finland, the majority of residents preferred managed forests probably because of security and cultural reasons (Tryväinen et al 2003). The most disliked stands were unmanaged forest vistas where young coppice limited sight and accessibility." Tryväinen et al. (2005: 92) continue: "In a study conducted in Redditch, UK (Coles and Bussey 2000), open structure woodlands were found to be preferred over woods with a dense canopy cover, in particular because of security concerns but also as open woodland offers a more varied environment".

Stand density

The literature on stand density and understorey density is relevant to understanding this attribute. The link between stand density and stand age is often highlighted. Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) write: "Young, dense stands got a relatively low score in a slideshow survey by Pukkala et al. (1988), regardless of tree species (birch, pine or spruce). Walking in open, young stands is preferred above walking in dense, young stands (Haakenstad 1972; Hultman 1983), probably because open stands are easier to penetrate. Children and young people might have other opinions (Rydberg, 1988a) as they may visit such stands for other reasons." Gundersen and Frivold (2005: 5) expand on this exception: "Rydberg (1998a), in a study limited to young stands of various densities, found that dense stands were preferred; a substantial part of his respondents were children and teenagers."

The bell-shaped distribution of the attribute is clear from Ribe (1989: 60) who writes: "The low beauty of young forests is best explained by their high density, for this clearly detracts from scenic beauty in a variety of forest types (Brush 1978, 1979, Daniel and Boster 1976, Hull and Buhyoff 1986) and more

so among very young dense stands of saplings and young poles... (Brown and Daniel 1984, Schroeder and Daniel 1981, Hull and others 1987)." Ribe (1989: 60) continues: "Density may also become too low and begin then to reduce scenic preferences (Savolainen and Kellomaki 1981). For example, Buhyoff and others (1986) found a scenically optimal number of 1- to 5-in. stems per acre to be about 1150, with more or fewer reducing perceived scenic beauty. This optimal value seems higher than that suggested by other studies. It grows slightly with stand age or average tree diameter, as respondents evidently were more tolerant of many saplings if the affect of large trees served to offset the density affect. [cf. Arthur 1977 ...]"

Likewise, Silvennoinen et al. (2001: 12) write: "The within-forest visibility should be reasonably good, i.e. the stand should not be very dense (Savolainen and Kellomaki, 1981; Schroeder and Daniel, 1981; Hultman, 1983; Hull and Buhyoff, 1986; Brown 1987; Hull et al., 1987; Rudis et al, 1988; Ribe, 1990; Jensen, 1993; Bostedt and Mattson, 1995; Liao and Nogami, 1999)." Silvennoinen *et al.* (2002) also argues that dense young stands have a negative influence. Caparrós Gass and Campos Palacín (2002) referring to pine forest in Spain also show that dense young stands have a negative influence. González et al. (2001) referring to Galicia in Northwest Spain, conclude that low density of pines is preferred.

In contrast, Blasco et al. (2008: 9) write: "According to the models, high densities of trees or bushes increase the scenic beauty." Later they conclude (2008: 11): "The present study reflects increasing scenic beauty in denser stands, which disagrees with other studies (Silvennoinen et al. 2001)."

Understorey density

Regarding understorey density, the bell-shaped distribution suggested by the Delphi survey is supported by Tahvanainen et al. (2001: 67), who found that removal of undergrowth had a negative impact on scenic beauty but that undergrowth should not become too dense as it may reduce visibility which is an important factor for recreation. This implies that there is an optimum density.

However, other sources present a contradictory picture. Regarding understorey density, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) write: "Using visual stimuli to a modest number of respondents, Kellomaki and Savolainen (1984) found that in a regular, rural forest stand the presence of some undergrowth would increase the scenic value. In the Helsinki city forests, using a sample of citizens concerned about the management of those forests, Tyrvainen et al. (2003) came to the opposite conclusion. The most disliked stand type was dense and closed forest vistas with abundant undergrowth, where young coppices limit sight and visibility. Respondents of Kardell (1990) gave a high score for a stratified stand, but when the study was repeated after removal of all small and medium sized trees, creating an open pine stand with a view towards a lake, the stand got a still higher score."

Similarly a range of relationships was identified by Ribe (1989: 60-61): "The scenic value of the low structural element of an understory of seedlings and/or shrubs has more frequently been investigated [than vertical structure]. It would be expected to be negative in reducing visual penetration, as reported by Brush (1978). However, an understorey contributed to scenic beauty in western US forests (Schroeder and Daniel 1981) and also did so when it was diverse, as Brush (1979) reported that a varied understory in a red pine stand contributed to aesthetic liking. These results are contrary to the open parklike ideal forest image. However, a lower density or interesting character seen in an understory may influence the direction of its aesthetic value. Savolainen and Kellomaki (1981) found that a relatively sparse understory of visually defined coniferous saplings more clearly contributed to beauty perceptions tn did other denser stories. This relationship remains uncertain because understory density variables, as opposed to sapling counts, have been infrequently tested in empirical scenic studies, which favour other more routine timber cruise measurements in predicting beauty. One exception is founding Patey and Evans (1979) among preferences reported in the field. There, forests with less shrubbery were preferred, except among wildlife interest groups. Another comes from Hull and others (1987), who could not identify a significant relation between understory density and SBE in their photo response generated model."

Other studies tend to show a simple negative relationship between understorey density and recreational value. Tyrväinen et al. (2003: 142?) concluded that the most disliked stand type in the Helsinki city forests was dense and closed forest vistas with abundant undergrowth, where young coppices limit sight and visibility." Similarly, Karjalainen (1996: 168?) notes that dense shrub growth can negatively affect scenic beauty. The effect is negative if the undergrowth begins to resemble a thicket stage plantation. Jensen (1997: 142) carried out: "a comparison of the same 149-year-old beech stand without understorey and with natural regeneration." He concluded that: "the latter type of forest is preferred – mature deciduous forest undergoing regular natural regeneration. [...] However... this difference can only be ascertained with significance in the 1977 survey." Blasco et al. 2008 write: "The presence of bushes represents in our study an increment in the perceived scenic beauty, which agrees with previous studies (Shroeder and Daniel 1981; Ribe 1990). Small trees on the contrary seem to have a negative effect on the stand scenic beauty perception, an effect previously reported by Brown and Daniel (1984) and Silvennoinen et al. (2001)."

Thinning

The substantial literature on the impacts of thinning is probably of most relevance to this attribute. Ribe (1989: 63) writes: "Thinnings... have generally been found to increase perceived beauty, with qualifications. In the eastern US, thinned stands have been found to be preferred to unthinned stands if allowed to recover and with attendant pruning (Brush 1978, 1979, Radar 1971); in western US if resulting slash is removed from the stands (Kenner and McCool 1985). Vodak and others (1985) found that light thinnings in eastern US hardwoods are preferred to heavy ones by a variety of groups and suggest thinning of eastern hardwoods to 17 square meters of basal area per hectare (75 square feet per acre) as aesthetically optimal. Such an optimal basal area is also reported by Hull and others (1987) for southern US pine forests. They found that this optimum grows with stand age as trees become larger. suggesting that tree numbers are more important than basal area. And the optimal basal area they report grew over time to a much higher level than that of Vodak and others (1985), namely 40 square metres of basal area per hectare (10 square feet per acre) at age 30. [More detail provided] The existence of aesthetically optimal tree densities suggests that overthinning is possible, and this is somewhat supported by Daniel and Boster's (1976) study where a heavily thinned ponderosa pine stand was decisively least preferred, although this stand also contained slash, obscuring the singular affect of thinning."

In conclusion, Ribe (1989: 63-4) notes that, in general, thinning of small trees is preferable: "The weight of this evidence from southern US pine stands suggests that the density of small stems adversely effects scenic perceptions more than that of large stems, although a very low density of small stems can still be seen as relatively ugly (Hull and others 1987). This suggests a general rule for the aesthetic effects of alternative thinnings: Those that leave larger trees are beneficial. Still, it might be possible to have too many large trees... (Hull and others 1987). [More detail provided] In sum, the aesthetic effect of thinnings is a problem contingent upon treatment design, stand situation, and time frame."

A similar conclusion is made by Gundersen and Frivold (2005: 10) who write regarding 'intermediate cuttings': "Few studies included the visual impact [of thinning] of young stands. Kardell (1990) identified a clear positive response on thinning in both pre-commercial and commercial thinning stands. [...] Tyrväinen et al. (2003) found that moderate thinnings, including some visible stumps, were well accepted. Thinning from below, that is removal of the smallest trees, appears to be more appreciated than thinning from above, or removal of the largest trees (Haakenstad 1972; Kellomäki 1975; Kardell 1990)." Elsewhere, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) write: "In a rural area of Finland, Silvennoinen et al. (2002) found that leaving the strongest and most attractive individual trees in tending of young, dense stands increased the perceived beauty to a greater extent than thinning in middle-aged and older stands."

An overview is also given by Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 263) who write: "All thinning treatments increase visibility in the forest, which is usually considered positive (Savolainen and Kellomaki 1981, Schroeder and Daniel 1981, Hultman 1983, Hull and Buhyoff 1986, Brown 1987, Hull et al. 1987,

Rudish et al. 1988, Ribe 1990, Jensen 1993, Bostedt and Mattsson 1995, Liao and Nogami 1999. [...] Thinning treatments affect the stand's scenic beauty less than regenerative fellings (Pings 1993, Brunson and Reiter (1996). Although only a few studies are available on the visual effects of tending and thinning treatments of young stands, both positive (Patey and Evans 1979, Schroeder and Daniel 1981, McCool et al. 1986, Hull et al. 1987, Palmer 1990, Sievänen 1993, Mäntymaa 1998) and negative (Vodak et al. 1985, Pings 1993) impacts have been reported. In general, the emergence of a very dense young stand has been experienced to be visually undesirable (Hultman 983, Kardell and Mård 1989, Ribe 1989, Kardell 1990, Lindhagen 1996)."

From their own research, Silvennoinen et al. 2002: 271 add to this: "The analysis of photographs indicated that thinning treatments have quite a small immediate effect on the scenic beauty score. This means that the positive effects (improved visibility) and negative effects (cutting residues) are small or largely cancel each other out. Thinnings increased the mean scenic beauty score most in young and dense stands. Young stand improvement had the greatest positive visual effect. The reason for this is most probably that stands treated with this method are very dense, approaching the self-thinning limit. Removing a great number of dominated, weak and slender stems reveals the strongest and most attractive individuals and increases the visibility within the stand. The positive effect was greatest in hardwood stands may not always yield visual benefits (Vodak et al. 1985, Pings 1993)." Later, Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 271) note that: "Extraction roads needed in mechanized thinning treatments were never shown in the photographs used in this study, which may have led to a slightly too positive view on the visual effects of thinning."

Other perspectives include those of Jensen (1993: 87) who writes: "The population prefers very heavy thinning to light thinning of Norway spruce. All expert groups share this perception of the population's preferences..." [See also: Jensen (1997: 147) which states that this was the case in 1977 and 1994.] Tahvanainen *et al.* (2001:60) write of their study in oak and pine forests in the southwest of Finland that thinning (and removal of undergrowth) had a negative effect on 'natural' scenic beauty although such treatments were evaluated positively for recreation. Tryväinen *et al.* (2003: 142) found, in urban forests around Helsinki, that thinning in spruce stands negatively affected scenic beauty although it was considered to be less unsightly in other forest types. Yet, overall, the study showed that thinning improves scenic beauty compared to no management.

Shelterwood and selection systems

The literature on shelterwood and selection systems indirectly reveal preferences for difference levels of visual penetration. Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) write: "The uniform shelterwood system has been suggested as an alternative to clear cutting in urban forests, because tree generations in the uniform system partially overlap and not all trees are removed at once (Rydberg 1998b and others). Not many Fennoscandian preference surveys included this alternative. It should be kept in mind that when the last shelter trees are removed upon completion of regeneration, the stand becomes a uniform young stand similar to the one regenerated by clear cutting. Recreationists in North Finland do not give shelterwood stands a particularly high score, according to a slide-based study by Saastamoinen (1982). Unfortunately the development stage of the stands was not specified in his report."

Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) continue: "A photo of a stand that could be either a dense seedtree stand or a shelterwood stand, with *P. sylvestris* as shelter trees and a dense regeneration of *P. sylvestris* and *Betula* spp., got a high score among the respondents of Hultman (1983) and Lindhagen and Hörnsten (2000). A set of mail surveys in North Sweden (Mattsson and Li, 1994a; Mattsson et al., 1995; Holgén et al., 2000) included ranking of photo series from four different silvicultural systems: clear-cut with planting, clear-cut with regeneration from seed-trees, the uniform shelterwood system, and the selection system. Photo series from mixed pine-spruce stands in various phases of shelterwood regeneration, including completed regeneration with no shelter trees, got the highest recreational value." Later Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) note that: "True selection forestry with complete allsize stratification is and has always been rare in managed Fennoscandian forests (Andreassen, personal communication)." Ribe (1989: 64) writes: "Among even-aged harvests, near views of shelterwoods are preferred to those of clear-cuts among western US forests irrespective of other site treatments such as slash removal (Benson and Ullrich 1981). Scenes from recently harvested shelterwood cuts in the same forests are still disliked compared to scenes from most other preharvest forest conditions (Daniel and Boster 1976, Schweitzer and others 1976). Seed-tree cuts have not been clearly tested." Other perspectives are given by: McCool et al. (1986), Hultman (1983) and Bradley and Kearney (2007: 49).

In conclusion, it appears that moderate density is generally preferred to low or high density, largely because it allows visual accessibility but also perhaps because it gives the impression of healthiness and good management. The results of thinning operations are generally positive (especially after any evidence of intervention has gone). In normal silvicultural practice, stands are probably more likely to be too dense than too sparse because dense planting encourages straight stems, and because thinning is often uneconomic. Stands that are considered aesthetically too sparse often result from inadequate levels of natural regeneration. Low density stands of some broadleaves (especially birch) may be considered less attractive than conifers at the same age and density.

6. DENSITY OF GROUND VEGETATION COVER UP TO 50cm HEIGHT WITHIN STAND

Overall, this attribute was ranked lowest across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests (see Table 19). However, there was some variation between regions, with the Iberian panel giving it a moderate ranking.

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value |
|-----------------|--|
| Great Britain | 1 |
| Nordic Region | 1 |
| Central Europe | 3 |
| Iberia | 5.5 |
| Overall ranking | 1 |

Table 19. Ranked mean contribution of 'density of ground vegetation cover', by region

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as bell-shaped by most respondents, again with the exception of Iberia where it was considered to be negative (see Table 20). Thus, in general, very low and very high levels of ground vegetation were considered to be negative compared to moderate levels.

| Tuble 200 Relationship to recreational value of achisty of ground regetation cover , by region | | | | | | |
|--|------------------------------------|----------|--------------------|----------|------|-------------|
| Decion | Relationship to recreational value | | | | | Madal alam |
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | Modal class |
| Great Britain (n=10) | 1 | | 8 | | 1 | Bell-shaped |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | 3 | 4 | 5 | | | Bell-shaped |
| Central Europe (n=14) | 2 | 1 | 11 | | | Bell-shaped |
| Iberia (n=10) | 1 | 6 | 3 | | | Negative |

Table 20. Relationship to recreational value of 'density of ground vegetation cover', by region

This attribute has not been the focus of much preference research. Ribe (1989: 63) concludes from a small number of studies, mainly in USA, that it generally makes a positive contribution: "The vegetative ground coverage of forest floors, as opposed to a shrub and sapling understory, whether of grasses, ferns, forbs, or seedlings, is positive in affect (Arthur 1977, Radar 1971). This relation appears to be reinforced when scenic preferences are compared between forests with ground covered with vegetation versus those with bare or disturbed soil (Brush 1978, 1979, Echelberger 1979, Schroeder and Daniel 1981). Brown and Daniel (1984, 1986) and Daniel and Schroeder (1979) have found vegetative ground cover to be a primary positive factor in their SBE prediction models. A forest managed specifically for range, as an open parklike stand with a grass ground cover, was considered

of above average scenic beauty by all sampled observer groups except environmentalists (Daniel and Boster 1976). [...] This preference for lower ground vegetation cover is also confirmed in stands where taller shrubbery was controlled by grazing and other methods (Patey and Evans 1979). This effect may be limited to such treatments that do not excessively impact vegetation, as would overgrazing and scarification."

Other researchers present a mixed picture. Tahvanainen et al. (2001:60), in a study carried out in coastal southwest Finland, used visual and verbal stimuli to elicit preference responses and discovered through verbal questioning that there were differences of opinion concerning ground cover based on gender and age. No general conclusion appears to be given. Karjalainen (1996:168) suggests that shrubs and grass can mitigate against the negative scenic effects of clearcutting. Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 249) write: "Very few Fennoscandian surveys included specific questions about the field layer in forests. Verbal surveys by Lind et al. (1974) and Aasetre (1993) showed that a majority enjoys "walking on a green mat of forest mosses", but the mental image "forest mosses" is not clearly stated."

To conclude, low ground vegetation is preferred in general to bare ground but it depends upon the kind of vegetation. Bare ground may be expected in some contexts (e.g. under a closed canopy of mature conifers), and hence acceptable or preferred by some groups. Preferences for different types of vegetation are difficult to generalise. A covering of spring flowers under a mature stand of broadleaves is highly valued and expected in some contexts. Less attractive vegetation (e.g. bramble in UK) may add little value, or be valued negatively, for some visitors who see the vegetation as a barrier to physical access even if there is still very good visual access.

7. NUMBER OF TREE SPECIES WITHIN STAND

Overall, this attribute was ranked 3 out of 12 across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests (see Table 21). There was some variation between regions, with the Iberian panel giving it a moderate ranking.

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value |
|-----------------|--|
| Great Britain | 4.5 |
| Nordic Region | 5 |
| Central Europe | 2 |
| Iberia | 8 |
| Overall ranking | 3 |

Table 21. Ranked mean contribution of 'number of tree species within stand', by region

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as positive by most respondents, with the exception of Central Europe where it was considered to be bell-shaped (see Table 22). Thus, in general, as number of species within the stand increases from one to many, the recreational value increases.

| Table 22. Relationship to recreational value of 'number of tree s | pecies within stand', by region |
|---|---------------------------------|
|---|---------------------------------|

| Decien | Relationship to recreational value | | | | | Modal class |
|-----------------------|------------------------------------|----------|--------------------|----------|------|--------------|
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | wiodal class |
| Great Britain (n=10) | 5 | | 4 | | 1 | Positive |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | 6 | | 5 | | 1 | Positive |
| Central Europe (n=14) | 6 | | 8 | | | Bell-shaped |
| Iberia (n=10) | 7 | | 2 | 1 | | Positive |

Species type (broadleaves, conifers and mixed)

The literature appears to support the conclusion of the Delphi survey that species type is relatively unimportant. Regarding species composition, Ribe (1989: 62) highlights the significance of context, and suggests that there is a slight overall preference for species diversity. He writes: "The species composition of forests can influence scenic preferences. Certain species may be preferred as more fitting or expected in different settings. For example, British respondents preferred mainly coniferous stands in mountain areas and mainly deciduous stands in agricultural settings (Yarrow 1966). In a given setting, a mix of species can increase scenic beauty (Cook 1972, Kellomaki 1975), although general agreement on this relation may be weak, as Karhu and Kellomaki (1980) found that two thirds of their subjects preferred mixed stands and one third monocultures. The inclusion of aspens among ponderosa pine has a beneficial scenic affect, while oaks, junipers, and firs do likewise to a lesser extent (Schroeder and Daniel 1981). The same affect is observed where similarly white-barked birches are mixed into coniferous stands (Kellomaki and Savolainen 1984), where at least 10% of other species are mixed into a ponderosa pine forest (Daniel and Schroeder 1979), or where a little Gambel oak is mixed among ponderosa pine (Brown and Daniel 1984). [...] Among monoculture or nearmonoculture forests, a study of Europeans showed a preference for mature birch to Norway spruce or Scots pine (Karhu and Kellomaki 1980, Kellomaki 1975, Savolainen and Kellomaki 1981). Among Minnesota residents, mature red pine was preferred to white pine, which was preferred to paper birch (Klukas and Duncan 1967)."

Ribe (1989: 62) concludes: "All these results seem rather anecdotal. Species preferences appear to be partly influenced by cultural, regional, contextual, and subjective expectations. The structural attributes of the forests, rather than the corresponding species used in the tests, may well have played a critical role, as in the Massachusetts and Minnesota findings, and these considerations may be more important than explicit species choices. The overall results do suggest aesthetic merit in forests with a variety of species when they create visual diversity, as has often been suggested by landscape architects."

The overall picture assembled by Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) is also unclear: "Elements of deciduous trees in coniferous forests are generally considered positive, according to surveys by Haakenstad (1972), Lind et al. (1974) and Hultman (1983). Regarding people's attitudes to mixed stands and pure spruce, pine and birch stands, the various surveys including such questions provided a rather messy picture. Haakenstad (1972) and Andreassen (1982) found that respondents preferred mixed deciduous-coniferous stands to pure stands, at least when asked verbally, while Korhonen (1983) and Tyrväinen et al. (2003) came to the opposite conclusion using verbal and visual stimulation, respectively. Some authors found that pure birch stands were preferred above pure coniferous stands (Karhu and Kellomäki, 1980; Hultman, 1983; Kellomäki and Savolainen, 1984), others found that pure pine stands were about equally attractive as pure birch stands (Kellomäki, 1975; Pukkala et al., 1988; Tyrväinen et al., 2003) or even more attractive (Korhonen, 1983). In two different conifer-dominated urban forests, respondents of Haakenstad (1972) and Andreassen (1982) preferred coniferous stands more than deciduous stands for walking. Our overall conclusion is that people's preferences for tree species and species compositions strongly depend on the context of other factors like openness and visibility, the amount of light in the stand, and stratification, as well as what kind of forest people are used to."

An overview by Axelsson Lindgren (1995: 282) suggested that: "In spruce stands, the mixture of other species constantly increased the beauty and recreation evaluations. The effect of the tree species depended on the age and size of the trees [citing Pukkala et al. 1988; Savolainen & Kellomaki, 1981]. [...] Rather different results are given in a study by Koch and Jensen (1988), where the photos to a large extent show broadleaved deciduous forest common in Denmark. Studies conducted in other Nordic countries have very few photos of broadleaved deciduous forest. The Danish subjects like deciduous forest better than coniferous forest, especially in the summertime. Beech forest is most preferred. High preferences for beech forest are also found in Sweden (Hultman 1983). Deciduous forest gets more popular with increasing age of the trees (Koch and Jensen, 1988). [...] In wintertime, young stands of spruce are just as much liked as young beech stands."
Jensen (1993: 85) reports, on 'the choice of tree species', that: "All segments of the expert group have a very clear perception that the population prefers broadleaved forests to coniferous forests – which is true. [...] A topic which has been discussed for many years in Danish forestry is beech versus Norway spruce... According to the mean assessment of the population, old stands of beech rank higher in preference than old stands of Norway spruce in the summer... When the photos are taken in the wintertime there is no significant difference between the population's mean assessment of a stand of young beech and Norway spruce... And if the Norway spruce had a light cover of snow, then it would presumably have been ranked highest." [See also Jensen 1997: 143. This was similar in 1977 and 1994].

Other perspectives include that of Schraml and Volz (2009: 248, citing Schriewer, 1998), who provide a list of adjectives to show perceptions of coniferous and broadleaved forests in Germany, based on 50 interviews:

| Conifer forests | Broadleaved forests | | | | |
|------------------------|------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Artificial, man-made | Native, natural | | | | |
| Darkness, black | Light, diverse colours | | | | |
| Impermeable, repelling | Permeable, inviting | | | | |
| Uniform, military | Individual | | | | |
| Monotony | Diversity | | | | |
| Young trees | Old trees | | | | |
| Mushrooms | Flowers | | | | |
| - | Cathedrals | | | | |
| 'Waldsterben' | - | | | | |

Table 23. Perception of coniferous and broadleaved forests in Germany (n=50) (Schraml and Volz 2009: 248, citing Schriewer 1998)

In a study by Garrod (2002: 10, Table 6) the following public preferences for tree species type in UK forests: coniferous trees 13.7%; broadleaved trees 54.6%; equal preference 30.8%; neither 1.0%. A preference for mixed stands in UK was also shown by Entec and EERG (1997: 3-4) who describe their contingent valuation survey which involved 638 respondents. "The sample contained a mix of non-users and users (with varying frequencies of use) of forests..." The following results were obtained regarding species composition:

| Table 24: WTB bids: pooled data across 1 ^s | st , 2 nd | ¹ and 3 rd | preferences (| (Entec and EERG 1997: 6) |
|---|---------------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------|
|---|---------------------------------|----------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------|

| | Design | Mean | 95% ci |
|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------|---------------|
| | Evergreen only | 7.53 | 0.71 – 14.35 |
| Autumn | Evergreen + broadleaved | 12.49 | 5.80 - 19.18 |
| Evergreen + broadleaved + Larch | | 17.86 | 13.14 - 22.58 |
| | Evergreen only | 13.54 | 3.24 - 23.85 |
| Spring | Evergreen + broadleaved | 10.39 | 3.70 - 17.08 |
| | Evergreen + broadleaved + Larch | 17.00 | 12.39 – 21.61 |
| | Evergreen only | 31.69 | 16.29 - 47.09 |
| Winter | Evergreen + broadleaved | 10.90 | 3.97 – 17.83 |
| | Evergreen + broadleaved + Larch | 13.22 | 9.85 – 16.59 |

Entec and EERG (1997: 3-4) conclude overall from their study that: "The WTP [willingness to pay] values confirm a preference for 'natural-looking' forests with positive net values being expressed for such enhancements. One exception was for winter, where Evergreens only was found to have a higher WTP than mixed species – possibly due to the so-called 'Christmas Card' effect."

Again, a preference for broadleaves in UK was shown by Lee (2001: 70) who write: when people in the household survey said that they would like to see more forests, they were asked what kind of trees should be planted. 37% said any kind of trees; 33% said a mixture of the two (broadleaved/conifers); 21% preferred broadleaved, and 5% said conifers; 4% said they don't know. [...] Social class differences were considerable, as discussed in Section 4. Elsewhere, Lee (2001: 21) revealed that participants felt that conifers were acceptable in an appropriate landscape (i.e. one sparsely populated by people) while broadleaf species were more popular at a local level. Lee (2001: 154-56) writes, on the results of his landscape preference study, that the distinction between broadleaved and conifer trees had a very low but positive correlation with 'best picture', i.e. in favour of broadleaved trees. Also, the inclusion of a proportion of broadleaved trees was significantly more important to close views than distant views.

Likewise, in a forest complex in Flanders, Roover *et al* (2002: 136) found that pure coniferous stands were not popular amongst user groups such as walkers and that again mixed forests had the highest preference rating.

Two studies were found which examined public preferences for tree shapes, which could indirectly reveal preferences for species type. In urban greenspaces in northwest Turkey, Müderrisoğlu et al. (2006) found from their sample of 268 people that pyramid shaped trees were most preferred and that a mixture of round and pyramid shapes were considered more scenic and created a relaxing atmosphere (ibid: 799). If pyramidal shaped trees represent conifers and irregular shaped trees represent broadleaves, the results suggests a preference for mixed stands in this specific urban context. Parsons and Daniel (2002:49, citing Sommer and Summit 1996, and Summit and Sommer 1999), note that in the USA, and cross-culturally, people prefer "spreading and globular, acacia-like tree shapes" associated with productive habitats. They went on to suggest evolutionary explanations for these visual preferences.

Importantly, at least for a UK context, the planting design and the management regime need to be separated out to understand the impact of tree species per se. A related point is made by Price (2003: 127, citing Price 1995) who writes: "Sitka spruce more than 50 years old must have been planted at least 50 years previously – at a time when little design input to plantations was attempted. Hence adverse aesthetic effect may be due not to physiological age as such, but to a correlated attribute – lack of design input – of which the normative implications are quite different."

Other perspectives are provided by: Bernasconi and Schroff (2003); Maresca (2001) for preferences for broadleaves, conifers and mixed in peri-urban Paris, and Despres and Normandin (1998) for a study in Lorraine, France, where mixed forests were considered the most popular, followed by broadleaved forests, and finally by conifers. However, in this latter study, most people were indifferent. Willis (2003: 411), citing Willis and Garrod (1992), concluded that broadleaves can enhance, while conifers can reduce, property values.

Exotic tree species

Differential preferences for exotic tree species are dependent upon the extent to which the public are able to distinguish them from native species. In Spain González *et al.* (2001) found that in a study of 200 Galician citizens people preferred the traditional forests (i.e. oak, chestnut and broadleaves) over conifers or eucalyptus plantations. Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 251) write: "Almost 60% of the respondents in the verbal mail survey of Haakenstad (1972) did not want areas with exotic tree species in the forests around Oslo. Only 13% answered that they would like such areas. In these forests practically all tree species are indigenous. In some parts of the municipal forests of Trondheim, however, afforestation with foreign conifer species has a long tradition (Aaeng 1923). Here, forest visitors were more positive to the presence of such species than Haakenstad found for residents of Oslo. [...] (Andreassen, 1982)" Some large forest holdings in North Sweden planted the American pine species *Pinus contorta* over large areas... Kardell and Wallsten (1989) invited volunteers from a small town for a forest walk in the neighbourhood to test their preferences regarding two *P. contorta* stands and three stands with indigenous tree species (pure *P. sylvestris*, pure *Picea abies* and a mixed

P. abies and *Betula* spp. Stand). All stands were middle aged and structurally similar. The authors concluded that the two *P. contorta* stands were perceived as slightly lighter and less natural than the other stands, but no less suitable for outdoor recreation. Ordinary people among the respondents turned out to be rather indifferent both about forestry in general and about the use of *P. contorta* in particular. Far from all forest visitors are able to recognise differences between foreign and domestic tree species at all (Kardell and Wallsten, 1989), so questions about exotic species can be difficult to formulate and answers difficult to interpret (cf. Haakenstad 1972)."

8. SIZE OF CLEAR-CUTS

Overall, this attribute was ranked 11 out of 12 across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests (see Table 25). There was very little variation between regions.

| Tuble 201 Rumled mean contribution of shee of cital | | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value | | | | |
| Great Britain | 10 | | | | |
| Nordic Region | 10 | | | | |
| Central Europe | 10 | | | | |
| Iberia | 9 | | | | |
| Overall ranking | 11 | | | | |

Table 25. Ranked mean contribution of 'size of clear-cuts', by region

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as negative by almost all respondents (see Table 26). Thus, in general, as size of clear-cuts increases from small to large, the recreational value decreases.

| Destan | | Madalalara | | | | |
|-----------------------|----------|------------|-------------|----------|------|-------------|
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | Modal class |
| Great Britain (n=10) | | 8 | 1 | 1 | | Negative |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | | 12 | | | | Negative |
| Central Europe (n=14) | | 13 | 1 | | | Negative |
| Iberia (n=10) | | 10 | | | | Negative |

Table 26. Relationship to recreational value of 'size of clear-cuts', by region

The overall effect is summarised by Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) who write: "Silvicultural measures that have been discretely performed, without striking traces from harvesting, leave an impression of caring for the natural environment. This is believed to have an influence on the registered visual effect (Lind et al. 1974; Kardell and Lindhagen 1998)." Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 268) indicates how the scenic beauty score changes on a continuum from clear-cutting (very negative impact) through to young stand improvement (positive impact) (see Fig 3).

Several other studies provide further evidence of the negative impact of intrusive interventions, including clear-cuts. Ribe (1989: 64) writes: "Considerable research has attended to perceptions of the results of timber harvest methods, due to their obvious aesthetic impacts. [...] Not surprisingly, the most essential and obvious finding regarding harvest perceptions is that the greater the proportion of trees removed, the lower the scenic value of the result (Vodak and others 1985). Echelberger (1979) also reports this relationship and, in searching for emotive causes, found that when viewing harvested areas his respondents favoured adjectives like, 'violent,' 'rough,' or 'rugged' in forming negative impressions and 'gentleness' or 'delicacy' for positive ones. This supports the importance of perceived damage in the negative perception of harvested sites." Later Ribe (1989: 64) adds: "The low scenic value of clear-cuts is empirically supported for in-stand eastern US hardwood views (Vodak and others 1985) and for mid-ground western US vista views (McCool and others 1986). More often, the ugliness of clear-cuts is simply assumed, with visual mitigation measures the object of research."

Fig 3. Mean change in the scenic beauty score (range 1-10) in different cutting types (Source: Silvennoinen et al. 2002: 268)



Fig. 2. Mean change in the scenic beauty score (range 1-10) in different cutting types. The y-axis is the difference in the scenic beauty score after cutting and just before the treatment. The after-cutting score is the mean of a fresh cutting area and a situation 1-3 yrs later.

Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 249) write: "Different earlier surveys (Haakenstad 1972; Lind et al. 1974; Kardell, 1978; Hultman 1983; Korhonen, 1983) indicated that large, fresh clear-cuts were considered negative by a majority of forest visitors. The proportion of respondents with a negative attitude to clear-cuts tends to increase with the size of the clear-cuts (Kardell 1978; Hultman, 1983; Korhonen, 1983; Kangas and Niemeläinen, 1996), with poor adaptation of the clear-cuts to landscape forms (Kardell, 1978; Karjalainen and Komulainen, 1999), with the amount of stumps and wooden debris (Kardell et al. 1977; Aasetre, 1993, 1994), and with closeness to the city (Jaatinen, 1976). Haakenstad (1972) showed clear-cuts of various sizes to passing forest visitor near Oslo, Norway. A majority responded that the largest clear-cut (6 ha) was too large, while the size of the smallest (2 ha) was suitable." Later Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) write: "A recent study from Finland (Silvennoinen et al., 2002), where volunteers were asked to grade photos and fill in a questionnaire, confirmed that clear cutting reduces the amenity value of a stand significantly more than regeneration with seed trees."

Regarding long distance views, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) note that: "The surveys cited above dealt with near-distance visual effects of regeneration cuttings. Karjalainen and Komulainen (1999) made use of manipulated photos depicting long-distance views of some clear-cutting options on a sample of forest experts, tourists and the general population. Their main findings were that the zero option (no cutting) was preferred to visible clear-cut areas."

Similarly, Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 263) write: "Earlier studies [also] indicate that people do not find clear-felling areas visually attractive (Benson & Ullrich 1981, Daniel & Boster 1976, Vodak et al. 1985, Mattsson & Li 1994, Kangas and Niemelä 1995, Brunson & Reiter 1996, Komulainen 1998, Mäntymaa 1998)." From their own research, Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 271) report that: "Natural regeneration with seed trees seems to be a way to avoid the very negative effect of a clear-felling, especially in the case of Scots pine stands. This is because both the seed tree stand and an established regeneration of pines are regarded as much more attractive than an open area." In another study which included preferences for different sized clear-cuts, Karjalainen (1996: 164) notes that: "felling areas that got highest [preference] ranks could hardly be recognised as having been clear-felled. They were small and had an abundance of shrubbery, big solitary trees, or big trees in the foreground of the felling area." Finally, Entec and EERG (1997: 6) report that their contingent valuation survey of 638 respondents in UK produced the following willingness to pay values: large clearfell areas, £8.33; small clearfell areas, £13.18.

9. RESIDUE FROM HARVESTING AND THINNING

Overall, this attribute was ranked 10 out of 12 across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests (see Table 27). It was given high importance in all regions except Central Europe where it was given the lowest importance.

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value |
|-----------------|--|
| Great Britain | 8 |
| Nordic Region | 11 |
| Central Europe | 1 |
| Iberia | 11 |
| Overall ranking | 10 |

Table 27. Ranked mean contribution of 'residue from harvesting and thinning', by region

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as negative by almost all respondents (see Table 28). Thus, in general, as volume of tree stumps, branches and other visible woody residue increases from low to high, the recreational value decreases.

| Decien | Relationship to recreational value | | | | | Modal class |
|-----------------------|------------------------------------|----------|--------------------|----------|------|--------------|
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | Wiodal class |
| Great Britain (n=10) | | 10 | | | | Negative |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | | 12 | | | | Negative |
| Central Europe (n=14) | | 13 | 1 | | | Negative |
| Iberia (n=10) | | 9 | 1 | | | Negative |

 Table 28. Relationship to recreational value of 'residue from harvesting and thinning', by region

On slash and residue, Ribe (1989: 66) writes: "The most effective scenic mitigation of timber harvests in relatively arid western US forests is to reduce evidence of slash, as it is universally disliked (Brush 1979, Daniel and Boster 1976, Daniel and Schroeder 1979, Radar 1971, Schroeder and Daniel 1981, Brown and Daniel 1986, Schweitzer and others 1976). Stumps can also be disliked (Daniel and Boster 1976, Radar 1971), as can bare soil in regenerating stands (Willhite and Sise 1974). [...] Arthur (1977) found volume of slash to be the principal determinant of low SBEs, and more so when piled. [...] ...Vodak and others (1985) found slash to be viewed negatively, but particularly so when it stood more than 18 in. above the ground and could be seen above ground vegetation. They still suggest slash removal as the single most effective immediate scenic mitigation of harvests in eastern US hardwoods. [...] Brown and Daniel (1984, 1986) also found slash volume a major negative determinant of ponderosa pine SBEs, particularly when inventoried at more than 1/4 -in. in diameter, and they support slash removal as scenic mitigation. However, a further investigation of alternative scenic mitigation measures suggests that chipping and spreading of slash is nearly as effective as removal and that either of these methods produce results one year after harvest that are preferred to piling and burning (Benson 1974, Benson and Ullrich 1981). [more detail...] These results regarding slash, and burned slash over time, suggest that the regrowth of ground vegetation is an effective postharvest site treatment for scenic purposes (Schweitzer and others 1976). In partially harvested stands, Radar (1971) found that forest floor seedlings and plantings aided scenic mitigation roughly as much as slash removal... As for the perception of harvested sites with reduced ground vegetation, open sites prepared for tree plantings with herbicides, plowing, and drainage are disliked, mainly by nonforesters (Karhu and Kellomaki 1980, Yeiser and Shilling 1978). More natural ground treatments are less negatively viewed (Boster and Daniel 1972). Benson and Ullrich (1981) found shrubbery removal after harvest, as opposed to ground vegetation treatments, to be a modestly effective postharvest preparation in increasing beauty, especially when combined with slash removal."

Ribe (1989: 63) writes elsewhere that a preference for thinned stands was found "in western US if resulting slash is removed from the stands (Kenner and McCool 1985)." Similarly, when suggesting that overthinning is possible, he writes that: "this is somewhat supported by Daniel and Boster's

(1976) study where a heavily thinned ponderosa pine stand was decisively least preferred, although this stand also contained slash, obscuring the singular affect of thinning."

Studies of the impact of recovery time on slash and residue have been reviewed by Ribe (1989: 69) who writes: "Time also affects the visual condition of forests, and managers may often need to know about the relative scenic beauty of a forest over the long term under alternative managements. [...] The first time-flow scenic study to be reported comes from Hull and Buhyoff (1986), who successfully developed this approach using an SBE prediction model with forest simulations, and named it the scenic beauty temporal distribution (SBTD) [...] It compared the total scenic output of several alternative management programmes for loblolly pine in the southern US over a 50 year period, as opposed to the immediate scenic effect of single management choices. It yielded some interesting time-related findings. Not surprisingly, longer rotation periods yielded greater scenic flows over time, due to their lesser frequency of harvest impacts. [...] In addition, the scenic enhancing effects of thinning over the long-term outweighed the short-term reduction in beauty attributable to increased slash from the thinning operation."

Similarly, referring to the recovery period, Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 271) add: "It seems that the visual recovery of a stand [to any kind of cutting] is fast: only a few years after the cutting the stand is regarded as much more pleasant than immediately after the cutting. This result is most probably related to visible cutting residues which quite soon disintegrate or are covered and hidden by ground vegetation (Hultman 1983, Kardell & Mård 1989, Ribe 1989, Kardell 1990, Lindhagen 1996." See also Brown and Daniel 1984, Hull and Buhyoff 1986, Palmer 1990 (ibid: 264).

As reported under 'visual penetration', Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) write: "Surveys with very different scopes and methodologies showed that selection cuttings, like the group selection and single tree selection systems, do not cause negative reactions to any large extent (Haakenstad, 1972; Kardell and Lindhagen, 1998; Holgén et al., 2000; Kardell, 2001). However, fresh group selection cuttings with debris are much less appreciated than old group cuttings under regeneration where debris is no longer visible (Hultman, 1983; Lindhagen and Hörnsten, 2000)." Elsewhere, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) write how debris can lower the aesthetic impact of thinning (see also 'visual penetration'): "...the amount of wooden debris after tending or thinning seemed to be a key factor for people's appreciation of stands treated with intermediate cuttings (Hultman, 1983; Karjalainen, 2000; Silvennoinen et al., 2002). The nation-wide photo survey by Hultman (1983) showed that freshly tended young stands (pre-commercial thinning) with visible debris are little appreciated by the public, while similar stands with a path through them or with completely decayed debris got a higher score." Earlier, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) write, under 'stratification or vertical structure': "Several surveys with different methodologies indicated that the public tends to give high scores to irregular stands with a mixture of trees of different sizes, as long as they are not disturbed by obvious traces from cutting operations (Lind et al., 1974; Hultman, 1983; Kellomäki and Savolainen, 1984; Kardell 1990, 2001; Lindhagen and Hörnsten, 2000)."

Similar findings include those reported by Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 263) who write: "Cutting residues are visible for many years after the treatment, which is an example of scenically negative impacts (Arthur 1977, Schroeder and Daniel 1981, Benson 1982, Vodak et al. 1985, Brown and Daniel 1986, Jensen 1993, Brunson and Reiter 1996, Karjalainen 1996, Hallikainen 1998, Karjalainen and Komulainen 1999)." From their own research, Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 271) report: "The analysis of photographs indicated that thinning treatments have quite a small immediate effect on the scenic beauty score. This means that the positive effects (improved visibility) and negative effects (cutting residues) are small or largely cancel each other out."

Likewise, Axelsson Lindgren (1995: 282) writes: "Twigs are irritating and disturbing in all kinds of forests, according to a number of studies (Haakenstad 1972, Lind et al, 1974, Hultman 1983, Koch & Jensen 1988, Savolainen and Kellomaki 1981). The more twigs on clearcuttings, the more negative they are perceived to be."Karjalainen (1996: 164, citing Heino 1974 and others) note that large clearfelled areas with soil preparation and lop and top received the lowest rankings. Wood harvesting

residue was disliked. Jensen (1997: 148) writes: "...the population preferred the [beech] forest floor to be cleared of logs and branches in the 1977 and 1994 surveys. These results agree with what has been found in several surveys (e.g. Haakenstad, 1975, pp 128ff; Hultman, 1983b, pp. 41ff; Kardell and Holmer, 1985, pp 64ff). ...the results do not support the myth which asserts that 'the public prefers to see forestry at work'." See also Jensen (1993: 87).

Soil preparation

The similarly negative public perception of soil preparation is also relevant here. Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 251) write: "that ploughing and other kinds of strong soil preparation for natural regeneration were not appreciated by the general population (e.g. Korhonen, 1983; Kardell and Mård, 1989; Sievänen, 1993) is hardly surprising. Soil disturbance in small patches for enhancing natural regeneration in partial cuttings seems not to have been included in the surveys." See also Font and Tribe (2000: 3) who refer to logging waste and soil preparation.

10. AMOUNT OF NATURAL DEADWOOD (STANDING AND FALLEN)

Overall, this attribute was ranked a low 2 out of 12 across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests (see Table 29). It was given a relatively low importance in all regions except the Nordic Region where it was given a moderate importance.

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value |
|-----------------|--|
| Great Britain | 2 |
| Nordic Region | 7 |
| Central Europe | 4 |
| Iberia | 3 |
| Overall ranking | 2 |

 Table 29. Ranked mean contribution of 'amount of natural deadwood', by region

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as bell-shaped by most respondents, although also as negative, in particular in the Nordic Region (see Table 30). Thus, in general, a very low and very high volume of deadwood is seen as negative compared to a moderate amount.

| Decien | Relationship to recreational value | | | | | Modal class |
|-----------------------|------------------------------------|----------|-------------|----------|------|--------------|
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | wioual class |
| Great Britain (n=10) | | 1 | 8 | | | Bell-shaped |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | 1 | 7 | 3 | 1 | | Negative |
| Central Europe (n=14) | | 2 | 10 | | 2 | Bell-shaped |
| Iberia (n=10) | | 3 | 6 | | 1 | Bell-shaped |

Table 30. Relationship to recreational value of 'amount of natural deadwood', by region

Much of the literature on this attribute highlights differences according to educational background and profession. Tryväinen et al. (2005: 92) write: "In general, residents also disliked dead or decayed trees left in the forest. However, younger, higher educated residents and active urban forest users preferred more ecologically-oriented management compared to older, less-educated residents and less active users" (see Section 4).

Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 249) write: "Dead trees and snags in a forest are generally disliked both by tourists in rural areas and by urban forest visitors, according to Finnish surveys (Karjalainen, 2000; Tyrvainen et al., 2001, 2003); the former using verbal questions, the two latter using visual stimuli. A possible exception is pine forest (Karjalainen, 2000)." The study showed that men are more tolerant of dead and decaying ground wood as are younger people and those with higher education levels (Karjalainen 2000: 143).

There were few studies of this attribute at the time of writing reported by Ribe (1989; 63) who writes: "Natural downed wood, not resulting from harvest and thinning activities, and therefore distinguishable from slash, has not often been separately considered as such in scenic preference research. Where this distinction has been explored, some evidence suggests that natural downed wood is more acceptable than slash (Schroeder and Daniel 1981), but it is still of negative affect (Benson and Ullrich 1981)." It is possible that attitudes towards deadwood have improved over time since Ribe's review, with increase in public understanding of its contribution to biodiversity.

A negative relationship to recreational value is also suggested by Tahvanainen *et al.* (2001: 67) who write that dead and downed wood have a negative effect. Their research, plus Shroeder and Daniel (1981), Brown and Daniel (1986), and Hull and Bukyoff (1986), provide evidence. Axelsson Lindgren (1995: 283) writes: "The great amount of fallen trees make virgin forest unsuitable for outdoor recreation (Hultman 1983, Savolainen & Kellomaki 1981). Danes prefer beech forests without dead logs (Koch & Jensen 1988)." Later Axelsson Lindgren (1995: 283) also highlights differences between social groups: "Environmental protectionists and biologically educated people are positive to dead and fallen trees, while other people want such elements to be removed (Kardell 1990, see also Savolainen and Kellomaki 1981)."

Changes in public attitudes to this attribute over time are also considered by Jensen (1997: 148) who writes: "According to the mean assessment of the population, beech forest without dead trees is preferred. [...] It can also be postulated that the population's understanding of the biological processes were greater at the time of the 1994 survey than when data was collected in 1977. It is not possible to confirm this hypothesis in the above comparison." Elsewhere Jensen (1993: 87) highlights differences between social groups: "The population gave preference to the beech forest without the dead trunk. The experts differed greatly on this question... The politicians and even more so the biologists [n=11], have the misperception that the population prefers the forest with the dead tree." Jensen (1993: 90) adds: "All the expert groups had the 'wrong' perception that there was a preference... for the gnarled oak stand."

A more positive conclusion was made by Nielsen et al (2007:63-68) who report that a few standing or fallen dead trees will be tolerated in Denmark as they represent more 'natural' forests (mixture of different species, ages and sizes). This study also provides several references for different types of people, and shows that deadwood is positive if people are knowledgeable. Similarly, a more positive relationship was found in Belgium, a survey of public preferences (4540 individuals) in Brussels revealed that 80% felt that deadwood was an integral part of the forest landscape and should be kept (Vanwijnsberghe and van de Leemput 2002).

Herrmann et al. (2002: 17) revealed a diverse range of attitudes towards deadwood, which may help interpret the Delphi findings. Typical forests of the National Park with standing and lying deadwood pleased 68% of interviewees (41% to a very large extent, 27% to a large extent). A total of 32% didn't like deadwood lying around, for the following reasons: a) Some believed deadwood was a result of air pollution and hence considered it an ecological damage; b) Others were able to differentiate between natural conditions and ecological damage due to information in the media. Some of them thought deadwood was the result of an infestation by pests, c) Some disliked the appearance of the forest even though they knew it is part of the natural life cycle, d) Older people remembered the wood shortage during WWII and people from countries with low growing stock considered it a waste not to collect the deadwood, e) Italian visitors in particular expected the National Park to be a 'classic park' or at least 'traditionally cultivated land', and in their eyes the park was untidy.

Wind felled trees

The case of wind-felled trees needs to be considered separately because aesthetically they can often have a particularly negative impact. Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 249) write: "The least appreciated of 28 photos in a nation-wide Swedish survey conducted in 1977 by Hultman (1983) and repeated in 1997 by Lindhagen and Hörnsten (2000), was a photo of a mixed pine-spruce stand with an abundance of recent wind-felled trees. A photo of a virgin spruce forest with gap disturbance and wind-felled

trees in several decay classes did not do very much better, ranging as no. 23 of 28 in 1977 and no. 21 of 28 in 1997." Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 249) continue: "Kardell (1990) asked a group of volunteers consisting of town residents and forestry students to evaluate some stands with dead and wind-felled trees in 1978, 1980 and again in 1988. In 1978 and 1980, a majority of the respondents suggested removing the wind-felled trees, while in 1988 a majority suggested leaving them in the forest."

Negative views also prevail for fire damaged forest, although this was rarely the focus of preference research. Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) write: "Attitudes to openings caused by large-scale disturbances like forest fires seem not to have been measured in Fennoscandia; however, the preferences for controlled burning in regeneration areas are low (Karjalainen, 2000).

In conclusion, studies suggest that less deadwood is regarded as positive for the aesthetic value of a forest, but there is strong evidence that a modest level of deadwood is acceptable or preferred by people with better understanding of conservation issues, and tentative evidence that there is a gradual trend towards greater acceptability and preference for a modest level of deadwood perhaps due to an increasingly informed public. Excessive deadwood in any forest may rightly be perceived as evidence of a dying forest (e.g. after a pest invasion or fire). Preferences regarding deadwood also depends upon context and expectations. Some deadwood may be accepted or preferred in naturally managed stands where it is more likely to occur. For some social groups, deadwood in production forests may be regarded as an indication of poor management.

11. VARIATION BETWEEN STANDS ALONG A 5km TRAIL THROUGH FOREST

Overall, this attribute was ranked 8 out of 12 across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests (see Table 31). Its importance varied greatly between regions, with high importance attached in the Nordic Region and Central Europe.

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value |
|-----------------|--|
| Great Britain | 3 |
| Nordic Region | 9 |
| Central Europe | 11.5 |
| Iberia | 5.5 |
| Overall ranking | 8 |

Table 31. Ranked mean contribution of 'variation between stands', by region

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as positive by most respondents, and secondly as bell-shaped (see Table 32). Thus, in general, as the number of forest stand types encountered increases from one to many, recreational value increases, although a significant proportion of respondents saw very high or very low variation as negative.

| Table 32. Relationship | p to recreational value of | f 'variation between stand | ls', by region |
|------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|----------------|
|------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|----------------|

| Region | | Modal class | | | | |
|-----------------------|----------|-------------|--------------------|----------|------|-------------|
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | With Class |
| Great Britain (n=10) | 5 | | 3 | 1 | 1 | Positive |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | 5 | | 7 | | | Bell-shaped |
| Central Europe (n=14) | 10 | | 4 | | | Positive |
| Iberia (n=10) | 7 | | 1 | | 2 | Positive |

The most relevant work on the significance of this attribute is probably the pilot study by Axelsson-Lindgren and Sorte (1987). Thus, in his review article, Ribe (1989: 69) writes: "...the scenic dynamic of forests along roads and trails can be critical in achieving aesthetic goals. Managers may, for example, gain more in recreational-aesthetic value from a varied set of stands than if all stands were

uniformly maximized in their singular perceived beauty. [...] Axelsson-Lindgren and Sorte (1987) compared hikers characterizations of experiences from a diverse forest trail versus a more monotonous one. The hikers using the trail through a greater variety of forest stands reported more pleasant experiences, perceived more variability, engaged in a wider range of activities, and had more accurate time perceptions. They also took a bit more time, consistent with the findings of Gustke and Hodgson (1980)."

Axelsson-Lindgren and Sorte (1987: 212) write: "Our study, which was carried out in Järavallen forest in southern Sweden, is based on the view that the possibility of a visitor experiencing visual variation depends to a great extent on the environmental aspect we have called the Forest Visual Opportunity Spectrum (FVOS). [cf. "Brown and Stankey (1981) in their description of the Recreation Opportunity Spectrum (ROS)."] Our basic hypothesis is that a forest area can be divided into visually distinguishable forest stands, a visual forest stand being defined as an area of vegetation visually different in character from the adjacent vegetation. The number of visual forest stands, their size, and the degrees of difference between them, are factors determining the pattern of Forest Visual Opportunity Spectra."

Axelsson-Lindgren and Sorte (1987: 213) continue: "In this preliminary study... [...] Two hiking trails, each 2.5 km long, were laid out in the forest, one trail passing through eight different visual forest stands; the other trail through only three. The experimental subjects, 16 students [were divided into two groups, which walked the two trails in different orders and then given a questionnaire] The questions dealt with the variation, pleasantness and originality of the trail, and whether the trail was conducive to engaging in different recreational activities such as strolling alone, picnicking or jogging. The respondents also assessed the time spent on the trail in minutes and the length of the trail in metres."

Axelsson-Lindgren and Sorte (1987: 214-5) continue: "The varied trail was looked upon as the more pleasant... but whether this preference is valid for all sorts of visual variation between forest stands remains an open question, as too marked a visual variation between forest stands might even evoke negative responses. [...] The trail through many visual forest stands was considered conducive to the practice of a wider variety of open-air activities than the trail through few visual forest stands... while the trail through few visual forest stands was considered better suited to jogging... [...] The respondents made more errors in time and length assessments of the trail through few visual forest stands... The ability to orientate oneself in time and space thus seems to be dependent upon the degree of visual variation between forest stands. In many environments it is decidedly an advantage to be able to get one's bearings, while in other environments, such as in a setting with contemplative qualities, the opposite may be true."

Axelsson-Lindgren and Sorte (1987: 215) continue: "The FVOS of Järavallen embraces a total of 28 visual forest stands, each with its own distinctive character in relation to its surroundings. The largest visual forest stand is about 40 ha (100 acres) and the smallest is about 1 ha (2.5 acres)."

Later, Axelsson Lindgren (1995: 283) writes (of 'combinations of forest stands'): "Physical characteristics of importance to visual variation seem to be tree species and ages and to what extent they are mixed, as well as the density and structure of the stands (Axelsson Lindgren 1990, see also Haakenstad 1972, Aasetre 1992, Savolainen and Kellomaki 1981). The study by Koch and Jensen (1988) indicates that Danes prefer forest areas with both deciduous and coniferous stands, especially if the majority of the area is covered by deciduous trees. Few Norwegians prefer pure deciduous forests (Haakenstad 1972, see also Aasetre 1992). Just as in the Danish study, a great majority of visitors to Oslomarka do wish, however, to see birch, rowan and other deciduous trees as components of the forest landscape (Lind et al. 1974). In Finland, Mikola (1982) states that broadleaves provide lots of lightness in a coniferous forest landscape, and Prunus and Sorbus add more colour."

Axelsson Lindgren (1995: 283-4) continues: "So far, perception of forest interiors of single stands has been discussed the most. As Hultman (1983) suggests, variation between forest stands may well be

just as important to the recreation experience. According to Kellomaki (1973), mixed forests are liked the most, as the richness in colours and shapes relaxes and gives new inspiration. Variability of forest stands may give more aesthetic and recreational experiences, as the attraction depends on the sequence of stands (Pukkala et al. 1988), and on the manner in which they are arranged. Diversity of forest landscapes is appreciated, as for example changes between mixed forests and monocultures variation in age, height and density, and variation in the degree of cultivation of forests (Loven 1973, Kellomaki 1975, Mikola 1982). High diversity in forest stands may, however, be perceived as monotonous when spread over large forest areas (Kellomaki 1973, Koch and Jensen 1988). Less appreciated forest types, such as clearcuttings and young tree cultivations, may contribute in a positive way to the variation if they are present in small amounts (Kellomaki 1975). Small clearcuttings may, in a positive way, open the closed canopy and the views (Pukkala et al. 1988...). Diverse structure of age classes may thus be positive, as every age class may contribute with its kind of recreational value. Proportion and location of tree species are also important to perceived differences between forest stands."

Axelsson Lindgren (1995: 284) continues: "A study on what people perceive as similarities and differences between forest stands (Axelsson Lindgren 1990) resulted in five similarity groups: young deciduous stands; forest with mixed density and mixes of species and age; old, parklike deciduous forest; coniferous forest with high stems; young, very dense coniferous stands. [...] The study found extraordinary correspondence between expert and layman evaluations. [...] Field studies of strolls along forest trails show that an increased number of visual forest types along a trail increases the desire to practice different open-air activities (Axelsson Lindgren 1990...). Evaluations of the length of the trails and the time required to walk them were more accurate as the number of visual forest types increased."

Similar findings are reported in Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 248) who write: "A majority of residents in Oslo, capital city of Norway, responded that they preferred taking a walk in "a mixture of old and young forest" to taking a walk in "old forest" (Haakenstad 1972, pp. 51 and 75). Whether the respondents associated "a mixture of old and young forest" with a mixture of even-aged stands in different stages or with an uneven aged stand is not known."

The importance of diversity in the landscape is also suggested by the household survey by Lee (2001: 97-98), where twenty landscape photos were shown, and respondents were asked to rank their favoured views and then provide reasons for their choices. Lee writes: "They are less informative than might have been hoped. Looking first at why the favoured pictures are preferred..., the presence of water (including 'reflections') accounts for almost a third (31%). A further 31% of respondents include some general reference to the scenic quality and the remainder is a wide range of more specific reasons with a maximum of 9%, shared by 'colours' and 'scenic variety'. It can be argued that the public shares the landscape architects' valuation of high diversity, which appears in 'scenic variety', 'colours', and 'like the mix of trees', which together account for 23%. Turning to the least preferred landscapes... the dominant categories are some variation on the theme of bland, uninteresting, boring, flat and dull – a total of 52%. These are the converse of the 'generally scenic' and high 'diversity' assessments of the preferred landscapes."

Other observations by Lee relate to the significance of 'genius loci' or 'spirit of place'. Lee (2001: 154) adds, regarding distant landscapes: "Genius loci is the most obvious example of an attribute that is heavily laden with the aesthetic and accordingly producing some quite high correlations... especially with Best picture, the most obviously aesthetic measure provided by the public... [...] There is virtually zero correlation... between Genius loci and the public's assessment of landscape suitability for timber production. [...] colour diversity is highly correlated with the best picture..."

Other perspectives supporting a preference for diversity include that of Broadhurst and Harrop (2000:193), who add that people are attracted to a varied landscape and diversity of tree species and ages as well as the presence of water. Schraml and Volz (2009: 235) write: "The observed complexity appears to be a crucial element in forests that are positively evaluated. Diverse habitats with many amenities offer stable ecosystems, relative safety and better living conditions for man. Thus, a

preference for landscapes with a high level of complexity is adaptive in an evolutionary sense (Kaplan 1992)." See also the study in UK by Garrod (2002: 10).

A relationship between complexity and scenic beauty is shown by Hunziker and Kienast (1999: 174-5) who write: "The way the pattern indices estimate landscape complexity obviously yields a linear relationship between complexity of the formal content [i.e. of landscape elements: trees shrubs and open land] and scenic beauty. This is principally in accordance with the theoretical model of Kaplan et al. (1972, 1989), which also claims a linear relationship between landscape preference and complexity. In that respect we confirmed this part of their theory but with the application of a quantitative measure of complexity independent of the respondents." Hekhuis and Wieman's (1999: 342-3) study in the Netherlands reveals that variation is an important criterion for recreation value, but they were unable to evaluate at which scale (e.g. stand level or forest level) variation is most appreciated. They considered diversity in tree age, species, and in terms of open spaces. Jensen (undated: 31) asks whether landscape relief influences preferences for a diverse forest: "Is it perhaps the case that large unit forestry is only perceived as truly monotonous in a flat landscape? – and visitors have probably found that, even there, monotony can have its aesthetic/experiential value, as can be found in e.g. the Danish heath plantations."

The positive effect of increasing diversity of the forest through provision of glades suggested by Rydberg and Falck (2000: 13) who write: "The presence of forest glades with benches is, therefore, of great importance [especially for senior citizens]. [...] The glades are the places where stop and take a rest, enjoy the solitude of the forests, and feel comfortable in the peacefulness and silence of the soothing forest. [...] Glades are also meeting places for adults and playrooms for children. Creation of dynamic glades (ca 0.5ha) has been suggested as a method to enhance habitat diversity in relatively uniform areas and to increase the amenity value of forests (Gilbert 1989). Small areas of clear-felling, cleaned from slash, could temporarily act as glades in forests." Similarly, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 247-8) write: "Semi-open forests give a better view and sense of safety than dense forests, and openings in a forest provide perceptible space and visual access to more distant areas (Kaplan et al., 1988). Several surveys showed that natural openings in a forest (e.g. non-productive forest land, bogs, and lakes) were considered more positive among respondents than openings resulting from clearcuts (Lind et al., 1974; Haakenstad, 1975; Aasetre, 1994; Hallikainen, 1998), although it should be noted that only verbal stimuli were used here. Both verbal and visual stimuli resulted in positive judgements of openings originating from traditional agriculture, pastureland or abandoned farmland – particularly those with a historical component in them (Lind et al, 1974; Hallikainen, 1998; Komulainen, 1998; Kaltenborn and Bjerke, 2002)."

It is worth noting that size of stand can act as a proxy for diversity between stands. Axelsson Lindgren (1995: 288) writes: "The length of border zones in the landscape has been used as a way to measure the degree of variation in landscapes (Skärbäck 1980)." See also Garrod (2002: 10) which suggests that small stands are preferred to large stands in their UK study.

In conclusion, diversity between stands is generally regarded as a positive attribute, especially if the internal boundaries appear organic when seen from a distance. It has been suggested that high levels of diversity can look too 'busy' in a 'large scale' landscape, where diversity between forest blocks (groups of stands) may be preferable, a view which supports the 'bell-shaped relationship suggested by many Delphi survey participants. Also, in some contexts people may expect uniformity, e.g. where mature pine forests are regarded as part of the local natural heritage. Small stand size effectively increases the diversity within a forest area, which can be seen as having a positive effect. It also helps greatly to ameliorate the negative impact of clearfelling. At its extreme (e.g. group selection) the forest takes on an increasingly natural appearance which may be preferred. Small regenerating stands can then resemble natural glades.

12. 'NATURALNESS' OF FOREST EDGES

Overall, this attribute was ranked 5 out of 12 across the four regions in terms of its overall contribution to the recreational value of forests, with moderate deviation between regions (see Table 33). Most importance was attached to this attribute by the Central Europe panel, and least in the Nordic Region panel.

| Region | Ranked mean contribution to recreational value |
|-----------------|--|
| Great Britain | 6 |
| Nordic Region | 3 |
| Central Europe | 9 |
| Iberia | 4 |
| Overall ranking | 5 |

Table 33. Ranked mean contribution of 'naturalness of forest edges', by region

The relationship of this attribute to recreational value was seen as positive by almost all respondents (see Table 34). Thus, in general, as the proportion of 'natural' looking (i.e. not straight) edges increases from low to high, the recreational value increases.

| Decion | | Relationship to recreational value | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|----------|------------------------------------|--------------------|----------|------|-------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Region | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | Modal class | | | | | | |
| Great Britain (n=10) | 10 | | | | | Positive | | | | | | |
| Nordic Region (n=12) | 12 | | | | | Positive | | | | | | |
| Central Europe (n=14) | 11 | | 3 | | | Positive | | | | | | |
| Iberia (n=10) | 9 | | | | | Positive | | | | | | |

Table 34. Relationship to recreational value of 'naturalness of forest edges', by region

Regarding stand edges and shapes, Tahvanainen et al. (2001: 54) highlight the importance of considering the structure and design of a forest edge for landscape aesthetics and the overall visual experience. They advocate a well-designed edge that "consists of a mixture of bush and tree species which have great ecological and aesthetic importance." Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250) cite Karjalainen and Komulainen (1999): "Irregular and horizontal orientations of clear-cuts on a hillside are preferred to regular and vertical orientations." Axelsson Lindgren (1995: 288) writes: "The shapes of border zones are especially important for the experience of forests in open landscapes." Entec and EERG (1997: 6) report that their contingent valuation survey of 638 respondents in UK produced the following results for willingness to pay for different shaped forests: straight shape, £10.46; contoured shape, £17.39. See also Fuller et al. (1995).

Rydberg and Falck (2000: 12) explored attitudes to forest edges, glades and a fear of dense vegetation in Sweden. They wrote that: "The urban green areas are characterised by fragmentation, which has resulted in many small forests in close connection to houses and a high proportion of forest edges. Since it is of great importance for human aesthetic and visual perception, the forest edge should be a delightful sight, acting as a welcoming entrance into the forest and forming the 'walls' of the forest room (Gustavsson and Fransson 1991, Sarlöv Herlin 1994). Well designed forest edges are structurally complex and consist of a mixture of bush and tree species. Structurally complex forest edges have essential biological values as habitats for many plants and animal species, and together with high structural diversity of the accompanying forests, the urban biological diversity could be supported."

Screening and leave strips

Of relevance to stand edges, the potential to conceal unattractive stands or clear-cuts through the use of leave strips is discussed by Ribe (1989: 65-6) who writes: "Leave-strips have value as scenic mitigation. Leave-strips left in large clear-cuts can serve to increase their scenic acceptability compared to open cuts (Schweitzer and others 1976). A stand containing re-vegetated strip clear-cuts between thinned leave-strips was found to be of average SBE value compared to the low value

expected for a clear-cut (Daniel and Boster 1976)." Similarly, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 250), citing Karjalainen and Komulainen (1999) write: "leaving an edge along the shoreline improves the visual quality of the felling area."

Bell (2001: 202) provides a critique of the 'screening and hiding' approach, a precursor to forest landscape design, which he describes as 'scenery' or 'visual' resource management. He describes how screening or hiding of forestry activities was pioneered by the US Forest Service and was linked to attempts to preserve the appearance the landscape. However, this fell out of favour by the 1990s and there were gradual moves towards the 'positive design' approach where forest activities were designed to limit negative impacts on the scenery rather than hiding them from view. Indeed, writing about aesthetic considerations in British forestry Lucus warns that, "decisions to ignore visual impact in less prominent areas are invariably regretted either because new roads open up new views or because the visual impacts is wrongly assessed in the first place" (Lucas 1997: 348).

PREFERENCES FOR NATURALNESS

This final sub-section offers a 'holistic' view of how the silvicultural attributes combine in reality to produce forested landscapes of different kinds with different levels of public preference. The extent to which the forest appears to be 'natural' is one of the most important single factors that influences perceptions. However, it is difficult to define and quantify. According to de Groot and Ramakrishnan (2005: 467-8) there is an overall preference for park-like landscapes (e.g. Kellert 1993), and individual differences can "nearly always be interpreted in terms of differences in the preferred degree of 'wildness' in natural landscapes" (e.g. Kaplan and Kaplan 1989). The degree of 'naturalness' can be seen to depend upon many, if not all, of the 12 attributes discussed above. 'Naturalness' is one of the focuses of EFORWOOD D2.3.6 (Edwards et al. 2010) which analyses preferences for five different forest management alternatives using data derived from the second part of the Delphi survey.

Recreational scores

As described in D2.3.6, Delphi survey respondents were asked to provide a score, on a ten point scale, for each of 60 'forest stand types' that may be present in their respective region. Each score was chosen to indicate how they believe potential visitors would value a forest stand of that type as a location for recreational use. The 60 forest stand types represented each of the different possible combinations of five forest management alternatives (FMAs), four phases of development (establishment, young, medium, adult), and three tree species types (conifer, broadleaved, mixed conifer and broadleaved). The five FMAs were selected because they fall on a continuum from non-intervention to intensive production forest management, as follows: 1) forest nature reserve, 2) close-to-nature forestry, 3) combined objective forestry, 4) intensive even-aged forestry, and 5) wood biomass production. This continuum also reflects degree of naturalness.

The main purpose of this exercise was to generate data that could then be combined with the forest resource projection model, EFISCEN, to assess impacts of changes in forest management on the recreational value of forests at pan-European level. However, through the use of conjoint analysis, the scores were valuable in their own right, by allowing us to measure the relative importance of each of the three variables (i.e. FMA, phase of development, and tree species type). Across Europe, tree species type was shown to be relatively unimportant compared to phase of development and to a lesser extent FMA (Edwards et al. 2010).

Of more importance to the present study, however, the conjoint analysis also provided a measure of the relative importance for each of the five FMAs. The mean utility or 'importance value' for each component is given in Table 35. A positive value indicates a positive contribution to the recreational value of a given forest stand. For Great Britain, the highest contributions are provided by FMA1 (forest nature reserves) and FMA2 (close-to-nature forestry). For Nordic Region the highest contribution is provided by FMA3 (combined objective forestry) and to a lesser extent FMA2, while FMA1 makes a negative contribution. For Central Europe, the highest contribution is provided by

FMA1, while in Iberia it is provided by FMA2. The data suggests there are significant differences between regions, although on balance it is clear that it would be incorrect to assume that the public simply prefer forests with the lowest level of intervention, and hence the highest degree of 'naturalness'. In the other three regions, close-to-nature forestry or combined objective forestry are preferred more, or equally, to forest nature reserves.

| Region | Forest nature reserves (FMA1) | Close-to- nature forestry (FMA2) | Combined objective forestry (FMA3) | Intensive even-aged forestry (FMA4) | Wood biomass production (FMA5) |
|----------------|-------------------------------------|---|---|--|---|
| Great Britain | 1.14 | 1.13 | 0.69 | -1.31 | -1.65 |
| Nordic Region | -0.14 | 0.67 | 0.86 | -0.10 | -1.30 |
| Central Europe | 1.37 | 1.25 | 0.53 | -1.27 | -1.86 |
| Iberia | 0.80 | 1.20 | 0.77 | -0.93 | -1.84 |

Table 35. Mean importance weightings of five forest management alternatives, by region

'Managed naturalness'

The insight that the visiting public tend to prefer a degree of intervention to 'tidy up' the forest, partly for aesthetic reasons but also perhaps to make them appear safer and more accessible, is strongly supported by the literature. The resulting effect might be termed 'managed naturalness'. It is possible that many people may state a preference for naturalness, but may not realise that their preferred natural looking forests are in fact quite intensively managed. In so far as 'natural forest' exists in Europe, it might often be judged as relatively unattractive both aesthetically and as a site for recreation.

On naturalness, Ribe (1989: 59) writes: "A basic forest condition preference often researched is whether people find managed forests more attractive than unmanaged ones. For example, Yarrow (1966) found a preference for 'natural' forests among his British respondents in a mail survey. Such preferences varied among French social groups... (Brun-Chaize 1976)" [cf. Savolainen and Kellomaki 1981 for Finland] Drawing from these studies and also Boster and Daniel (1972), Daniel and Boster (1976), Benson and Ullrich (1981), Schweitzer and others (1976), Williamson and Chalmers (1982), Vodak and others (1985)." Ribe (1989: 60) concludes: "All these findings together suggest that there is no clear and simple aesthetic dichotomy between managed and unmanaged forests, except when management creates heavy disturbances."

Regarding the case of tree plantations, Ribe (1989: 62-63) concludes that the level of domestication largely determines preferences: "Tree plantations represent a stand condition of problematic aesthetic value compared to less regimented more natural appearing stands, but this problem has received relatively little research attention. [...] In Britain, Yarrow (1966) found that plantations not planted in straight rows were preferred, that mixed species plantations were preferred to monocultures, and then that mixing by groups was preferred to those mixed by row. [...] In general, all these findings suggest that plantations are generally aesthetically acceptable to public observers, but more so if less obviously domesticated."

The ways in which several of the attributes discussed in this report combine to provide a 'diverse', 'organic' and 'natural' forest is highlighted by Garrod (2002: 10-11), who used 33 photographs of forest landscapes across the UK and more than 400 respondents in a series of choice experiments. He found the following preferences for different attributes of forests: "Respondents were asked about their preferences for the types of forest that they would like to see in a view. [...] Preferences across the seven choices... suggest that a 'typical' respondent prefers small woodlands comprising of stands of randomly spaced broad-leaves of varying heights, interspersed with areas of open space. [...] Of all the preferences investigated, the strongest were for plantings that mixed trees and open space and where spacing of trees was random rather than regular. If these preferences were translated to the factors that determined the forest configurations used in the choice experiment, it might be expected that respondents would prefer shape to be 'more organic' rather than 'basic'; scale to be 'small' rather

than 'large'; structural variety to be 'high' rather than 'low'; and species variety to be 'high' rather than 'low'."

Tryväinen et al. (2005: 92) write: "An increasingly important question is whether people find managed forests more attractive than unmanaged ones. Previous forest preference studies conducted mainly during the 1980s suggest that residents prefer managed forests if traces of human activity are not visible. Although both types of results exist, many studies suggest that areas that are thought to be in natural condition are perceived to be more beautiful than if traces of human activity are visible (e.g. Axelsson-Lindgren 1995). Furthermore, logging residues, dead snags and decayed wood left in the forests are not appreciated."

Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 249) write: "In North Finland, Saastamoinen (1982) observed a positive preference for natural forest stands, although this category of forest also got the largest standard deviation. He explained this preference with the idea of a natural stand being a part of a larger wilderness area (*Urho Kekkonen* National Park), in which people neither expect to find permanent constructions like forest roads nor temporary traces from harvesting."

Lee (2001: 75) reports that his household survey respondents in UK were asked: "how do you think forests should appear in the landscape?" They were invited to assess nine attributes, using a five point scale. In addition, they were asked "How do you think that trees in the forests should be managed?" The data were combined for the purposes of analysis. There were high percentages of agreement or strong agreement with (in ranked order of agreement): 1) look natural, 2) be colourful or beautiful, 3) look inviting, 4) blend into landscape, 5) have a lot of variety, 6) be casual, irregularly-shaped, 7) be allowed to grow wild.

Other perspectives include that of Rametsteiner and Kraxner (2003:12) who highlight that the majority of respondents in a pan-European study felt "that a slightly tended forest may fulfil its functions better than a strongly tended forest or one that is left on its own". The public here defined 'slightly tended' as tidy, litter free with mixed tree species in a natural state. Bernasconi and Schroff (2003) in a study on seven forests in the Bern region, Switzerland reported that when asked whether they preferred wild, unmanaged or clean managed/cultivated forests, 75% of respondents chose the former. In Italy, Scrinzi and Floris (2000: 179-180) identified public preference for what they call 'pseudo-natural' forests. It did not matter whether forests were made up of conifers or broadleaves but a certain range of features were seen as desirable including forest stands that were "relatively open, not intricate, with good visibility on the ground, low density of stand, and even vertical stems of intermediate or large size".

Hekhuis and Wieman (1999: 343) argue that, at the stand level, close-to-nature forestry at a small scale is preferred over large-scale clear-cutting forest management (Hekhuis and Wieman 1999: 343). Key silvicultural attributes of small-scale, close-to-nature forestry include small regeneration units, mixed species and age classes, natural regeneration, long rotation periods and elements of nature protection like deadwood (ibid: 338). Roth and Krämer (2000) also identify a preference for close-to-nature forests. Schraml and Volz (2009: 244) write: "It is widely believed that in recent years the recreational and ecological discourse has met and found common goals. Furthermore, close-to-nature forestry is considered optimal for forest recreation. Silvicultural experts postulate that 'a forest that is managed close to nature widely fulfils the recreational demands of the people' (Liebundgut 1993)."

In conclusion, the consensus appears to be that naturalness is preferred to intensively managed forest, but that a degree of intervention is preferred to 'tidy up' the forest landscape, even if many recreational users may not be fully aware that the forests they prefer are not entirely natural. This issue of the level of knowledge of forest mangement practices and how it shapes perceptions and preferences is the focus of the next section.

4. VARIATIONS IN PUBLIC PREFERENCES

The results of the Delphi survey and literature review have been presented in a way that highlights similarities across social groups in order to provide a synthesis of preferences for each attribute at the European level. This section focuses on the differences in preference and asks to what extent can we make generalisations for each attribute given that the conclusions drawn from published studies are typically site-specific (cf. Ribe, 1989: 70). This section considers the level of variation likely to be obtained in public preferences for each attribute across four types of variation: a) different geographical regions, b) social groups, c) recreational activities, and d) other contextual factors. These are discussed in turn below.

GEOGRAPHICAL VARIATIONS

Geographical differences and similarities are highlighted by the Delphi survey results for each of the four regions covered by the study. Comparison of the literature for case studies in different parts of Europe may also suggest geographical differences, although few studies explicitly compare preferences across different parts of Europe. Jensen and Koch (1998: 43) note that: "preferences of visitors can vary considerably, even over shorter distances, from one cultural area to another and even between different segments of the population".

Possible explanations for variation in preferences across geographical regions are discussed by Schraml and Volz (2009). First, they suggest that (ibid: 246-7): "People in regions where broadleaves are already numerous tend to show a preference for broadleaf trees. This correlation, which has been described on the basis of individual examples from various regions in Europe (Vanderlinden and Lust 1988, Ott 1980, Degener 1963), was most recently examined systematically in Germany (Schraml and Volz 2004). A comparison of the preferences of people from states with a high percentage of broadleaves with those from regions with fewer broadleaves reveals obvious differences. People from broadleaf-rich regions show a higher preference for broadleaves than those from broadleaf-poor areas." Likewise, Schraml and Volz (2009: 245) assert, citing Rozsnyay (1979): "In Ireland, people who live in traditional forestry areas show a more positive disposition toward coniferous forests than those in areas with lower forest cover and a high level of afforestation activity."

Secondly, Schraml and Volz (2009: 235) suggest: "The preferences of those who were able to gain particular experiences in the surroundings in which they grew up are thought to be modified according to local landscape conditions. Some authors who use evolutionary theories postulate a learning process in individuals who recognise their parents' habitat as optimal for raising their own offspring (Balling and Falk 1982). Thirdly, and related to where people grew up, Schraml and Volz (2009: 236) note that: "On the subject of appreciation of tree species distribution, it was postulated as early as the early 1970s that the indifference of the population toward the mixture of tree species increases the less the species composition deviates from the composition of the forests which people visit for recreation (Heeg 1971)." Finally, Schraml and Volz (2009: 236) refer to the phenomenon of 'adaptive preference', a term: suggested by Elster (1983) as a means to supplement Rational-Choice approaches in economic theory: "He metaphorically explained this adaptation process with the legendary reaction of the fox who rejected the grapes as sour once he realised they were unavailable. Thus the term 'adaptive preference' describes the phenomenon of individuals adapting their preferences to their circumstances, especially in view of perceived constraints. People prefer certain goods because alternatives are not available and dislike others that are not available."

SOCIAL GROUPS

General observations

Individuals within different social categories such as age, gender, ethnicity, socio-economic group, level of education, residential location, and profession, may have different perceptions of recreational value of the same forest stand. In a broad sense, there are similarities in preferences across social groups. According to de Groot and Ramakrishnan, research by Kaplan and Kaplan (1989) shows "the overwhelming similarity in aesthetic preferences between people from different subgroups and with different backgrounds" although the majority of the studies they draw upon were from industrialised countries (de Groot and Ramakrishnan 2005: 467-8).

This view contrasts with Lee (2001: 2) who writes: "If public perception prevails, it will be partly due to an increasing awareness that the absolute basis for aesthetics is at best skeletal and that most of the flesh is added by personal associations and experience, filtered through cultural norms. If landscape appreciation is in the eye of the beholder (and there is sufficient evidence for this from cross-cultural studies and even from the very recently emerging studies in Britain) there are very strong reasons for taking public preferences into account in the planning process." Later, Lee (2001: 120) writes: "... it is often argued that there is not one 'public' but many. This is, of course, a reduction ad absurdum, but we should at least attempt to assess the differences between some of the main parts that comprise the whole. A beginning has been made by comparing identifiable groups that are likely to have different preferences for leisure activity and aesthetic enjoyment, that is the old and young, the male and female, and the educated and less well educated."

Soliva and Hunziker (2008, in press: 1) explored 'ideal landscapes' and noted how aesthetics is just one of the factors that influence individuals' assessments of landscape: "In fact an ideal landscape is not only an optimum combination of aesthetically relevant (visual) landscape elements, but it also has to give an optimum satisfaction of other interests. Thus, when people assess a landscape, they are influenced not only by their aesthetic perceptions, but also by their values, assumptions, knowledgebases, personal interests and life situations." Soliva and Hunziker (2008, in press: 6) conclude that: "It is an important result of this study that the socio-economic and cultural aspects of landscape changes under the different scenarios take priority over visual aspects."

Numerous other authors have highlighted differences between social groups on the basis of case study research (e.g. Bradley and Kierney, 2007; Gundersen and Frivold, 2005: 12; Jensen, 1993; Lee, 2001: 71; Nielsen *et al.*, 2007: 64; Rametsteiner and Kraxner, 2003). The extent to which many of these conclusions about specific social groups can be generalised at national level is likely to be limited. Hunziker et al (2008: 140) write: "Specific results on differences between social groups regarding landscape preferences have been published by Yu (1995), Van den Berg et al. (1998), Stamps (1999), Kaltenborn and Bjerke (2002), and Van den Berg and Koole (2006). Of particular interest are the articles by Stamps (1999), who conducted a meta-analysis of socio-demographic differences in landscape preferences..."

Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 271) write, of their own findings: "The age, gender, education, dwelling area and profession of the respondent, and ownership of forest sometimes correlated with preferences significantly. [...] Earlier studies also indicate that a respondent's background may be a significant factor on their attitudes (Brush 1976, Knopf 1987, Brunson and Reiter 1996, Lindhagen 1996, Hallikainen 1998, Van den Berg et al. 1998, Tahvanainen et al. 2000). Blasco et al. (2008: 2) write: "When the background of the judges (gender, country or occupation) was included into the model as additional predictors, no significant improvements were achieved." However, later they acknowledge "...the use of a quite homogeneous population of judges" (ibid; 12).

Regarding preferences for 'naturalness' Tyrvainen et al. (2005: 92, citing Tyrvainen et al. 2003) note that: "In a study in Helsinki, Finland... younger, higher educated residents and active urban forest users preferred more ecologically-oriented management compared to older, less-educated residents and less active users." Similarly, Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 271) write, of their own findings: "In the

present study, women, young urban people and those who do not own forest or have work related to forestry tended to experience thinnings less positively and saw regenerative cuttings as more harmful than the others did. These results are reasonably well in line with earlier findings (Karhu and Kellomaki 1980, Kangas and Niemela 1995, Karjalainen 1996, Mantymaa 1998). However, significant differences were less common and less systematic when the analysis was based on photographs [as opposed to replies received from the direct questions on the attitudes towards different cutting methods]."

Age

Few studies have been carried out on preferences of children. Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 247) write of their review: "Almost all respondents were adult; only one survey (Rydberg, 1998a) included children and young adolescents. [...] All in all, children, young adolescents, immigrants, and elderly or handicapped people were under-represented in the material." Elsewhere, Gundersen and Frivold (2005: 13) write: "In a preference study about density in young stands, Rydberg (1998a) found a significant difference between forestry students on the one hand and other young people plus a group of nine-year old children on the other hand. Forestry students preferred the less dense stands."

Tyrvainen et al. (2005: 90) write: "In preference research aesthetic values are thought to be linked to the evaluation context as well as respondents' characteristics such as education, recreational activity, nature relationship, age and gender. Preference studies mainly from North America have shown that attitudes towards the wooded environments differ between children, teens and adults (Kaplan and Kaplan 1989). Youths appreciate the wild, dense, and hidden forest more than cultivated and open forest. [...] For children, structurally diverse natural places have been stressed as being more inspiring and imaginative, even compared to a well-organized playground (Kaplan and Kaplan 1989...)."

Gender

Regarding gender, Gundersen and Frivold (2005: 13) write: "Kardell (2001) found a striking difference between the attitudes of male and female forestry students, female students being less positive to clear-felled areas than male students. However, the number of respondents was small and the differences were not tested statistically." Also, in a study carried out in coastal southwest Finland, Tahvanainen *et al.* (2001: 63-64?) used visual and verbal stimuli to elicit preference responses and discovered through verbal questioning that there were differences of opinion concerning ground cover based on gender and age. Women felt that removal of undergrowth had a negative effect on scenic beauty while men thought it was quite positive (although men also believed undergrowth removal increased recreational value). Moreover, older persons (over the age of 59 years) were more positive about the scenic beauty impacts of undergrowth removal than were middle-aged (35-59 years) respondents.

Profession

One possible generalisation that may hold across Europe concerns differences in attitudes of people with different levels of knowledge about forestry practice. Foresters tend to be more accepting of intrusive silvicultural interventions such as clear-felling and thinning operations in the short term before the site has regenerated or recovered (e.g. Bliss 2000: 7).

Ribe (1989: 71) writes: "...different types of people, and people with different experiential expectations, can perceive forests in differing ways. In some cases, these findings seem easy to explain. For example, professional bias occurs in instances where one would expect certain attributes to be liked. Cattlemen like open grassy forests, foresters favour tall straight trees, wildlife experts favour habitat shrubbery, and landscape architects apply higher aesthetic standards to scenery."

Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 252) write: "Several preference studies included statistical analyses of differences in preferences between *respondents with some sort of a background in forestry* and other respondents. Of these, only two studies (Hultman, 1983; Pukkala et al., 1988) found no significant difference. Not surprisingly, trained foresters showed a greater appreciation for scenes that have been formed in ways they had been accustomed to in their education than other people, like seed-tree

regeneration, whole-tree harvesting and young forests (Hultman, 1981), clear felling (Kardell, 1978; Hultman, 1981; Karjalainen, 1996), felling with seed trees (Lindhagen, 1996) and clear felling with retention trees (Tonnes et al., 2004), and a less positive attitude to photos of a virgin forest (Hultman, 1981) and a young stand with spruce damaged by frost (Lindhagen, 1996). [...] Hultman (1983) reported a highly significant correlation between the attitudes of the 79 respondents who had experience with forest-related work and the 540 without such experience in his representative sample of Swedish residents (r=0.95, p=0.001)."

In a study of preferences for four landscape scenarios with different amounts of forest in Switzerland, Hunziker et al. (2008: 145) write "... one traditionally relevant driver of landscape preferences was confirmed, i.e. the type of profession. This confirms reports by Dearden (1984), Strumse (1996) and Van den Berg et al (1998), as well as findings from mountain areas outside Europe, e.g. in New Zealand (Foran and Wardle 1995). These authors found that landscape experts and decision-makers assess landscape developments consistently differently than lay people. In our case, the experts rated return to the traditional cultural landscape much higher, and both reforestation and intensification much lower than the general Swiss public."

In his questionnaire survey of preferences in UK, Lee (2001: 67) writes: "The majority believe timber production to be the least important use of forests. This is a stark measure of the difference between the attitudes of the public and those of forestry managers. Nature conservation is considered by the public to be by far the most important use, followed by scenic attraction and, thirdly, recreation" (See also Lee 2001: 68, Table 52. Later, Lee 2001: 147-9 elaborates on the divergence between individual landscape architects in assessing landscapes using their own criteria.)

Clear-cuts

The views of professional land managers differ from those of the wider public on the acceptability of clear-cuts and other intrusive interventions. Several studies have concluded that clear-cuts are more acceptable to foresters than non-foresters. Gundersen and Frivold (2005: 13) write: "In Finland, Pukkala et al. (1988) did not find any significant differences between foresters, biology students and urban citizens in their rating of slides of various types of forest stands. Karjalainen (1996), in a study of scenic preferences solely using photos of different clear-felled areas, found that forestry personnel had a much more positive attitude to clear felling than both ordinary citizens and environmentalists. Ninety-eight percent of the forestry personnel participating in her survey thought that clear-felling was a suitable felling method, while only 12% of the environmentalists and 5% of the lay residents felt the same. However, all three respondent groups rank-ordered the photographs of clear-felled areas in a similar way. Tönnes et al. (2004) came to a similar result when showing their respondents slides of different clear-felled areas with retention trees. Respondents with a forestry education found most of the images to be significantly more attractive than people who had no education in forestry."

Gundersen and Frivold (2005: 13) continue: "In a pilot study, Kardell (1978) compared scenic preferences of forestry students with students of other professions. Respondents were asked to evaluate ten photos with an Osgood scale. The student groups had rather similar opinions, except about a photo of a clear-felled area that was praised by forestry students and rejected by the other students. Lindhagen (1996) notes that forestry students ranked a clear-felled area with a lot of seed trees significantly lower than other groups in his survey."

Regarding other intrusive interventions, Silvennoinen et al. (2002: 270-1) note that urban informants are more critical of thinning. Differences in profession and level of education affected opinions. See also Ribe (2002).

Regarding attitudes to clear-cuts and level of knowledge or education, Becker (1983: 173) carried out a study of perceptions of clear cuts in USA study. Analysis of summer visitors indicated that there was a positive, significant association between visitor education levels and a knowledge of clear-cuts [in relation to recognising a clear-cut]. The closer the visitors lived to the State forest, the more likely they were to recognise the clear-cuts. The final significant association was between opinions about clearcutting and recognition of a clear-cut. Specifically, those visitors who recognised the cuts were less antagonistic towards clear-cutting as a management tool, than visitors who did not recognise the cut areas they had encountered. Finally, there was no significant association between recognition of the clear-cut areas and the enjoyment reported by the visitors, from their forest recreation. Only 8% of visitors who recognised the cuts and 7% of visitors who did not recognise the cuts did not enjoy their visit.

Bliss (2000) argues that public opposition to clear-cutting is based on social issues relating to perceptions, values and trust (Bliss 2000: 4). He divides people into two parties: the 'disinterested' public made up of casual forest visitors who object to clear-cutting on visual grounds, and the 'interested public' made up of citizens who evaluate the relationship between forest practices and other values they consider important (Bliss 2000: 6). Amongst interested citizens, clear-cuts are associated with a range of negative practices such as deforestation, plantation forestry (seen as the industrialisation of the natural landscape), environmental degradation and exploitation (ibid). While Bliss recognises that some of these associations are unfounded, he suggests that the public dislike clear-cutting because the practice symbolises a model of industrial-style forestry from the past, "before foresters understood that trees were more than wood, and forests were more than trees" (Bliss 2000: 7). They associate clearcutting with deforestation. Bliss refers to his own work in the mid-south and Oregon and also to Shindler et al. (1993).

Tree species type

Social class differences were clear among preferences for different tree species types according to Lee (2001: 70) who reports: when people in the household survey said that they would like to see more forests, they were asked what kind of trees should be planted. 37% said any kind of trees; 33% said a mixture of the two (broadleaved/conifers); 21% preferred broadleaved, and 5% said conifers; 4% said they don't know. Lee (2001: 71-72) continues: "Social class differences are considerable, with AB (professional and managerial) strongly favouring the broadleaved form with a progressive reduction in this preference through to DE (manual). A preference for broadleaved forests is closely reflected in the membership of environmental groups (Table 60). It is well known that environmentalism is related to social class and is strongest in the AB grouping, so it is therefore difficult to identify which is the main cause. [...] [Also] AB are the most frequent users in percentage terms, though not in absolute terms. [...] there is a very strong preference for broadleaved species among existing frequent visitors."

Schraml and Volz (2009: 246) considered influence of social class on public preference for 'broadleaves', 'conifers', 'mixed' or 'no opinion': "A remarkable number of people have no opinion on this issue, i.e. the subject is of no interest to them. In most of the German studies of the 1960s and 1970s in which the category 'no opinion' was offered, between 20% and 50% of the interviewees chose this answer. Today the number of undecided people appears to be smaller. In this regard the results are similar all over Europe. [...] Attempts to characterise the group of people that show a clear preference for broadleaf trees demonstrate repeatedly that age, education and origin (rural versus urban areas) are factors of high relevance with regard to existing preferences (Lee 2001, Braun 2000, Wöbse 1972). Overall it can be said that members of the well-educated classes with a higher social status tend to prefer broadleaf trees. This appears to hold true for urban areas as well. There are also indications that people who frequently visit the forest tend to prefer broadleaf trees. Finally, as can be expected, members of environmental organisations also show a marked preference for broadleaves."

Schraml and Volz (2009: 245) comment on the low level of knowledge of tree species in Ireland: "Feelings of resentment toward conifers are correlated with a lower level of knowledge regarding the differences between broadleaved and coniferous trees in the less forested areas. In those areas, between one fifth and one quarter of the respondents were unable to classify certain tree species (oak, spruce, ash, pine and beech) as either broadleaves or conifers when the species names were mentioned in the interview or when the subjects were shown pictures of the trees (O'Leary et al., 2000). In regions with a long-standing forestry tradition, the results of methodologically similar surveys differ greatly. Here a clear majority of the interviewees will recognise at least the main tree species of their region. [...] (Rozsnyay 1979)." Schraml and Volz (2009: 247) add: "In Germany 33% of the

population has never heard about the efforts to increase the percentage of broadleaf trees in the forest (Schraml and Volz 2004). [...] The 'forestry revolution' toward a close-to-nature forestry occurs largely unnoticed by the public (Schriewer 1998)."

In conclusion, Schraml and Volz (2009: 250) write: "The issue of tree species, while crucial to the experts, is only of very limited interest to the general public. In many other cases it is questionable whether the interviewees actually have a clear concept of the forest types on which they are asked to comment."

Regarding forest owners and species type, Schraml and Volz (2009: 247) note: "A comparison of the results of the MultifoRD study from several European countries reveals that forest owners clearly demonstrate a higher sensitivity to the significance of forest types with regard to forest quality than is shown by other groups. Similar results can be found in several national studies. Forest owners in Germany, for example, more frequently profess a preference for coniferous forests than do other people (Schraml and Volz 2004)."

RECREATIONAL ACTIVITIES

The classic approaches to landscape preference research outlined in Section 2 above are based on individual perceptions of near-view 'scenic beauty', 'aesthetic value, or 'visual quality' of the forest stand depicted in photographs or computer images. To what extent can it be claimed that visual quality scores obtained through this method reflect preferences to visit that site for recreational use? Is it necessary to disaggregate between different types of recreational user such as walkers (for whom aesthetic and recreational values may be very similar) and hunters (for whom aesthetic and recreational preferences may differ)? Few published preference studies appear to have differentiated between aesthetic and recreational values to show how preferences differ according to how the forest is used.

It is argued in this study that the majority of people would prefer to visit forests with higher aesthetic value, and hence visit those sites more frequently, regardless of the particular recreational activity being pursued. Evidence to support the view that scenery is the main motivation behind visits to forests is provided by Lee (2001). Lee (2001: 35) writes regarding his household survey involving 200 interviews in four distinctive areas of UK: "the total sample is sufficiently similar to the UK distribution of age and sex to allow cautious generalisation." Later, Lee (2001: 58) states how he explored: "the users' perceptions of the relative importance of the different attributes forests have to offer, and the particular attributes that motivate them to visit forests." He asked "What is the importance to you of the following statements concerning what forests may offer people?" Eleven attributes were pre-selected, and 'beautiful scenery' scored the highest mean score for importance, with 34% saying this was important, and 55% saying that this was very important. However, elsewhere Lee (2001: 120) asserts that his study "marks a departure from previous studies in its attempt to address the fact that no landscape can be 'all things to all men'; preferences should be assessed against some well defined purpose."

Brown and Daniel suggest that interactions between visitors and the forest environment can be located on a continuum between an emphasis on the recreational activity itself (such as white water kayaking) and emphasis on the aesthetic experience (such as hiking, and driving for pleasure), with activities such as hunting and fishing located somewhere between the two. Furthermore the emphasis may shift from moment to moment for any one individual (Brown and Daniel 1984: 2). An individual's aesthetic preferences may also change over time due to a sense of familiarity and attachment to a site or a type of site that is used habitually for a particular recreational activity. This could be the case for some users of popular mountain biking sites in Scotland within areas of intensive even aged forest generally regarded to be of relatively low aesthetic value. In the face of this variation, Brown and Daniel conclude that: "the scenic beauty of the forest environment probably always makes some contribution to visitor satisfaction, and in many cases is the predominant component" (ibid). In doing so they support their methodology as a means to help mangers reach trade-offs between the competing needs of timber production and recreational use of forest land.

In several regions, the most important forest based recreational activities in terms of visit numbers are probably walking, dog-walking, cycling and jogging. This is the case for urban and peri-urban forests near Vienna (Arnberger, 2006) and for the whole of Scotland (Edwards et al., 2009). These four activities can be considered mutually exclusive in that a trip involving one of them is unlikely to involve any of the others. Together they account for 98% of all visits to Scottish forests (ibid). It may be hypothesised that they represent the end of Brown and Daniel's continuum where aesthetic values are most important. Hence, for Scotland, scores which measure visual quality may be a close proxy for recreational value. In other countries the list is more diverse, for example a Swedish study indicated high levels of participation in walking, berry picking, cycling, hunting, fishing, bathing and skiing (Hörnsten, 2000: 8). Following Brown and Daniel, it may be necessary to assume that scores for visual quality of a stand act as a proxy for preferences for all major types of recreational use. To reduce confusion, the Delphi survey questionnaire asked participants to provide 'recreational scores' rather than 'aesthetic' or 'scenic beauty' scores.

Of the few studies that distinguished recreational from aesthetic value, Axelsson Lindgren (1995: 281-2) writes: "In a Finnish study (Pukkala et al. 1988), a pure, old and rather sparsely stocked birch stand got the highest preference for beauty, while pure and old pine stands were the most preferred for recreation (see also Loven 1973, Kellomaki 1973, Savolainen & Kellomaki 1981)." Similarly, Lindhagen (1996: 381) studied two sites in Sweden (Hammarskog, 11 km south-southwest of Uppsala, and Fjällnora, 16km east of the town). The respondents generally liked old coniferous stands better than clear-cut areas and young dense coniferous stands. Two of the mature stands at Fjällnora were, however, considered as less suitable for outdoor recreation than some of the younger stands and clear-cut areas.

Other perspectives include that of Rametsteiner and Kraxner (2003:41) who state that most people included in the study highlighted recreation as the main reason for visiting a forest. Rollins and Robinson (2002, cited in Harshaw et al. 2007: 233) assert that a consequence of the diversity of outdoor recreation activities that are available, and of the differing motivations that people hold for participating in these activities, is that there is not an average outdoor recreation participant upon whom management may focus; the management of outdoor recreation means managing for diversity. Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 247) write of their review of 53 Fennoscandian studies: "All of the surveys were related to traditional outdoor life in the three countries. We found no studies that covered possible preferences regarding forest structures in relation to alpine skiing, off-road biking, horseback riding, or other outdoor activities that have recently gained popularity, particularly among young people (Odden, 2004)."

Clear-cuts and other interventions

As well as the differing views of clear-cuts between foresters and non-foresters, Ribe (1989: 71) writes: "Also understandable are instances where forests with recreational or wild-use labels are perceived with some positive bias, or where recreationists, whose activities make use of clear-cuts, perceive them less negatively. Other observed intersubjective differences seem more arbitrary." Elsewhere, Ribe (1989) writes: "However, Becker (1983) found that recreationists who had recognized a clear-cut during their activity did not tend to report lower quality experiences and that many hunters actually liked clear-cuts in as much as they promoted better hunting. Levine and Langenau (1979) also found that negative views toward clear-cuts are not absolute, but are softened among 'diversive recreationists' who can make use of clear-cuts for things like hunting and berry picking, and that men can be more accepting of clear-cuts. These findings indicate that the perception of clear-cuts can be mitigated by circumstantial and subjective factors, but do not override the more general aesthetic dislike of clear-cuts."

A study by Brunson and Shelby (1992) in the Pacific northwest of USA explored the relationship between scenic and recreational value of forests at stand level and landscape level. Comparative

judgements of recreational and scenic quality were obtained by surveying 95 persons who visited oldgrowth Douglas-fir stand and five nearby stands that had been harvested within the previous two years. Two of the latter had been harvested using traditional practices, and three used alternative methods that can be considered New Forestry. Next, they judged each stand's acceptability as a scenic landscape, as a place to hike and as a place to camp. The results suggest commonalities between these uses. Brunson and Shelby (1992: 39) showed that old-growth stands were judged most attractive, the traditional clear-cut was least acceptable, and partial-cutting methods fell somewhere in between. Among the partial-cutting methods, the patch cut – which left the most standing volume – was the most acceptable. The two-story stand, with its residual of 100-year-old-trees, was more acceptable than the thinned 30 to40 year old stand."

CONTEXTUAL FACTORS

In addition to the factors discussed above, the context in which the value judgement is made can be significant. Tyrvainen et al. (2005: 90) note that: "In preference research aesthetic values are thought to be linked to the evaluation context as well as respondents' characteristics such as education, recreational activity, nature relationship, age and gender." Similarly, Jensen and Koch (1998: 40) note that many factors can influence an individual's assessment of the quality of a forest for recreational activities including weather conditions, time of day, coincidences (e.g. seeing a roe deer). They also raise concerns over the difficulties of representing accurately people's preferences, which are dynamic and often changeable, adding "...there is considerable risk of generalisation, idealisation and strategic responses" (ibid: 68). Ward Thompson (1998: 8) points out: "what a person has seen in the landscape immediately before influences the response to what is seen next... so views of the same scene at the start and the end of the journey may evoke different responses."

Also preferences may appear to be different according to the methodology used to elicit them. If a researcher asks for judgements of a photo, taken out of context, this may elicit a different response than if the researcher takes the informant to the site itself and then asks for their value judgement, since their perception may be altered by their experiences of the landscape leading up to the site, as well as other sensory perceptions such as smell, the wind, rainfall or sunshine, etc. Of course, this is precisely why landscape preference studies use photos or other visual simulations, taken out of context, to control for such context-specific variables, and allow easier comparison between forest views. But the point needs to be made that values elicited in this way may differ from the actual experience of the site by a recreational user. A full definition of aesthetic value would extend beyond visual experience alone. According to Brown and Daniel (1984:2), aesthetic experience is made up of a mixture of sensory experiences (e.g. smells, sounds, touches and sights) and expectations but they add that visual aspects make a major contribution to aesthetic experiences.

Attachment and familiarity

Another context-specific factor that may impact on the value that is attached to the forest is the familiarity with the site that may be built up over numerous visits. People who make regular visits to local woodland may begin to value that particular site as highly as other woodlands, widely judged to have a higher aesthetic value, through their psychological, spiritual or emotional attachment to the particular site.

The study of 'attachment to place' by Hunziker *et al* (2008) highlights this effect. "The results revealed that strong feelings existed regarding all kinds of 'unspectacular' landscape features, e.g. a certain spot where one used to go for a walk or a tree from childhood. These landscape elements play a crucial role when it comes to judging landscape change, because people attach a special meaning to them and notice even slight changes" (ibid: 143). [...] "Some landscape elements are characterized by changing valuation through time: some are considered as disturbing at the beginning, but later they become a symbol of the community. Hay (1998) found the same trend and concluded that time is the most important factor in the genesis of place attachment. Nevertheless, there is a certain demand to retain elements from the past, as already mentioned by Hoffenberg (2001), who stressed the relevance

of historical elements for the valuation of a landscape" (ibid: 144). [...] "...historical aspects of landscapes are important factors in the formation and stabilization of identity" (ibid 145).

Of relevance here, Præstholm et al. (2002) looked at two case study sites in Denmark and found that positive preferences for forest attributes were closely linked to the distance travelled to get to the forest. They suggest that individuals and groups are most likely to participate in recreational activities that are in forests close to their home, and that regular visits contribute to their increasing attachment (and its associated values) to the local forest (Præstholm 2002: 102). Likewise, Rametsteiner and Kraxner 2003: 31 concluded from a review of European literature that individuals may have different expectations, requirements and demands in terms of what they want from forests depending upon whether they visit forests for a day or whether they make short visits to local forests.

Englin and Mendelsohn (1991: 286) drew some counter intuitive conclusions regarding how familiarity affects preferences. "The more people visit a site, the more they seem to choose sites with Douglas fir, spruce, alpine fir, rock and ice, and views. In contrast, people who visit sites often are less likely to choose hemlock forests and old-growth forests. This last result is particularly interesting, for it suggests that old-growth is desired for an occasional trip but not for a 'favourite' (often visited) site."

On the importance of familiarity and attachment, Gundersen and Frivold (2008) suggest that: "There is, however, a risk that a management practice based solely on general rules for enhancing recreational values excludes the uniqueness and the identity of each forest, which in many cases are the most important elements for recreational users and tourism. Forest landscapes are diverse and can be repositories of history, rituals, cultural and spiritual meanings, social and personal identities, and emotional memories; values that are not measured directly in quantitative surveys of forest preferences. Such surveys alone can hardly capture people's true attachment to a particular place in a forest landscape."

Changes over time

It is often asserted in the context of landscape preferences that people don't like change: people want what they expect or what they have grown up with. Bell (2001:201) notes that forestry involves managing a dynamic and changing forest landscape but public attitudes towards landscape change can be conservative with the "persistent belief still held by many people that forests grow to a climax type and naturally stay that way for ever" (ibid: 206). Bell argues that people may have preconceived ideas about how forests should appear that can conflict with current understandings of dynamic landscapes.

Regarding changes over time, Gundersen and Frivold (2008: 253) write: "Lindhagen and Hornsten (2000) found small differences in ranking and mean scores of 28 photos among representative samples of residents of Sweden asked in 1977 and 1997. Six of the photos got a slightly higher score in 1997: the largest difference was found for a photo of a virgin forest (see section on "Dead standing trees and windfalls" above). A reason for the increased appreciation of that particular photo could be that the importance of decaying windfallen logs for biodiversity had become a part of public consciousness during the period. Nevertheless, a large majority of the respondents still considered the virgin forest on the photo unsuitable for recreation. [...] Five photos got a slightly lower mean score in 1997 than in 1977..." Other references were given but the evidence was less strong.

Stability over time is suggested by Silvennoinen et al. (2001: 18) who write: "The predictors of our models and their regression coefficients correspond to earlier results (Savolainen and Kellomaki, 1981; Pukkala et al., 1988). It seems that Finns' scenic beauty preferences have not changed notably in the recent past..."

Similarly, Jensen (1997: 160) writes: "It has not been possible to detect major changes in the preferences of the general Danish population over a period of more than 15 years. No complete alteration in preferences has been found in the topics surveyed." This conclusion is supported by the few other studies that have looked at trends over time. Possibly no other study has looked at changes

over time for the general population. Jensen (1997: 160) continues: "Cole et al. (1995) state in their research summary: [...] 'Little evidence supports the idea that the visitors of today or the trips they take are substantially different from those of a decade or two ago'. Also Palmer (1997) conclude in this direction: 'that the citizens of a town have a relatively stable understanding and scenic preference for the landscape within which they live, at least within the time frame of a decade.' [...] Also Lucas (1985), in general, found very few obvious changes in the visitors' preferences between 1970 and 1982. The few noticeable changes ascertained can be ascribed to changes in the character of the area studied, and to its recreational utilisation. [...] Minor changes in the Danes preferences from 1977 to 1994 have been found in relation to a few topics..." Jensen (1997: 162) concludes: "When comparing the relatively few studies of trends in forest preferences the overall conclusion (so far) is that the preferences studied in general are quite stable over time – at least during a decade or two. This conclusion can be supported by Smith (1994) whose paper 'Is there real opinion change?' elaborate the statement that: 'Most opinion change is slow and steady'."

Concluding remarks

Overall, it could be argued that a significant level of generalisation is possible for each of the attributes between geographical regions, social groups, and those pursuing the main recreational activities allowing some conclusions to be made about public preferences that apply across Europe. Possibly there are wider variations in preferences for non-silvicultural features such as trails, interpretation and facilities, although this falls outside the scope of the study. This conclusion is supported by the relatively consistent weightings and relationships proposed for individual attributes by participants in the Delphi survey. One acknowledged exception is the difference in preferences between professionals or 'experts' and the rest of the population.

A final point concerns differences between what experts think the public prefer, and what the public actually say they prefer. ('Experts' in this context means professional foresters and other land managers rather than experts in forest preference research who participated in the Delphi survey: see Section 2.) This topic was researched by Jensen (1997: 130) who writes: "Several surveys have shown that forest managers and landscape managers' own preferences - or their perception of visitors' preferences - do not always agree with the visitors' preferences (e.g. Hendee and Harris, 1970; Willhite and Sise, 1974; Hultman, 1981; Jensen, 1993)." However, elsewhere, Jensen 1993: 91-92) elaborates that the differences are modest: "This study of experts' perception of the forest and landscape preferences of the Danish population shows that there are more similarities than differences between the experts' perceptions and the preferences of the population. But, not all issues are assessed in the same way: in about one third of the issues investigated, the experts' perceptions differ from the preferences of the population. Where do they go wrong? The experts believe that the population prefers the more natural/unmanaged forest – for example, with a broken tree trunk and gnarled oaks. The reason for this bias in the experts' perception could be due to the influence of the more articulate nature conservation groups in society. [...] The experts also believe that a general development of recreation facilities in the forest has stronger support in the population than is actually the case. [...] It might be expected that the politicians, 'standing aloof from the world', would be further than the other 'experts' from a perception which agreed with the preferences of the population But, actually a close resemblance is found."

5. CONCLUSIONS

The research reported here has sought to present a synthesis of public preferences for different silvicultural attributes for the whole of Europe. The study began with a comprehensive review of the literature on forest preferences in Europe and to a lesser extent USA involving compilation of a bibliography of over 300 references. The next step was to develop a robust typology of measurable silvicultural attributes at stand level that could be used to inform assessments of the impacts of changes in forest management on recreational use. The typology of attributes was then included in the pan-European Delphi survey, which identified the relationship of each attribute to recreational value of forests, weighted its relative importance, and explored the extent to which these findings could be generalised across the four contrasting case study regions. The survey results for each attribute were then presented and discussed alongside relevant findings generated from the literature review.

The findings of the survey and review broadly support the conclusions reported in existing review articles such as Ribe (1989) and Gundersen and Frivold (2008). For example, Ribe (1989: 70) writes in conclusion to his article: "A number of findings are reconfirmed in different studies and are evidently quite general. They serve to demonstrate the scenic value in certain forest characteristics against the view that aesthetic forest products are largely subjective and capricious. However, these scenic characteristics are also relatively intuitive and therefore not particularly new. They include findings that big trees are attractive, moderately stocked more open stands are preferred, ground slash and other evidence of harvests are disliked, ground vegetation enhances forest scenes, evidence of fire detracts from beauty, and species variety can enhance the same."

The main contribution made by this study has been to supplement these descriptive conclusions with quantitative estimates of the relationship and relative importance of each attribute to the recreational value of forests in Europe, as well as the variation between geographical regions. This report appears to be the first attempt to do so. The use of a Delphi survey, as opposed to a full psychophysical survey using a representative sample of the visiting public, was considered necessary due to the ambitious nature of the goal. While there is evidence of the reliability of the Delphi method in similar contexts (e.g. Landeta 2006), the data presented in this report needs to be seen as indicative, due to compromises inherent in the study design. One of the main criteria for selection of experts was whether they were familiar with forest preference research, and hence more able to take into account potential differences between their own preferences and those of the general public. It is also worth reiterating that the self-reported confidence levels of respondents were medium or high for all attributes in nearly all regions (see Section 3), and this is reflected also in the comments provided by respondents in their questionnaires (see Appendix 2). Nevertheless, the extent to which experts were able to represent the views of the general public remains uncertain.

The findings indicate clearly that 'size of trees' is universally considered one of the most important attributes, along with attributes that reflect level of intervention such as 'size of clear-cuts', 'residue from thinning and harvesting', and 'visual penetration' which is partly a consequence of management intensity. The results highlight the relationship between several of the important attributes and the degree of 'naturalness', and suggest that, on average, the public in most of Europe prefer a degree of intervention to 'tidy up' the forest, creating a situation of 'managed naturalness'. Other key findings include the relative unimportance of 'number of tree species', which supports the conclusions of the second part of the Delphi survey reported in Edwards et al. (2010) that 'tree species type' is seen to have a relatively small impact compared to the structural properties of the stand, especially tree size and structural diversity.

One of the strengths of the study is the opportunity it provides to compare results across regions. This reveals some striking variations in the ranking of certain attributes. 'Residue' is considered of very little importance in Central Europe whereas it scores highly elsewhere. This may be a consequence of differences in silvicultural practice, although further investigation would be required to determine how this may be the case. Similarly, in Great Britain, the highest importance is attached to 'variation in tree

size', although this attribute scores low elsewhere. Arguably this reflects the prevailing negative perception of intensive even-aged plantations of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) the dominant silvicultural regime in upland areas of Great Britain. Few stands of conifers show significant variation in tree height in Great Britain, and those that do may consequently be regarded as unusually attractive for recreation. The current policy of conversion to Continuous Cover Forestry in parts of Great Britain, which is characterised by uneven-aged stands, is driven in part by its perceived benefits to landscape and recreation. The low importance attached to 'variation between stands' in Great Britain contrasts with the evidence presented in Axelsson-Lindgren and Sorte (1987) for Sweden, and unsurprisingly perhaps this attribute scored higher in Nordic Region. Possibly the importance attached to this attribute reflects the scale of forestry in each region. In Great Britain, forestry is a relatively small scale operation, which perhaps already shows high variation between stands and a greater proportion of non-forest cover than other parts of Europe where similar kinds of forest may extend across considerable areas and may be seen to be monotonous.

It is hoped that this research will provide a useful resource for researchers, managers and policymakers, who wish to gain an overview of the contribution of key silvicultural attributes on recreational value of forests, and also prompt further work that goes beyond the scope of specific case studies to develop further pan-European perspectives on public preferences for forest attributes and types.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: INDIVIDUAL RESPONSES TO THE DELPHI SURVEY

Relationship

The data on 'relationship' of each attribute to the recreational value of forests for each respondent are given below.

| | ^ | Relation | nship to recreation | al value | |
|-------------|----------|----------|---------------------|----------|------|
| Attribute | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even |
| 1 | 8 | | 1 | 1 | |
| 2 | 8 | | 2 | | |
| 3 | 8 | | 2 | | |
| 4 | 1 | | 9 | | |
| 5 | 1 | | 6 | 1 | 2 |
| 6 | 1 | | 8 | | 1 |
| 7 | 5 | | 4 | | 1 |
| 8 | | 8 | 1 | 1 | |
| 9 | | 10 | | | |
| 10 | | 1 | 8 | | 1 |
| 11 | 5 | | 3 | 1 | 1 |
| 12 | 10 | | | | |
| Grand Total | 47 | 19 | 44 | 4 | 6 |

Table A1. Count of relationship types for each attribute: Great Britain (n=10)

| A 44-riberto | | Relation | nship to recreation | al value | |
|--------------|----------|----------|---------------------|----------|------|
| Attribute | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even |
| 1 | 12 | | | | |
| 2 | 5 | | 6 | | 1 |
| 3 | 6 | | 5 | | 1 |
| 4 | 6 | | 6 | | |
| 5 | 4 | | 8 | | |
| 6 | 3 | 4 | 5 | | |
| 7 | 6 | | 5 | | 1 |
| 8 | | 12 | | | |
| 9 | | 12 | | | |
| 10 | 1 | 7 | 3 | 1 | |
| 11 | 5 | | 7 | | |
| 12 | 12 | | | | |
| Grand Total | 60 | 35 | 45 | 1 | 3 |

| A | | Relatio | nship to recreation | al value | |
|-------------|----------|----------|---------------------|----------|------|
| Attribute | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even |
| 1 | 13 | | 1 | | |
| 2 | 10 | | 4 | | |
| 3 | 11 | | 3 | | |
| 4 | 1 | 2 | 10 | | 1 |
| 5 | 4 | | 9 | | 1 |
| 6 | 2 | 1 | 11 | | |
| 7 | 6 | | 8 | | |
| 8 | | 13 | 1 | | |
| 9 | | 13 | 1 | | |
| 10 | | 2 | 10 | | 2 |
| 11 | 10 | | 4 | | |
| 12 | 11 | | 3 | | |
| Grand Total | 68 | 31 | 65 | 0 | 4 |

Table A3. Count of relationship types for each attribute: Central Europe

 Table A4. Count of relationship types for each attribute: Iberia (n=10)*

| Attribute | | Relationship to recreational value | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------|----------|------------------------------------|-------------|----------|------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Attribute | Positive | Negative | Bell-shaped | U-shaped | Even | | | | | | | |
| 1 | 9 | | | | 1 | | | | | | | |
| 2 | 6 | | 4 | | | | | | | | | |
| 3 | 2 | | 7 | | 1 | | | | | | | |
| 4 | 1 | | 9 | | | | | | | | | |
| 5 | 8 | | 2 | | | | | | | | | |
| 6 | 1 | 6 | 3 | | | | | | | | | |
| 7 | 7 | | 2 | 1 | | | | | | | | |
| 8 | | 10 | | | | | | | | | | |
| 9 | | 9 | 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| 10 | | 3 | 6 | | 1 | | | | | | | |
| 11 | 7 | | 1 | | 2 | | | | | | | |
| 12 | 9 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Grand Total | 50 | 28 | 35 | 1 | 5 | | | | | | | |

*n=9 for Attribute 12.

Relative contribution

The data for relative contribution of each attribute to the overall recreational value of forests for each respondent are given below.

| A • T | | | | | Individ | lual ID | | | | | Mean |
|-----------|----|---|----|---------|---------|---------|----|---|---|----|--------------|
| Attribute | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 5 6 7 | | | | 8 | 9 | 10 | contribution |
| 1 | 8 | 5 | 8 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 4 | 8 | 5 | 10 | 7.8 |
| 2 | 8 | 8 | 10 | 5 | 9 | 6 | 10 | 7 | 7 | 10 | 8.0 |
| 3 | 8 | 5 | 8 | 8 | 8 | 6 | 9 | 7 | 2 | 7 | 6.8 |
| 4 | 6 | 4 | 7 | 7 | 10 | 4 | 6 | 6 | 7 | 6 | 6.3 |
| 5 | 7 | 5 | 6 | 9 | 7 | 3 | 9 | 6 | 2 | 5 | 5.9 |
| 6 | 7 | 4 | 2 | 3 | 2 | 1 | 8 | 4 | 6 | 3 | 4.0 |
| 7 | 6 | 8 | 8 | 6 | 5 | 1 | 10 | 6 | 3 | 6 | 5.9 |
| 8 | 9 | 7 | 5 | 8 | 7 | 10 | 7 | 4 | 8 | 6 | 7.1 |
| 9 | 10 | 4 | 5 | 9 | 6 | 9 | 3 | 8 | 7 | 4 | 6.5 |
| 10 | 6 | 4 | 3 | 1 | 4 | 2 | 8 | 4 | 5 | 5 | 4.2 |
| 11 | 6 | 4 | 6 | 2 | 4 | 6 | 2 | 6 | 7 | 5 | 4.8 |
| 12 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 4 | 5 | 9 | 10 | 8 | 5 | 5 | 6.1 |
| Mean | | | | | | | | | | | 6.1 |

Table A5. Individual respondents' scores for relative contribution: Great Britain

Table A6. Individual respondents' scores for relative contribution: Nordic Region

| Attribute | Individual ID | | | | | | | | | | | Mean | | | | | | |
|-----------|---------------|----|----|----|----|---|----|----|----|----|----|------|--------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Attribute | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | contribution | | | | | |
| 1 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 9 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 9.7 | | | | | |
| 2 | 5 | 6 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 7 | 2 | 3 | 8 | 8 | 7 | 7 | 5.7 | | | | | |
| 3 | 5 | 6 | 8 | 7 | 5 | 8 | 5 | 2 | 4 | 9 | 6 | 8 | 6.1 | | | | | |
| 4 | 8 | 8 | 7 | 6 | 9 | 8 | 2 | 8 | 5 | 8 | 8 | 7 | 7.0 | | | | | |
| 5 | 10 | 8 | 10 | 8 | 10 | 9 | 6 | 7 | 1 | 8 | 9 | 8 | 7.8 | | | | | |
| 6 | 8 | 6 | 5 | 7 | 5 | 7 | 5 | 1 | 3 | 5 | 7 | 8 | 5.6 | | | | | |
| 7 | 10 | 6 | 5 | 7 | 5 | 8 | 3 | 5 | 6 | 6 | 9 | 7 | 6.4 | | | | | |
| 8 | 10 | 9 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 9 | 7 | 10 | 9 | 8 | 7 | 10 | 9.1 | | | | | |
| 9 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 10 | 9 | 10 | 8 | 9 | 9 | 9 | 10 | 9.5 | | | | | |
| 10 | 7 | 10 | 8 | 10 | 8 | 7 | 8 | 8 | 5 | 6 | 3 | 6 | 7.2 | | | | | |
| 11 | 10 | 10 | 6 | 9 | 9 | 9 | 6 | 9 | 10 | 10 | 7 | 9 | 8.7 | | | | | |
| 12 | 6 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 5 | 8 | 6 | 4 | 6 | 7 | 7 | 5 | 6.0 | | | | | |
| Mean | | | | | | | | | | | | | 7.4 | | | | | |

| | Individual ID | | | | | | | | | | | | Mean | | |
|-----------|---------------|----|---|----|---|---|---|---|----|----|----|----|------|----|--------------|
| Attribute | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | 14 | contribution |
| 1 | 7 | 8 | 8 | 6 | 9 | 9 | 5 | 8 | 9 | 8 | 5 | 10 | 3 | 10 | 7.5 |
| 2 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 6 | 7 | 5 | 5 | 6 | 6 | 6 | 4 | 10 | 5 | 9 | 6.2 |
| 3 | 5 | 6 | 8 | 5 | 8 | 5 | 6 | 5 | 7 | 8 | 8 | 8 | 8 | 8 | 6.8 |
| 4 | 3 | 7 | 8 | 5 | 7 | 8 | 6 | 6 | 6 | 7 | 7 | 7 | 6 | 5 | 6.3 |
| 5 | 4 | 7 | 7 | 3 | 9 | 6 | 5 | 7 | 6 | 7 | 4 | 7 | 7 | 4 | 5.9 |
| 6 | 2 | 4 | 6 | 3 | 9 | 8 | 7 | 8 | 4 | 4 | 3 | 3 | 6 | 3 | 5.0 |
| 7 | 3 | 5 | 5 | 2 | 8 | 4 | 4 | 6 | 8 | 4 | 4 | 7 | 4 | 3 | 4.8 |
| 8 | 10 | 10 | 8 | 3 | 8 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 7 | 7 | 8 | 10 | 3 | 7 | 7.3 |
| 9 | 2 | 5 | 4 | 5 | 8 | 3 | 3 | 7 | 7 | 4 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 2 | 4.4 |
| 10 | 3 | 6 | 6 | 3 | 8 | 4 | 4 | 7 | 7 | 4 | 4 | 4 | 6 | 6 | 5.1 |
| 11 | 8 | 6 | 9 | 10 | 8 | 3 | 6 | 5 | 10 | 8 | 9 | 8 | 10 | 5 | 7.5 |
| 12 | 3 | 8 | 8 | 8 | 9 | 4 | 4 | 7 | 9 | 8 | 6 | 9 | 8 | 8 | 7.1 |
| Mean | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | 6.2 |

Table A7. Individual respondents' scores for relative contribution: Central Europe

Table A8. Individual respondents' scores for relative contribution: Iberia

| A 44 | | Mean | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|----|------|----|----|----|---|---|----|----|----|--------------|
| Attribute | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | contribution |
| 1 | 7 | 2 | 8 | 10 | 9 | 6 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 10 | 7.9 |
| 2 | 6 | 6 | 8 | 5 | 3 | 2 | 4 | 5 | 7 | 5 | 5.1 |
| 3 | 8 | 3 | 8 | 4 | 4 | 4 | 5 | 4 | 5 | 5 | 5.0 |
| 4 | 7 | 5 | 8 | 8 | 6 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 7 | 8 | 7.0 |
| 5 | 10 | 7 | 7 | 10 | 10 | 7 | 7 | 10 | 5 | 9 | 8.2 |
| 6 | 7 | 7 | 3 | 10 | 7 | 8 | 7 | 5 | 3 | 4 | 6.1 |
| 7 | 7 | 7 | 9 | 8 | 8 | 6 | 6 | 7 | 7 | 7 | 7.2 |
| 8 | 10 | 7 | 10 | 10 | 7 | 7 | 6 | 7 | 7 | 7 | 7.8 |
| 9 | 9 | 7 | 8 | 8 | 8 | 9 | 8 | 8 | 7 | 9 | 8.1 |
| 10 | 6 | 5 | 9 | 5 | 6 | 6 | 7 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5.9 |
| 11 | 8 | 6 | 8 | 5 | 6 | 6 | 5 | 7 | 7 | 3 | 6.1 |
| 12 | 8 | 4 | 8 | | 7 | 5 | 4 | 4 | 10 | 4 | 6.0 |
| Mean | | | | | | | | | | | 6.7 |

Confidence ratings

The count of confidence ratings assigned to the responses provided for 'relationship' and 'relative contribution' for each attribute in each region are given below.

| Attribute | Great Britain (n=10) | | | Nordic Region (n=12) | | | Central Europe (n=14) | | | Iberia (n=10*) | | |
|-----------|-------------------------|----|-------------|-------------------------|----|----|--------------------------|----|----|-------------------|----|----|
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 1 | 2 | 3 |
| 1 | | 2 | 8 | | | 12 | | 6 | 8 | 1 | 3 | 6 |
| 2 | | 2 | 8 | 2 | 9 | 1 | 2 | 4 | 8 | 3 | 5 | 2 |
| 3 | 1 | 2 | 7 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 2 | 4 | 8 | 3 | 6 | 1 |
| 4 | 1 | 9 | | | 10 | 2 | 1 | 8 | 5 | 1 | 7 | 2 |
| 5 | 4 | 4 | 2 | | 4 | 8 | 3 | 3 | 8 | 1 | 4 | 5 |
| 6 | 3 | 5 | 2 | 6 | 4 | 2 | 2 | 4 | 8 | 1 | 7 | 2 |
| 7 | 2 | 5 | 3 | 3 | 7 | 2 | 3 | 7 | 4 | 1 | 5 | 4 |
| 8 | 2 | 3 | 5 | | | 12 | | 3 | 11 | 1 | 4 | 5 |
| 9 | 2 | 4 | 4 | | | 12 | 2 | 6 | 6 | 1 | 2 | 7 |
| 10 | | 9 | 1 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 3 | 6 | 5 | 2 | 5 | 3 |
| 11 | 3 | 6 | 1 | | 4 | 8 | 1 | 4 | 9 | 4 | 5 | 1 |
| 12 | | 6 | 4 | 3 | 8 | 1 | | 5 | 9 | 2 | 4 | 3 |
| Total | 18 | 57 | . 45 | 20 | 54 | 70 | 19 | 60 | 89 | 21 | 57 | 41 |

Table A9. Count of confidence ratings by region (1=high; 2=medium; 3=low)

*n=9 for attribute 12 in Iberia.

APPENDIX 2: COMMENTS RECEIVED DURING THE DELPHI SURVEY

Box A1. Comments received from the Great Britain Panel ROUND 1

Comment 1: I have based my answers on what I assume to be your idea of the forest but I am not sure about how well some of the graph types really fit the attribute. The importance I have rated highly for all but I am not sure as to how important the average visitor might consider some, in which case I have lowered the confidence limit. The size of coupes question I assume to mean coupes seen from within and not on another hillside, which is why I have put it negative.

Comment 2: I've assumed that the 'average' visitor will be accessing the forest (on foot) via existing tracks/paths/forest roads unimpeded rather than finding their own route through the forest – if not, I would have to revise my scores as attributes such as amount of natural deadwood, amount of residue from thinning/harvesting, density of ground vegetation are likely to be of greater importance to such as visitor than visual penetration of stand etc.

Relative contribution is a difficult one to score! You will note that low confidence ratings correlate with low relative attribute scores!

Forest size and presence/absence of harvesting/thinning activity may also be important attributes.

Comment 3: Not clear about q. 12 – are you saying proportion of natural to straight edges, or proportion of natural edges to non-edges? My answer is as if the latter. If the former, change to P, 9, H.

Q 7: I think it is very easy to be seduced into thinking that people like more species. I think many people think a single spp beechwood is extremely beautiful, and with almost no ground flora or lower storey (relevant to other questions here). Similarly some of the most awe inspiring forest I've seen recently involved a huge stand of Douglas fir in Wales – one species, one age. So I do think it depends on (a) species and (b) cultural perceptions of what is acceptable.

Comment 4: In most work I have done people rarely separate out the individual elements in this way. i.e. the whole is greater that the sum of the parts and the interplay between these indicators is infact what I see as key.

There is also the added problem of the increased opportunities for recreation in forests and whilst most people walk people are generally interested I seeing wildlife, or even other recreational activities.

Their should have be mention of specific management of stands for recreational or conservation value. One key aspect in Scotland is the erection of tree fences which actually decreases recreational value. This is a key issue and should be included.

Comment 5: 8. Size of clear cuts: although I appreciate the specific nature of the question the relative size of clear cuts has a distinct relationship to the scale of the landscape and elevation of the forest area. Both these attributes will influence the relative scale and design of the clear cut shape. Meaning that in a large scale rolling landscape, a relatively large scale clear cut may be appropriate on hilltops; its success from a forest user's perspective will depend on its internal shape, specifically the margin, relationship to landform and features, any retentions and edge detail.

Comment 6: 5 and 7 can have many answers. An even-aged birchwood can be v attractive for recreation- so can an uneven aged wood of the same species. It is more a matter of personal preferences than aggregate preferences I would have thought

Comment 7: First, it is worth noting that there are differences between sitka spruce and birch woodlands in terms of their recreation value. Generally, birch is likely to have a much higher recreation value than sitka. Further, there are differences in the public's general expectations of these two forest types: sitka is generally considered to be grown for commercial timber and therefore is often thought of as being grown in dense, regimented stances. Birch, on the other hand, tends to be considered as much more open woodland with natural planting. Thus, my responses above are based on two generally considerations: (i) how one could improve the recreation value of sitka to try to make it look more natural, and (ii) how to retain the natural character of a natural birch woodland.

Key attributes that contribute to the recreation value of forest is variation within that forest; whether this variation is type of tree species, tree size, spacing etc. The greater the variation over a range of attributes will lead to increased recreation value.

Comment 8: Some of the other attributes, which I have classed as bell shaped, will add to the recreation value of forest if present; but if you go overboard with that attribute then it might deteriorate the recreation value. For example, the amount of deadwood.

ROUND 2

Comment 1: Question 7: again, a single species forest can be very beautiful (native scots pine) or not (sitka spruce) – other factors interact too strongly with this one to make it scorable.

Comment 2: For Q8, I suspect my B rather than N Relationship score reflects a cultural acceptance of clear cuts as a primary forest management tool in Scottish forests. Further, with many of those forests in visible upland hill areas visual scale of clear cuts is an issue; both too small and too large scale can be a visual issue that has a potential impact on the recreational experience in these forest landscapes.

For Q12, my relatively high Relative Contribution score is related to Q8; forest edge is not only the relationship with the landscape outside the forest but also includes internal edges created by clear cuts.

Comment 3: I share an earlier observer's comment about variety (q1.7). A Scots pine forest with a few juniper is not in my view short of variety nor a Chiltern beech wood, nor an East Anglian Oak with hazel coppice.

Comment 4: I have increased my score for question 1 a 'tree size' from 2 to 5. Originally, I gave it a low score as I consider that it is variation the increases recreation value. However, on further reflection (and in the light of other scores) tree size would appear to be important particularly when very large trees have a 'wow' factor.

Comment 5: Silvicultural Attribute 5: re-reading this I realise that I misread the question so that my assessment was based on 'absent to dense' rather than 'dense to absent'. My answer to (a) relationship should therefore have been P.

I've also changed my relationship for attribute 1 to P on the basis of the attributes of individual trees rather than as a collective group or forest – individual mature trees of any species are impressive and have a high amenity value.

As it is no longer necessary to use the full range of scores, I have altered my scores for relative contribution of attributes to 10 & 12 and rated them higher (and altered my confidence ratings accordingly).

Box A2. Comments received from the Nordic panel ROUND 1

Comment 1: "Visual penetration through stand" seems to be a key question regarding recreational value, but very few studies have this as main topic. Visual penetration depends strongly on several of the other factors mention in the scheme, e.g. Size of trees within stand, Variation in tree size within stand, Variation in tree spacing within stand, Extent of tree cover within stand. Savolainen & Kellomäki (1984) identify a Bell-shaped curve regarding distance visual penetration.

"Size of trees within stand", "Size of clear-cuts" and "Residue from harvesting and thinning" is well studied and well documented effects on scenic value in forest stand.

"Variation in tree size within stand" – many Nordic studies have these as a topic, but very few concluded that this is an important factor.

"Variation in tree spacing within stand" – like visual penetration, small openings and variation in space seems to be an important factor, but lacking evidence in research.

"Amount of natural deadwood" seems to be a key aspect, but not well studied. Here also knowledge about biodiversity is an additional factor.

"Variation *between* stands along a 5 km trail through forest" – lacking knowledge (but Axelsson-Lindgren 1990 emphasis this as important)

"Naturalness' of forest edges" – not well studied

Comment 2: In Finland, we know least about the preferences of variation between stands and naturalness of forest edges; if we knew better maybe my scores would be higher

Comment 3: Q1.10: Information about the importance for biodiversity of natural coarse woody debris makes the average forest visitor somewhat less negative to such elements in the forest.

Q1.12: More important in hilly than in flat landscapes and more important towards cuttings than towards agricultural land. I have tried to put up a mean value.

Comment 4: Picea abies is missing from the general frame.

6. The height of 50 cm is totally different than the height of 20 cm.

Comment 5:-visibility, variation in tree spaces and between stands increases positive impact in landscape, with high confidence

ROUND 2

Comment 1: Confidence rating gave good basis to revise the answers.

Comment 2: I seem to have given scores fairly closely with the average scores for most items. In case of the item 10 I have been of different opinion. Dead wood issue is contraversial. There is a growing group of people who understand the ecological value of dead wood and thus also appreciate dead wood even in the recreational setting. Then the 'general public' like dead wood less but do not necessarily dislike them either. I still stand behind my first scoring. Only correct one score which seems to be a mistake.

Comment 3: I have done 2 corrections.

"Extent of tree cover within stand". Sure it is quite a lot knowledge about this topic. I did a mistake in round 1.

"Variation *between* stands along a 5 km trail through forest". I was a bit surprise over the groups rating on this question, because it is very few studies that have tested this at a Nordic scale. Variation in forest is, however often concluded to be an important factor in many studies using verbal stimuli, but in this studies scale is rarely defined. Is it variation within the stand or between stands?

Comment 4: point 6. Difficult to estimate.

Comment 5: Q2: It is very hard to answer and I don't really think that any of the suggested relationsships fits.

Q5: Normally a positive effect, but in very frequented areas it might be negative. (The N from the first round were however a mistake due to fast reading).

Box A3. Comments received from the Central Europe panel ROUND 1

Comment 1: The size of trees is important, because when the forest is equipped with big trees (mothertrees or fathertrees) the character of these trees is very distinct and outstanding. So people they are visiting the forest have the feeling of a strong power wood system. The forest is vital and his vitality will be transferred to the humans. The recreational value is high.
The recreational value exists when there is a big number of different trees in the forest. This means high diversity and high diversity means high vitality. The recreation effect will be very good.

Comment 2: Regarding 12: Several years before we conducted a little investigation (2 master thesis) on this issue with a survey and a series of qualitative interviews. They revealed that non-natural edges are preferred to natural ones. However, this might be a bit extreme. Therefore I choose even.

Comment 3: ** No 10: [P/N] Depends on people perceiving it: People knowing about it, having some information, younger or well educated persons perceive it explicitly positive according to a study I carried out in a National Park. I would judge on this for amounts up to 20-30 m3/ha for sure, to portions with 150 m3 with some limitations due to my chosen research design. Persons not so familiar with forest ecosystems or older, less educated persons perceive deadwood being a very negative feature.

Comment 4: It is difficult to assume what the "public" would like to see and where personal forestry preferences come into the answers. From my questionnaires in the Black Forest it turned out that most people don't like even-aged forests, monocultures and less close-to-nature forests but also not wilderness. Many prefer variation and naturalness but also views, paths and infrastructure which they associate with forest (management) signalling some human activities.

The relative contribution is feeling based, like the confidence rate.

Comment 5: I find it rather difficult to be involved in such a project only at this very stage of weighting, not knowing enough about the structure of the whole evaluation scheme; many important aspects of forest recreation are not listed in the criteria; the special scale of the process is not documented.

Comment 6: [Attribute 4] Depends from the structure of the ground: neative. If the low cover is obviously caused by forestry (former clearcut with some seed trees). Or positive If the low cover is perceived as natural or semi-natural (eg. Mountain pastures with a low tree cover due to grazing) and attractive.

[Attribute 9] Depends strongly on the character of the treatment and the special structure (z.B. nach Reihendurchforstung mit Havester oder gegenüber traditioneller Durchforstung z.B. unregelmäßige Entnahme und Materiallagerung einzelstammweise) furthermore it depends form the age of the forest. Negative in younger stands, more acceptable in older ones. Overall negative.

[Attribute 10] Negative, but depending on education and motives (eg. Visit of protected areas).

Comment 7: 5. Visual penetration: gender differentiation is important, for many women the subject feeling of security is very important. Many women are scared (alone) in a forest!

9. and 10. Residue and deadwood: The individual perception of woody residue and deadwood is very dissimilar or are mutually contradictory and depends highly on a person's nature related values: What one percept as perfection is for an other undesirable. \rightarrow For this reason there can't be identified a simple relationship between residue/deadwood and recreational value. Best fitting is in my opinion the even-shaped solution, because the individual differences cancel each other.

Comment 8: 4: but glades and areas where the forest is less dense provide views, diversity in light and shadow and enhance the recreational experience

5: if the forest provides very wide view, the feeling of being in a forest is lost, but also rather open forests that have emerged e.g. through cattle grazing have high recreational value

6: generally positive, but some spots with bare ground, rocks or herbaceous plants also enhance recreational value

7: negative if the forest is too dense without view

9: slightly negative; depends on forest type and ground cover

Comment 9: Large variations between tree species

Large variation in preferences (see empirical studies about rural vs urban population etc.)

Seasonal effects!

Comment 10: According to our findings, there a two main factors influencing the recreation value: natural diversity and diversity in terms of the perspective (change of sheltered parts and sunny place with a good view. Recreation value, however, also depends on the recreation need. More sheltered areas (high density, a certain monotonicity) is probably more suited for mental recovery and self-reflection, whereas more openness might be better for emotional regulation and a sense of freedom. As most people visit forests with a variety of recreation motives, a medium level of most characteristics is probably most adequate. Therefore, most of the attributes have a bell-shaped characteristic in terms of its contribution to recreation quality. In terms of residues and density of ground vegetation, the contribution is not very clear. Experimental research suggests that "clean" forests have a better effect on psychological recovery. Low values also allow people to leave the paths. On the other hand, natural diversity is a dominant factor of attractivity.

Comment 11: @1: younger stands have lower attractiveness; very old stands may be considered as dangerous by visitors due to falling stems and branches, and are less penetrable for older or disabled people

@7 (*): none of the relationships fits; I guess something hyperbolical (high increase in the beginning, less in the middle, asymptotically none in the end)

@10: depends on age, cannot answer independently.

ROUND 2

Comment 1: Regarding 12, forest edges: We conducted two surveys (master theses) several years ago about perception and visitor assessment of forest edges. natural edges were rated worse than "traditional" ones due to the reduced "edge feeling" (sitting (with barbecue, fire place) under trees with sight over the fields). This might have changed a bit towards better assessment of naturalness. Thus, I change from even (or negative...) to bell shaped.

Comment 2: 1.6: From my experience, forest visitors clearly prefer little undergrowth, especially little and not too dense ground cover for various reasons (such as comfortable walking, seeing where you are walking, no hidden spiders, snakes, getting wet etc) – hence I feel that there is a negative correlation with increasing ground density (up to 50 cm)...Since this might be a decisive factor whether to enter a forest or not, I ranked it rather high (8) in the importance and relative contribution with a high confidence rating of my opinion! However, I changed the correlation form to bell shaped since some flowers on the forest ground might make the forest more attractive!

1.9: I lowered the relative contribution from 9 to 7. However, I am of the opinion that if there is too much natural deadwood, it is not attractive for a visitor to enter the forest (not everybody is a biodiversity experts and knows about the value of dead wood in a forest) – from most of the visitors dead wood might be perceived as a not well managed forest (if not clearly walking in a virgin forest) and it might be considered rather as a danger than an invitation to visit the forest – hence I think that the relative contribution whether a forests provides a high recreational value depends a lot from this factor!

1.11: In my opinion, a certain amount of variability of stands along a trail stands for a vital forest which consequently might stand for a higher recreational value for the visitor. On the other hand – if this variability is becoming too high, the visitor might get the impression (not knowing about forestry at all) that this forest is not very well maintained and the impression might be messy and not provide the impression of an "endlessly" big forest which can be "full of nature"... therefore I think that the correlation needs to be bell-shaped – at medium relative contribution!

1.12: The forest edge is usually what the visitor sees first when coming to a forest – so to say the first impression. Again, a certain amount of "natural looking" might be a good first impression. However, a "too much" of natural look might easily turn into a "not well managed", or "not well taken care of" forest – which consequently is little inviting to the one who seeks recreation for body and mind… Therefore a bell-shaped correlation at relatively high importance ("first impression").

Comment 3: 1b:7: I disagree with the mainstream opinion: I stick to P and ranking 8. I think, the number of tree species is very important, the more species in a stand, the better the stand is suited for recreation e.g. for children collecting leaves in autumn, mix of colours during seasons

1b. 9 & 10: I disagree with the mainstream opinion: Forest residues from harvesting or deadwood is one of the more important features in the forests that affect visual qualities.

Comment 4: Ad 6: we might consider the role of ticks.

Comment 5: I changed my assessment in the most substantial way in terms of residues from harvesting and thinning. I still think that a certain amount of tree stumps can be attractive, especially if they are old; but other residues of harvesting may be perceived as disturbing. Therefore I changed my assessment of the impact of the attribute from bell-shaped to negative. I also lowered my assessment on the impact of dead wood, because a majority of visitors might not perceive its value for natural diversity. From the same reason I also lowered my assessment of the impact of reconsidering the weight of the impact.

Comment 6: NEW Comment to change in attribute 7: I still think that this relation is best described as hyperbolical [or better: positive with a diminishing slope] (i.e. 2 species are valued higher than 1 species, but 5 species are not valued higher than 3 species, simply because most folks are not able to distinguish different tree species). However, I do not want to leave you without answer, and I take "positive" as a linear approximation to "positive with a diminishing slope".

Box A4. Comments received from the Iberia panel

ROUND 1

Comment 1: Naturalness is a term difficult to evaluate. If we understand naturalness in a Mediterranean context as: a high density of shrubs (e.g. Buxus sempervirens, Rosmarinus officinalis, Erica arborea, Erica multiflora, Ramnus alaternus, R. lycioides, mainly) and of young and thin trees, the proliferation of prickly plants (e.g. Genista scorpius, Ulex parviflora, etc.), and the existence of lianas (e.g. Lonicera implexa, Smilax aspera, Rubus ulmifolius, Rubia spp., etc) make entering forests more difficult; then, natural sites are not well valuated for recreational pourposes.

Comment 2: Relative contribution of each attribute is very difficult to assess. It would be easy with combinations.

Comment 3: Pinus spp and Quercus spp are grouping lots of species that are part of numerous different ecosystems in the south of Europe. Two major climates might be distinguished in the area: Oceanic and Mediterranean climates. From broadleaved evergreen forests and mediterranean coniferous forest (EU forest types 9 and 10) to cultivated forest (EU forest type 14, e.g. pine plantations in the south-west of France and in the north-west of Spain), the variety of oak and pine forests is large and recreation as well. The impact of stand attributes on the recreational function of forests in this part might differ depending on the original type of forest that is (/was) present in the area.

Comment 4: I am afraid I am influenced by previous readings on the subject.

Mental images of pine forests are easy to conjure for me.

Regarding oak forest, though, I find difficulties visualizing just one type. Most Mediterranean oak forest is nowadays a dehesa or a coppice. Some downy oak forests are closed, humid, far more mixed and completely different in physiognomy. "Oak forest" includes a very wide range of conditions in just one class. I also find difficult to rate the attributes knowing they all are important.

Comment 5: Questions 3 and 5 are in some way related.

Comment 6: My confidence rating was "Low" in all cases because I find it very hard to answer on behalf of the average visitor. Although I tried not to do it I am probably giving more my personal opinion.

ROUND 2

Comment 1: I HAVE CHANGED SOME SCORES, IN PARTICULAR 8. SIZE OF CLEARCUTS, BECAUSE I MADE A MISTAKE IN INTERPRETATION BEFORE. I HAVE ALSO RECONSIDERED 11.

Comment 2: I have made some changes. I have had to re-think questions 4 and 8. Question 4 is a bit complicated to me, because I think that people like variety of tree covers, and it is not easy to me to compare different levels of tree covers. But finally, I think that BS in the shape describing better the relationship. Concerning question 8, I think that people could assess positively some clear cuts if they are very very small (because in that way we would be getting a kind of variety in the landscape and I think that people like that). However, I have to remark that I refer to very small clear cuts. However I see the point of the majority and I have changed my vote.

Concerning question 11, I was wrong in my first assessment. Definitively, people like variety. Sorry for that.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- AASETRE, J. (1993) Miljøpreferanser i Nordmarka. Resultater fra en åpen intervjuundersøkelse (Environmental preferences at Nordmarka. Results from an interview survey). NINA-Oppdragsmelding 205, Norwegian Institute for Nature Research. Lillehammer (in Norwegian).
- AASETRE, J. (1994) Friluftsliv i bynaere skogområder en undersøkelse blant turgåere i Skien og Oslo (Recreation in urban woodlands – a survey among visitors at Skien and Oslo). NINA-Oppdragsmelding 325, Norwegian Institute for Nature Research, Lillehammer (in Norwegian).
- AENG, R. (1923) Trondhjems bymark, 50 aar. (Municipal forest of Trondheim, 50 years) [In Norwegian]. *Tidsskrift for Skogbruk* 31, 260-261.
- ANDREASSEN, K. (1982) Flersidig bruk av skog. En intervjuun-dersøkelse blant turfolk I Trondheim Bymark (Multiple-use of forest. A preference survey among visitors to Trondheim Bymark). Unpublished M.Sc. Thesis, Agricultural University of Norway, Ås (in Norwegian).
- ARNBERGER, A. (2006) Recreation use of urban forests: An inter-area comparison. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 4, 135-144.
- ARTHUR, L. M. (1977) Predicting scenic beauty of forest environments: Some empirical tests. *Forest Science*, 23, 151-159.
- AXELSSON-LINDGREN, C. (1990) Upplevda skillnader mellan skogsbestånd recreations- och pleneringsaspekter. Stad. Land 87 (in Swedish, with English summary).
- AXELSSON LINDGREN, C. (1995) Forest aesthetics. In: HYTÖNEN, M. (Ed.) *Multiple-use forestry in the Nordic countries.* METLA, The Finnish Forest Research Institute, Helsinki, pp. 279-294.
- AXELSSON-LINDGREN, C. & SORTE, G. (1987) Public Responses to differences between visually distinguishable forest stands in a recreation area. *Landscape and urban planning*, 14, 211-217.
- BALLING, J.D. & FALK, J.H. (1982) Development of visual preference for natural environments. Environment and Behavior 1: 5-28.
- BAMBER JONES, A. (1998) Visitor benefit and the determinants of recreation satisfaction: case study in the forest of Cansiglio Italy. In: JÖBSTL, H. & MERLO, M. (Eds.) *Institutional and social aspects of Managerial Economics in forestry*. IUFRO division 4.
- BAUER, N. (2005) Für und wider Wildnis. Soziale Dimensionen einer aktuellen gesellschaftlichen Debatte. Bristol-Schriftenreihe 5. Berne, Switzerland: Haupt.
- BECKER, R. H. (1983) Opinions about clear-cutting and recognition of clear-cuts by forest recreation visitors. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 17, 171-177.
- BELL, S. (2001) Landscape pattern, perception and visualisation in the visual management of forests. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 201-211.
- BELL, S., BLOM, D., RAUTAMÄKI, M., CASTEL-BRANCO, C., SIMSON, A., OLSEN, I.A. (2005) Design of urban forests. In: KONIJNENDIJK, C.C., NILSSON, K., RANDRUP, T.B., SCHIPPERIJN, J. (Eds.) Urban forests and trees. A reference book, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp.149-186.
- BELL, S., TYRVÄINEN, L., SIEVÄNEN, T., PRÖBSTL, U. & SIMPSON, M. (2007) Outdoor recreation and nature tourism: A European perspective. *Living Reviews in Landscape Research*. ZALF.
- BENSEN, R.E. (1982) Management consequences of alternative harvesting and residual treatment practices: lodgepole pine. USDA Forest Service, General Technical Report INT-132, 58 pp.
- BENSON, J. F. & WILLIS, K. G. (1992) Valuing informal recreation on the Forestry Commission estate. Forestry Commission, UK.
- BENSON, R.E. (1974) Lodgepole pine logging residues: Management alternatives. USDA Forest Service Research Paper INT-160. Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Ogden, Utah.
- BENSON, R.E., ULLRICH, J.R. (1981) Visual impacts of forest management activities: findings on public preferences. USDA Forest Serv. Res. Pap. INT 262, 14p.
- BERNASCONI, A. & SCHROFF, U. (2003) Erholung und Walddynamik: Verhalten, Erwartungen und Zahlungsbereitschaft von Waldbesuchern in der Region Bern. Hrsg: Arbeitsgemeinschaft für den Wald (AFW) und Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft (BUWAL), Eidgenössische Forstdirektion.

- BERNATH, K., ROSCHEWITZ, A. & STUDHALTER, S. (2006) Die Wälder der Stadt Zürich als Erholungsraum. Besuchsverhalten der Stadtbevölkerung und Bewertung der Walderholung. Eidgenössische Forschungsanstalt für Wald, Schnee und Landschaft WSL. Birmensdorf. 43S.
- BERNATH, K., ELSASSER, P. & ROSCHEWITZ, A. (2007) Reduktion zufallsbedingter und systematischer Fehler aus Zielgebietsbefragungen: Theorie und empirische Ergebnisse einer Waldbesucherbefragung in Zürich [Reducing systematic and random biases in on-site data: Theory and empirical results of a survey among forest visitors in Zurich]. Allgemeine Forst- und Jagdzeitung, 178, 109-120.
- BERNINGER, K., KNEESHAW, D., & MESSIER, C. (2009) Effects of presenting forest simulation results on the forest values and attitudes of forestry professionals and other forest users in Central Labrador. *Forest Policy and Economics* 11 (2009) 126-133.
- BLASCO, E., GONZÁLEZ-OLABARRIA, J.R., RODRÍGUEZ-VEIGA, P., PUKKALA, T., KOLHEMAINEN, O. & PALAHÍ, M. (2008, in process) Predicting scenic beauty of forest stands in Catalonia (North-east Spain).
- BLISS, J. C. (2000) Public perceptions of clearcutting. Journal of Forestry, 98, 4-9.
- BONET, J. A., PUKKALA, T., FISCHER, C. R., PALAHÍ, M., MARTÍNEZ DE ARAGÓN, J. & COLINAS, C. (2008) Empirical models for predicting the production of wild mushrooms in Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) forests in the Central Pyrenees. Ann. For. Sci, 65.
- BONNIEUX, F., CARPENTIER, A. & PAOLI, J.C. (2006) Aménagement et protection de la forêt méditerranéenne : application de la méthode des programmes en Corse [Preferences of residents and visitors regarding forest protection and management in Corsica: the Bonifatu case study]. *Inra Sciences sociales*, 6.
- BOSTEDT, G., MATTSSON, L. (1995) The value of forests for tourism in Sweden. Ann. Tour. Res. 22, 671-680.
- BOSTEDT, G. & MATTSSON, L. (2006) A note on benefits and costs of adjusting forestry to meet recreational demands. *Journal of Forest Economics*, 12, 75-81.
- BOSTER, R.S. & DANIEL, T.C. (1972) Measuring public responses to vegetative management. In: Proceedings: 16th annual Arizona watershed symposium. Arizona Water Commission, Phoenix, Arizona.
- BRADLEY, G.A. & KEARNEY, A.R. (2007) Public and professional responses to the visual effects of timber harvesting: Different ways of seeing. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry*, 22, 42-54.
- BRAINARD, J., BATEMAN, I. & LOVETT, A. (2001) Modelling demand for recreation in English woodlands. *Forestry*, 74, 423-437.
- BRAUN, A. (2000) Wahrnehmung von Wald und Natur. Leske und Budrich, Opladen.
- BREMAN, P. (1997) La demande sociale et ses repercussions sur l'aménagement de l'espace: le cas des boisements artificiels dans les paysages ruraux de plaine et de moyenne montagne. XI World forestry Congress. Antalya, Turkey, 13-22 October 1997. (Social pressure and its impacts on spatial planning: case study of artificial afforestation in rural plain and medium altitude landscapes).
- BREMAN, P. (2002) Les lisires forestières, zones de contact privilègiées, zones de transition, zones d'enjeux. Programme Life: urban woods for people. Seminar proceedings, Paris 25-26-27 November 2002. (Forest edges: Special contact zones, transition zones, challenging zones).
- BREY, R., RIERA, P. & MOGAS, J. (2007) Estimation of forest values using choice modelling: An application to Spanish forests. *Ecological Economics*, 64, 305-312.
- BROADHURST, R. & HARROP, P. (2000) Forest tourism: Putting policy into practice in the Forestry Commission. IN FONT, X. & TRIBE, J. (Eds.) *Forest tourism and recreation: case studies in environmental management*. Wallingford, Oxford, CABI Publishing.
- BROWN, P.J. & STANKEY, G.H. (1981) A technique for recreation planning and management in tomorrow's forest. XVII IUFRO World Congress, Proceedings Division 6, Japan, pp. 63-73.
- BROWN, T.C. (1987) Production and cost of scenic beauty: examples for a Ponderosa Pine forest. *Forest Science*, 33, 394-410.
- BROWN, T.C. & DANIEL, T.C. (1984) Modeling forest scenic beauty: concepts and application to Ponderosa Pine. USDA Forest Service Research Paper RM-256.
- BROWN, T.C. & DANIEL, T.C. (1986) Predicting scenic beauty of timber stands. *Forest Science*, 32, 471-487.

- BROWN, T.C. & DANIEL, T.C. (1987) Context effects in perceived environmental quality assessment: scene selection and landscape quality ratings. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 7, 233-250.
- BRUN-CHAIZE, M.C. (1976) Forest scenery: An analysis of public preferences d'Orleans Center of Forestry Research, Document No. 76/14, Orleans, France.
- BRUNSON, M. & SHELBY, B. (1992) Assessing recreational and scenic quality: How does new forestry rate? *Journal of forestry*, July, 37-41.
- BRUNSON, M.W. & REITER, D.K. (1996) Effects of ecological information on judgements about scenic impacts of timber harvest. *J. Environ. Manage.* 46: 31-41.
- BRUSH, R. (1976) Perceived quality of scenic and recreational environments. Some methodological issues. In: CRAIK, K.H. & ZUBE, E.H. (eds.). Perceiving Environmental Quality: Research and Applications. *Environ. Sci. Res.* 9: 47-58.
- BRUSH, R.O. (1978) Forests can be managed for esthetics: A study of forest-land owners in Massachusetts. Pp. 349-360 in: HOPKINS, G., CORDELL, H.K., GERHOLD, H. & WOOD, L. (eds.), Proceedings of the national urban forestry conference. College of Environmental Science and Forestry Publication Number 80-003. State University of New York, Syracuse, New York.
- BRUSH, R.O. (1979) The attractiveness of woodlands: Perceptions of forest landowners in Massachusetts. *Forest Science* 25: 495-506.
- BUHYOFF, G.J., HULL, R.B., LIEN, J.N. & CORDELL, H.K. (1986) Prediction of scenic quality for southern pine stands. *Forest Science*, 32(3): 769-778.
- BUIST, L.J. & HOOTS, T.A. (1982) Recreation opportunity spectrum approach to resource planning. Society of American Foresters, February, 84-86.
- BURGESS, J. (1995) Growing in confidence. Countryside Commission, London.
- CAMPOS, P., CAPARRÓS, P. & SANJURJO, E. (2005) Valuing Mediterranean forests: towards economic value. Chapter 21: Spain. pp 319-330.
- CAPARRÓS GASS, A. & CAMPOS PALACÍN, P. (2002) Valoración de los usos recreativo y paisajístico en los pinares de la sierra de Guadarrama. *Revista española de estudios agrosociales y pesqueros* 159, 121-146.
- CHRISTIE, M., HANLEY, N., GARROD, B., HYDE, T., LYONS, N., BERGMANN, A. & HYNES, S. Valuing Forest Recreation Activities: Final Phase 2 Report. *Report to the Forestry Commission*. Institute of Rural Sciences, University of Wales, Aberystwyth; The Environmental Economics Research Group, University of Stirling; Socio-Economic Research Services Ltd.
- CLOKE, P. & JONES, O. (2000) From wasteland to woodland to 'Little Switzerland': Environmental and recreational management in place, culture and time. In: FONT, X. & TRIBE, J. (Eds.) *Forest tourism and recreation: case studies in environmental management.* Wallingford, Oxford, CABI Publishing.
- COLE, D.N., WATSON, A.E. & ROGGENBUCK, J.W. (1995) Trends in wilderness visitors and visits: boundary waters conoe area, shining rock, and desolation wildernesses. US For. Serv. Res. Pap. Intermt. Res. Sta., no. INT-RP-483.
- COLES, R.W. & BUSSEY, S.C. (2000) Urban woodland landscapes in the UK progressing the social agenda, *Landscape and Urban Planning* 52: 181–188.
- COOK, W.L. Jr. (1972) An evaluation of the aesthetic quality of forest trees. *Journal of Leisure Research* 4:293-302.
- CREGAN, M. & MURPHY, W. (2006) A review of forest recreation research needs in Ireland. COFORD, National Council for Forest Research and Development, Dublin, Ireland.
- DANIEL, T.C. & BOSTER, R.S. (1976). Measuring landscape aesthetics: the scenic beauty method. USDA *Forest Service Research Paper* RM-167, 66p. Rocky Mountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- DANIEL, T.C. & SCHROEDER, H. (1979) Scenic beauty estimation model: Predicting perceived beauty of forest landscapes. Pages 514-523 in: G.H. ELSNER & SMARDON, R.C. (eds.). Our national landscape: Proceedings of a conference on applied techniques for analysis and management of the visual resource. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report PSW-35. Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, Berkeley, California.

- DANIEL. T.C. & VINING, J. (1983) Methodological issues in the assessment of landscape quality. In: ALTMAN, I. and WOHLWILL, J.F. (1983). Behavior and the natural environment (human behaviour and environment, Vol. 6). Plenum Press, New York NY, pp 39-84.
- DANIEL, T.C., BROWN, T.C., KING, D.A., RICHARDS, M.T. & STEWART, W.P. (1989) Perceived scenic beauty and contingent valuation of forest campgrounds. *Forest Science*, 35, 76-90.
- DEARDEN, P. (1984) Factors influencing landscape preferences: An empirical investigation. Landscape planning 11: 293-306.
- DEGENER, P. (1963) En Undersogelse af Publikums Krav til Skoven. Dansk Sovforenings Tidsskrift 48: 489-548.
- DE GROOT, R. & RAMAKRISHNAN, P.S. 2005. Cultural and amenity services. pp 455-476 in: Ecosystems and human wellbeing volume 1: current state and trends. Millenium Ecosystem Assessment, Global Assessment Reports.
- DEL SAZ SALAZAR, S. & PÉREZ Y PÉREZ, L. (1999) El valor de uso recreativo del Parque Natural de L'Albufera a través del método indirecto del coste de viaje. *Estudios de agronomía aplicada*, 11, 41-62.
- DESPRES, A. & NORMANDIN, D. (1998) Demande et Evaluation des services écologiques et récréatifs des forêts en Lorraine. [Demand and evaluation of ecological and recreational services of forests in Lorraine]. Convention INRA DERF 01.40.27/96.
- DOBRÉ, M., LEWIS, N., DEUFFICE, P., & GRANET, A-M (2005) La frequentation des forêts en France: permanences et evolutions Rendez-vous techniques de l'ONF no 9. (Frequentation of forests in France: persistent figures and evolutions).
- ECHELBERGER, H.E. (1979) The semantic differential in landscape research. Pp 524-531 in ELSNER, G.H. & SMARDON, R.C. (eds.). Our national landscape: Proceedings of a conference on applied techniques for analysis and management of the visual resource. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report PSW-35. Pacific Southwest Forest and Range Experiment Station, Berkeley, California.
- ECKERBERG, K. (1995) Multiple-use forestry administration, legislation and interest groups. In: HYTÖNEN, M. (Ed.) *Multiple-use forestry in the Nordic countries*. METLA, The Finnish Forest Research Institute.
- EDWARDS, D., ELLIOTT, A., HISLOP, M., MARTIN, S., MORRIS, J., PEACE, A., SARAJEVS, V., SERRAND, M. & VALATIN, G. (2009). A valuation of the economic and social contribution of forestry for people in Scotland. Forestry Commission, Edinburgh, UK.
- EDWARDS, D., JENSEN, F.S., MARZANO, M., MASON, B., PIZZIRANI, S. & SCHELHAAS, M-J. (in press) A theoretical framework to assess the impacts of forest management on the recreational value of European forests. Ecological Indicators.
- EDWARDS, D., JAY, M., JENSEN, F., LUCAS, B., MARZANO, M., MONTAGNE, C., PEACE, A. & WEISS, G. (2010) Assessment of the recreational value of European forest management alternatives. EFORWOOD Deliverable D2.3.6, Forest Research, UK.
- ELSASSER, P. (1994) Waldbesucher in Hamburg Ergebnisse einer Bürgerbefragung im Hamburger Stadtgebiet. Arbeitsbericht des Instituts für Őkonomie 94/4, Bundesforschungsanstalt für Forstund Holzwirtschaft, Hamburg, 13pp.
- ELSASSER, P. (1999) Recreational benefits of forests in Germany. In: C.S. ROPER, & PARK, A. (eds.): The living forest: non-market benefits of forestry. London: The Stationery Office, pp. 175-183.
- ELSASSER, P. & MEYERHOFF, J. (2007) A bibliography and data base on environmental benefit valuation studies in Austria, Germany and Switzerland. Part I: Forestry studies. Hamburg: Bundesforschungsanstalt für Forst- und Holzwirtschaft. Arbeitsbericht des Instituts für Ökonomie 2007/01. 14pp.
- ENGLIN, J. & MENDELSOHN, R. (1991) A hedonic travel cost analysis for valuation of multiple components of site quality: The recreation value of forest management. *Journal of enviornmental economics and managment*.
- ENTEC & EERG. (1997) Valuing landscape improvements in British forests. Report to Forestry Commission. May 1997. Entec UK Ltd in association with Wood Holmes Marketing and Environmental Economics Research Group, University of Stirling.

- FARRÉ PERDIGUER, M. (2003) El valor del uso recreativo de los espacios naturales protegidos. Una aplicación de los métodos de valoración contingente y del coste de viaje. *Estudios de economía aplicada*, 21, 297-320.
- FONT, X. & TRIBE, J. (2000) Recreation, conservation and timber production: a sustainable relationship? In: FONT, X. & TRIBE, J. (Eds.) *Forest tourism and recreation: case studies in environmental management.* Wallingford, Oxford, CABI publishing.
- FORAN, B. & WARDLE, K. (1995) Transitions in land-use and the problems of planning: A case study from the mountainlands of New Zealand. *Journal of Environmental Management* 43: 97-127.
- FOSTER, J. (Ed.) (1997) Valuing Nature? Ethics, economics and the environment, London, Routledge.
- FREULER, B. & HUNZIKER, M. (2007) Recreation activities in protected areas: bridging the gap between the attitudes and behaviour of snowshoe walkers. *For. Snow. Landsc. Res*, 81, 191-206.
- FRITZBØGER, B. & SØNDERGAARD, P. (1995) A short history of forest uses. In: HYTÖNEN, M. (Ed.) Multiple-use forestry in the Nordic countries. METLA, The Finnish Forest Research Institute.
- FRIVOLD, L.H. (1991) Synen på blandskog tiderna (views of mixed stands through the ages) [In Swedish]. Skog & Forskning 2, 6-10.
- FULLER, R.J., GOUGH, S.J., & MARCHANT, J.H. (1995) Bird populations in new lowland woods: landscape, design and management perspectives. In: FERRIS-KAAN, R. (Ed.), The Ecology of Woodland Creation. Wiley, Chichester, pp. 163-182.
- GARROD, G. & WILLIS, K. (1992) Valuing goods' characteristics: an application of the Hedonic Price Method to environmental attributes. Journal of Environmental Managemen, 34(1): 59-76.
- GARROD, G. (2002) Landscape benefits. In: WILLIS, K., GARROD, G., SCARPA, R., POWE, N., LOVETT, A., BATEMAN, I., HANLEY, N. & MACMILLAN, D. (2003) *The Social and Environmental benefits of Forestry in Great Britain.* Centre for Research in Environmental Appraisal and Management, University of Newcastle, UK.
- GILBERT, O.L. (1989) The ecology of Urban Habitats. Chapman and Hall, London.
- GOBSTER, P. H. (1999) An ecological aesthetic for forest landscape management. Landscape Journal, 18, 54-64.
- GONZÁLEZ, M., POLOMÉ, P., PRADA, A. & VÁZQUEZ, M.X. (2001) Preferencias sociales sobre los espacios rurales de vocación forestal en la región atlántica de la Península Ibérica. La multifuncionalidad de los espacios rurales de la Peninsula Iberica : Actas del IV Coloquio Hispano-Portugués de Estudios Rurales. ISBN 84-600-9729-3.
- GORDON, T.J. (1994) *The Delphi Method*. Futures Research Methodology, AC/UNU Millennium Project. Amereican Council for the United Nations University.
- GUNDERSEN, V., FRIVOLD, L.H., LÖFSTRÖM, I., JØRGENSEN, B.B., FALCK, J. & ØYEN, B.-H. (2005) Urban woodland management - The case of 13 major Nordic cities. *Urban Forestry* & *Urban Greening*, 3, 189-202.
- GUNDERSEN, V.S. & FRIVOLD, L.H. (2005) Integrating visual structures in urban silvicultre: A review of Fennoscandian preference studies and a proposal for a zoning model.
- GUNDERSEN, V.S. & FRIVOLD, L.H. (2008) Public preferences for forest structures: a review of quantitative surveys from Finland, Norway and Sweden. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 7: 241-258.
- GUSTAVSSON, R., FRANSSON, L. (1991) Furulunds Fure en skog i samhällets centrum. Stad and Land 96, Alnarp (in Swedish).
- GUSTKE, L.D. & HODGSON, R.W. (1980) Rate of travel along an interpretive trail: The effect of an environmental discontinuity. *Environment and Behaviour* 12:53-63.
- GUYON, J., LE LOËT, N., DIEPSTRATEN, M. & ORAZIO, C. (2004) Les représentations sociétales de la forêt d'Aquitaine.[social perceptions and representations of forests in Aquitaine].
- HAAKENSTAD, H. (1972) Forest management in an area of outdoor life. An investigation of public opinion about Oslomarka. Survey A and Survey B. Meldinger fra Norges Landbrukshøgskole No. 16. Agricultural University of Norway, Ås (in Norwegian, with English summary).

- HAAKENSTAD, H. (1975) Silviculture in recreational areas. The forest and outdoor life in two model areas in Oslomarka. Agricultural University of Norway, Ås (in Norwegian, with English summary).
- HALLIKAINEN, V. (1998) The Finnish Wilderness Experience. Research Notes 711. The Finnish Forest Research Institute, Finland.
- HARSHAW, H.W., SHEPPARD, S.R.J. & KOZAK, R.A. (2007) Outdoor recreation and forest management: A plea for empirical data. *The Forestry Chronicle*, 83, 231-238.
- HAY, R. (1998) Sense of place in development context. *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 18: 5-29.
- HEEG, B. (1971) Meinungsbefragungen im Bereich der Forstpolitik. Forstarchiv 11: 217-223.
- HEINO, J. (1974) Finlands stadsägda skogar ketraktade spaciellt ur friluftssynvinkel. (City-owned forests in Finland with special reference to outdoor recreation.) *Folia Forestalia*, 223.
- HEKHUIS, H.J. & WIEMAN, E.A.P. (1999) economics and management: costs, revenues and function fulfilment of nature conservation and recreation values of mixed, uneven-aged forests in The Netherlands. In: OLSTHOORN, A. F. M., BARTELINK, H. H., GARDINER, J. J., PRETZSCH, H., HEKHUIS, H. J. & FRANC, A. (Eds.) *Management of mixed-species forest: silviculture and economics*. Wageningen (Netherlands), Instituut voor Bos-en Natuuronderzoek DLO.
- HENDEE, J.C. & HARRIS, R.W. (1970) Foresters' perception of wilderness-user attitudes and preferences. J. For., 68: 759-762.
- HERRMANN, K., SEELAND, K. & ZIMMERMANN, W. (2002) Multifunctional Forestry as a means to rural development (MULTIFOR RD). Country report, Switzerland.
- HERZOG, T.R. (1984) A cognitive analysis of preference for field-and-forest environments. Landscape Research 9.10-16.
- HERZOG, T.R. (1992) A cognitive analysis of preference for urban spaces. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 12, 237-248.
- HERZOG, T.R., & KUTZLI, G.E. (2002) Preference and perceived danger in field/forest settings. *Environment and Behavior*, 34, 858-874.
- HERZOG, T.R. & KROPSCOTT, L.S. (2004) Legibility, mystery, and visual access as predictors of preference and perceived danger in forest settings without pathways. *Environment and Behavior*, 36, 659-677.
- HERZOG, T.R. & KIRK,K. M. (2005) Pathway curvature and border visibility as predictors of preference and danger in forest settings. *Environment and Behaviour*, 37, 620-639.
- HILL, G., COURTNEY, P., BURTON, R. & POTTS, J. (2003) Forests' role in tourism: Phase 2. Report to Forestry Commission, Edinburgh, UK.
- HJORTSØ, C. N. & STRÆDE, S. (2001) Strategic multiple use forest planning in Lithuania applying multi-criteria decision making and scenario analysis for decision support in an economy in transition. *Forest Policy and Economics*, 3, 175-188.
- HOFFENBERG, P.H. (2001) Landscape, memory and the Australian war experience, 1915-18. Journal of Contemporary History 36: 111-131.
- HOLGÉN, P., MATTSSON, L. & LI, C.Z. (2000) Recreation values of boreal forest stand types and landscapes resulting from different silviculture systems: an economic analysis. *Journal of Environmental Management* 60, 173-180.
- HORNE, P., BOXALL, P. C. & ADAMOWICZ, W. L. (2005) Multiple –use management of forest recreation sites: A spatially explicit choice experiment. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 207, 189-199.
- HUFNAGL, L. (1939) Die Waldschönheit und ihre Pflege. Springer, Wien.
- HULL B., BUHYOFF, G. & CORDELL, H. (1987) Psychophysical models: an example with scenic beauty perceptions of roadside pine forests. *Landscape J*. 6(2), 113-122.
- HULL, R.B., BUHYOFF, G.J. & DANIEL, T.C. (1984) Measurement of scenic beauty: the law of comparative judgment and scenic beauty estimation procedures. *Forest Science*, 30, 1084-1096.
- HULL, R.B. & BUHYOFF, G.J. (1986) The scenic beauty temporal distribution method: an attempt to make scenic beauty assessments compatible with forest planning efforts. *For. Sci.* 32, 271-286.
- HULTMAN, S.C. (1979) Friluftsskogen I folkets ögon (The recreation forest in people's minds). Sveriges Skogsvårdsförbunds Tidskrift 77, 32-49 (in Swedish).

- HULTMAN, S.G. (1981) The forester's work role for good and for bad. Sveriges Skogsvårdsförbunds Tidskrift 79, 15-34 (in Swedish with English summary).
- HULTMAN, S.G. (1983) Public judgement of forest environments as recreation areas. 2. A national survey. Report No. 28, Section of Environmental Forestry, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala (in Swedish, with English summary).
- HUNT, G. (2000) Writing an environmental plan for the community Forest of Mercia, England. In: FONT, X. & TRIBE, J. (Eds.) *Forest tourism and recreation: case studies in environmental management*. Wallingford, UK, CABI publishing.
- HUNZIKER, M. (1995) The spontaneous reafforestation in abandoned agricultural lands: Perception and aesthetic assessment by locals and tourists. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 31: 399-410.
- HUNZIKER, M. & KIENAST, F. (1999) Potential impacts of changing agricultural activities on scenic beauty a prototypical technique for automated rapid assessment. *Landscape Ecology*, 14, 161-176.
- HUNZIKER, M., BUCHECKER, M. & HARTIG, T. (2007) Space and Place Two aspects of the human-landscape relationship. IN KIENAST, F. & WILDI, O., GHOSH, S. (Eds.) *A Changing World. Challenges for Landscape Research.* Springer.
- HUNZIKER, M., FELBER, P., GEHRING, K., BUCHECKER, M., BAUER, N. & KIENAST, F. (2008) Evaluation of landscape change by different societal groups: Results of two empirical studies in Switzerland. *Mountain Research and Development*, 28, 140-147.
- HYTÖNEN, M. (1995a) History, evolution and significance of the multiple-use concept. In; HYTÖNEN, M. (Ed.) *Multiple-use forestry in the Nordic countries*. METLA, The Finnish Forest Research Institute.
- HYTÖNEN, M. (Ed.) (1995b) *Multiple-use in the Nordic countries*, METLA, The Finnish Forest Research Institute.
- HOEN, H.F. & WINTHER, G. (1993) Multiple use forestry and preservation of coniferous forests in Norway. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 8, 266-280.
- HÖRNSTEN, L. (2000) Outdoor recreation in Swedish forests implications for society and forestry. Department of Forest Management and Products. Uppsala, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- HÖRNSTEN, L. & FREDMAN, P. (2000) On distance to recreational forests in Sweden. *Landscape* and Urban Planning, 51, 1-10.
- IHALAINEN, M. & PUKKALA, T. (2001) Modelling cowberry (Vaccinium vitis-idaea) and bilberry (Vaccinium myrtillus) yields from mineral soils and peatlands on the basis of visual field estimates. *Silva Fennica*, 35, 329-340.
- JAATINEN, E. (1976) Visitors' opinions concerning the forest recreation areas of Helsinki. Publication No. YB 7/76, Helsingin Kaupunkisuunnitteluvirasto, yleiskaavaosaston julkaisu, Helsinki (in Finnish, with English summary).
- JANOWSKY, D.V. & BECKER, G. (2003) Characteristics and needs of different user groups in the urban forest of Stuttgart. *JOurnal for Nature Conservation*, 11, 251-259.
- JENSEN, F.S. (1993) Landscape Managers' and politicians perception of the forest and landscape preferences of the population. *Forest and Landscape Research*, 1, 79-93.
- JENSEN, F.S. (1995) Forest recreation. In: HYTÖNEN, M. (Ed.) *Multiple-use forestry in the Nordic countries*. METLA, The Finnish Forest Research Institute.
- JENSEN, F.S. (2000) The effects of information on Danish forest visitors' acceptance of various management actions. *Forestry*, 73, 165-172.
- JENSEN, F.S. (1997) Changes in the forest preferences of the Danish population from 1977 to 1994. In: JENSEN, F.S. 1999 Forest Recreation in Denmark from the 1970s to the 1990s. The Research Series, Vol 26. Danish Forest and Landscape Research Institute, Hørsholm. 166 pp.
- JENSEN, F.S. & KOCH, N.E. (1997) Friluftsliv i skovene 1976/77 1993/94. (Outdoor recreation in the forest 1976/77 1993/94). *The Research Series no. 20-1997, Danish Forest and Landscape Research Institute, Hørsholm.*, 215pp.
- JENSEN, F.S. & KOCH, N.E. (Eds.) (1998) *Measuring forest preferences of the population: a Danish approach*, COST, Cemagref editions.
- JENSEN, F.S. (1999) Forest Recreation in Denmark from the 1970s to the 1990s. The Research Series, Vol. 26. Danish Forest and Landscape Research Institute, Hørsholm. 166 pp.

JOHNSON, R.L., BRUNSON, M.W. & KIMURA, T. (1994) Using image-capture technology to assess scenic value at the urban/forest interface: a case study. J. Environ. Manage. 40: 183-195.

- JONES, A., BATEMAND, I. & WRIGHT, J. (2003) Estimating arrival numbers and values for informal recreational use of British woodlands: Final report to the Forestry Commission. CSERGE, University of East Anglia.
- JUDS, M. (2006) Naturtourismus. Untersuchung eines buchbaren Angebotes im Südschwarzwald. Freiburg University.
- KALTENBORN, B. P. & BJERKE, T. (2002) Associations between environmental value orientations and landscape preferences. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 59, 1-11.
- KANGAS, J. & NIEMELÄ, P. (1995) Kansalaismielipide Suomen metistä ja metsien hoidosta ja käytöstä. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Notes 561, 24pp. (In Finnish).
- KANGAS, J. & NIEMELÄINEN, P. (1996) Opinion of forest owners and the public on forests and their use in Finland. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 11, 269-280.
- KAPLAN, S., KAPLAN, R. & WENDT, J.S. (1972) Rated preference and complexity for natural and urban visual material. Percept Psychophys 12: 354-365.
- KAPLAN, S. (1979) Concerning the power of content-identifying methodologies. In: DANIEL, T.C.
 & ZUBE, E.H. (Eds.) Assessing amenity resource values (Tech. Rep. No. RM-68, pp. 4-13).
 Fort Collings, CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service.
- KAPLAN, R. (1985) The analysis of perception via preference: a strategy for studying how the environment is experienced. *Landscape planning*, 12, 161-176.
- KAPLAN, R. & KAPLAN, S. (1989) The experience of nature a psychological perspective. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- KAPLAN, R., KAPLAN, S. & BROWN, T. (1989) Environmental preference A comparison of four domains of predictors. *Env Behav* 21; 509-530.
- KAPLAN, R., KAPLAN, S., & RYAN, R.L. (1998) With people in mind: Design and management of everyday nature. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- KAPLAN, S. (1992) Environmental preference in a Knowledge-Seeking, Knowledge-Using Organism. In: BARKOW, J.H.; COSMIDES, L. & TOOBY, J. (eds) *The Adapted Mind*, *Evolutionary Psychology and the Generation of Culture*, Oxford University Press, New York. Pp. 581-598.
- KARDELL, L. (1978) Hyggen behöver dom vara fula? (Clearcuts Do they have to be ugly?) Sveriges Skogsvårdsförbunds Tidskrift 76, 385-433 (in Swedish, with English summary).
- KARDELL, L. (1990) Talltorpsmon I Åtvidaberg. I. Förändringar I upplevelsen av skogen mellan 1978 och 1989 (Talltorpsmon I Åtvidaberg. I. Changes in the perception of the forest vetween 1978 and 1989). Report No 46, Section of Environmental Forestry, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala (in Swedish).
- KARDELL, L. (2001) Ett Kvartssekel med några luckblädningsförsök i Uppsalatrakten (1976-2001).
 (A quarter century with some group selection experiments in the Uppsala area, 1976-2001).
 Report no. 90, Section of Environmental Forestry, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala (in Swedish).
- KARDELL, L., HULTMAN, S.G., JOHANSSON, M.L. & SVEDIN, P. (1977) Konsekvenser för det rörliga friluftslivet av helträd-sutnyttjande. Några attitydtester (Consequences of whole tree havesting for outdoor life: some attitude tests). Report No. 7, section of Environmental Forestry, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala (in Swedish).
- KARDELL, L & HOLMER, M. (1985) Friluftslivets förändringar på Bogesundslandet 1969-1982. Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet, Avdelningen för landskapsvård, Rapport nr. 33, Uppsala.
- KARDELL, L. & MÅRD, H. (1989) Några gruppers attityder till stubbrytning. Dept of Environmental Forestry, Swed. Univ. of Agric. Sci., Report 41, 87pp. (In Swedish).
- KARDELL, L. & WALLSTEN, P. (1989) Några gruppers attityder till *Pinus contorta* (some groups' attitudes to *Pinus contorta*). Report No. 40, section of Environmental Forestry, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala (in Swedish).
- KARDELL, L. & LINDHAGEN, A. (1998) Ett Försök med stamvis blädning på Ekenäs.
 Skogstillstånd, markvegetation samt attityder (An experiment with single-tree selection at Ekenäs. Forest condition, ground vegetation and attitudes). Report No. 77, section of Environmental Forestry, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala (in Swedish).

- KARHU, I. & KELLOMÄKI, S. (1980) Effects of silvicultural practice on amenity of the forest landscape: A study on attitudes among inhabitants of Puolanka, North-eastern Finland. *Silva Fennica*, 14, 409-428.
- KARJALAINEN, E. (1996) Scenic preferences concernig clear-fell areas in Finland. Landscape Research, 21, 159-173.
- KARJALAINEN, E. (2000) Metsänhoitovaihtoehtojen arvostus ulkoilualueilla (Preferences for forest management alternatives in recreational areas). In: SAARINEN, J. & RAIVO, P.J. (Eds.), Metsä, harju ja järvi: Näkökulmia suomalaiseen maisematutkimukseen ja –suunnitteluun. The Finnish Forest Research Institute, Rovaniemi (in Finnish).
- KARJALAINEN, E. (2006) The visual preferences for forest regeneration and field afforestation four case studies in Finland. PhD. Thesis, Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Biosciences, University of Helsinki, Helsinki.
- KARJALAINEN, E. & KOMULAINEN, M. (1998) Field afforestation preferences: a case study in northeastern Finland. Landscape and Urban Planning 43, 79-90.
- KARJALAINEN, E. & KOMULAINEN, M. (1999) The visual effect of felling on small- and medium-scale landscapes in north-eastern Finalnd. *J. Environ. Manage.* 55, 167-181.
- KARJALAINEN, E. & TYRVÄINEN, L. (2002) Visualisation in landscape preference research: a review of Finnish forest visualisation systems. Landscape and Urban Planning, 59(1): 13-28.
- KAŠPAROVÁ, K. & ZDRAŽIL, V. (2006) Tourist attractiveness and the intensity of recreational use of Prague suburban forests. *Ekológia (Bratislava)*, 25, 53-67.
- KEARNEY, A., BRADLEY, G., KAPLAN, R. & KAPLAN, S. (1999) Stakeholder perspectives on appropriate forest management in the Pacific Northwest. Forest Science 1: 62-73.
- KEITH, T. (1983) Man and the Natural World. Changing Attitudes in England 1500-1800. Penguin, Harmondsworth.
- KELLERT, S.R. (1993). The biological basis for human values of nature. In: Kellert, S.R. and Wilson, E.O. (eds) (1993). The biophilia hypothesis. Island Press, Washington DC.
- KELLOMAKI, S. (1973) Recreational potential of a forest stand. Silva Fennica 12(3): 179-186.
- KELLOMAKI, S. (1975) Forest stand preferences of recreationists. Forestalia Fennica. City of Helsinki Real Estate Department, Forestry and Agriculture Division Document 146.
- KELLOMAKI, S. (1984) The scenic value of the forest landscape as assessed in the field and the laboratory. *Landscape Planning* 11:97-108.
- KELLOMÄKI, S. & SAVOLAINEN, R. (1984) The scenic value of the forest landscape assessed in field and laboratory. Landscape Planning 11, 97-107.
- KELLOMÄKI, S. & PUKKALA, T. (1989) Forest landscape: a method of amenity evaluation based on computer simulation. Landscape and Urban Planning 18, 117-125.
- KENNER, B. & McCOOL, S.F. (1985) Thinning and scenic attractiveness in second growth forests: A preliminary assessment. Research Note 22. Montana Forest and Conservation Experiment Station, University of Montana, Missoula, Montana.
- KLANICKA, S., BUCHERCKER, M., HUNZIKER, M. & MÜLLER-BÖKER, U. (2006) Locals' and Tourists' Sense of Place. A case study of a Swiss Alpine Village. *Mountain Research and Development*, 26, 55-63.
- KLEPAC, D. (1988) The management of forest ecosystems where ecological and social functions predominate. *Annales Forestales Anali Za Šumarstvo*, 14, 13-31.
- KLUKAS, R.W. & DUNCAN, D.P. (1967) Vegetation preferences among Itaska Park visitors. *Journal of Forestry* 65: 18-21.
- KNOPF, R.C. (1987) Human behaviour, cognition and affect in the natural environment. In: STOKOLS, D. & ALTMAN, I. (eds.). Handbook of Environmental Phychology, pp. 783-826. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- KOCH, N.E. & JENSEN, F.S. (1988) Forest Recreation in Denamrk. Part IV: The preferences of the population. *Forstl. Forsøgsv. Danm., København,* 41, 243-516 plus secondary appendix.
- KOMULAINEN, M. (1995) Landscape management in forestry. IN HYTÖNEN, M. (Ed.) *Multiple-use forestry in the Nordic countries*. METLA, The Finnish Forest Research Institute.
- KOMULAINEN, M. (1998) Kylämaisema eläväksi asukaskeskeinen suunnittelu maaseudun kehittäjänä. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Notes 682, 128 pp. (In Finnish).

- KONIJNENDIJK, C., NILSSON, K., RANDRUP, T. & SCHIPPERIJN, J. (eds.). (2005) Urban forests and trees. Berlin, Heidelberg and New York: Springer.
- KORHONEN, M. (1983) Suhtautuminen metsäympäristöön ja metsänhoitoon (People's relationship to forest areas and silviculture). Publication No. 12, University of Joensuu (in Finnish).
- LACAZE, J.-F. (2000) Forest management for recreation and conservation:new challenges. *Forestry*, 73, 137-141.
- LANDETA, J. (2006) Current validity of the Delphi method in social sciences. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 73, 467-482.
- LEE, T.R. (1989) What kind of woodland and forests do people prefer? In: TALBOT, H. (ed.), People, trees and woods. Bristol: Countryside Recreation Research Advisory Group.
- LEE, T.R. (1990) Attitudes towards and preferences for forestry landscapes. Report to the Countryside Commission and Forestry Commission, University of St Andrews.
- LEE, T.R. (2001) Perceptions, Attitudes and Preferences in Forests and Woodlands. *Technical Paper* 18, Forestry Commission, Edinburgh.
- LEHMANN, A. (1999) Von Menschen und Bäumen: Die Deutschen und ihr Wald. Rowohlt, Reinbek bei Hamburg.
- LEISEROWITZ, A. (2006) Climate change risk perception and policy preferences: The role of affect, imagery and values. *Climatic Change*, 77, 45-72.
- LEVINE, R.L. & LANGENAU, E.E. Jr. (1979) Attitudes toward clearcutting and their relationships to the patterning and diversity of forest recreation activities. *Forest Science* 25:317-327.
- LIAO, W., NOGAMI, K. (1999) Prediction of near-view scenic beauty in artificial stands of Kinoki. J. For. Res. 4, 93-98.
- LIND, T., ORAUG, J., ROSENFELD, I.S. & ØSTENSEN, E. (1974) Friluftsliv I Oslomarka. Analyse av en intervjuundersøkelse om publikums bruk og krav til Oslomarka (Recreation in Oslomarka. Analysis of an interview survey about people's use of and demands on Oslomarka). Arbeidsrapport No. 8/74, Norwegian Institute for Urban and Regional Research, Oslo (in Norwegian).
- LINDHAGEN, A. (1996) An approach to clarifying public preferences about silvicultural systems: A case study concerning group selection and clear-cutting. *Scand. J. For. Res*, 11, 375-387.
- LINDHAGEN, A. & HÖRNSTEN, L. (2000) Forest recreation in 1977 and 1997 in Sweden: changes in public preferences and behaviour. Forestry 73, 143-151.
- LINDHJEM, H. (2007) 20 years of stated preference valuation of non-timber benefits from Fennoscandian forests: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Forest Economics*, 12, 251-277.
- LINSTONE, H.A. & TUROFF, M. (1975) (eds) The Delphi Method: techniques and applications. Addison Wesley, Boston, MA, USA. 620pp.
- LOTHIAN, A. (1999) Landscape and the philosophy of aesthetics: is landscape quality inherent in the landscape or in the eye of the behonder? Landscape Urban Plan 44: 177-198.
- LOVÉN, L. (1973) Landscape preferences of professional foresters. Silva Fennica 7, 8-23 (in Finnish, with English summary).
- LUCAS, O.W.R. (1991) The design of forest landscapes, 381 pp. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- LUCAS, O. W. R. (1997) Aesthetic considerations in British forestry. Forestry, 70, 343-349.
- LUCAS, R.C. (1985) Visitor characteristics, attitudes, and use patterns in the Bob Marshall wilderness complex, 1970-82. US For. Serv. Res. Pap. Intermit. Res. Sta., no. INT-345.
- DOBRÉ. M., LEWIS, N., DEUFFIC, P. & GRANET, A.-M. (2005) La fréquentation des forêts en France : permanences et évolutions [Frequentation of forest in France : persistent figures and evolutions]. *RDV techniques* 9, pp 49-57, Cemagref, France.
- MANN, C. (2006) Konflikte in Erholungsgebieten Ursachen, Wirkungen und Lösungsansätze. 1. Aufl.. Remagen-Oberwinter (Recreation conflict potential and management implications in the northern/central). *Verlag Kessel. 256 S.*
- MANNING, R. E. (2001) Studies in outdoor recreation: search and research for satisfaction., Corvallis, Oregan State University Press.
- MÄNTYMAA, E. (1998) Kainuulaisten metsäasenteet 1997. REDEC Kajaani, Research Reports 5, 166pp. (In Finnish).
- MARESCA, B. (2001) La fréquentation des forêts publiques en Ile de France: Caractéristiques des flux de visites des franciliens [Frequentation of public forests in Paris peri-urban area :

characteristics of residents' visits flows.]. Étude réalisée dans le cadre de l'évaluation du contrat de plan État-région 1994-1999 de l'Île-de-France, Paris, Agence des espaces verts.

- MARESCA, B., POQUET, G. & MARTIN, O. (2005) Enquête de fréquentation dans la forêt de Sénart et dans les forêts domaniales des Hauts de Seine. [Survey on forest frequentation : the case of the forest of Sénart and other public forests in Hauts-de-Seine (Ile-de-France)]. In: CREDOC (Ed.) Life-environment project. Urban Woods for Peoples. « Demonstration of ways to increase people recreational benefits from urban woodlands » Des enquêtes pour mieux connaître les aspirations des usagers : Tome 1 : Enquête de fréquentation dans la forêt de Sénart et dans les forêts domaniales des Hauts de Seine.
- MARSDEN, T., MILBOURNE, P., KITCHEN, L. & BISHOP, K. (2003) Communities in nature: The construction and understanding of forest natures. *Sociolgica Ruralis*, 43, 239-256.
- MATTSSON, L. & LI, C.Z. (1994a) How do different forest management practices affect the nontimber value of forests ? – An economic analysis. *J. Environ. Manage.* 41, 79-88.
- MATTSSON, L., LI, C.Z. & LUNDQVIST, L. (1995) Hur producerar man både virke och miljö? (How do you produce both timber and environment?) *Skog & Forskning* 1, 45-51 (in Swedish).
- MAVSAR, R. & RIERA, P. (2007) Valoración económica de las principales externalidades de los bosques mediterráneos españoles. Informe final. Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, España.
- MCCOOL, S.F., BENSON, R.E. & ASHOR, J.L. (1986) How the public perceives the visual effects of timber harvesting : and evaluation of interest group preferences. *Environ. Manage.* 10 : 385-391.
- MIÉVILLE-OTT, V. & BARBEZAT, V. (2005) Perceptions du pâturage boisé : résultats d'un sondage effectué au Communal de La Sagne NE. *Journal forestier suisse* 156, 1 : 1-12. Rédaction: SFV, CH. (Perceptions of forested pasture lands: a survey).
- MIKOLA, P. (1982) Suomen metsämaiseman kehitys. Summary: Development of the Finnish forest landscape. Terra 94(1): 56-63.
- MILL, G. A., VAN RENSBURG, T.M. & HYNES, S.D., C. (2007) Preferences for multiple use forest management in Ireland: Citizen and consumer perspectives. *Ecological Economics*, 60, 642-653.
- MOIGNEU, T. (2002) Organiser l'accueil dans les forêts périurbaines (organizing reception facilities in periurban forests). Programme Life: urban woods for people. Seminar proceedings, Paris 25-26-27 November 2002.
- MUHAR, A., ARNBERGER, A. & BRANDENBURG, C. (2002) Methods for visitor monitoring in recreational and protected areas: an overview. In: ARNBERGER, A., BRANDENBURG, C. & MUHAR, A. (Eds.) *Monitoring and Management of Visitor Flows in Recreational and Protected Areas.*
- MÜDERRISOĞLU, H., EROĞLU, E., ÖZKAN, Ş. & KIVANÇ, A. (2006) Visual perception of tree forms. *Building and Environment*, 41, 796-806.
- NIELSEN, A. B., OLSEN, S. B. & LUNDHEDE, T. (2007) An economic valuation of the recreational benefits associated with nature-based forest management practices. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 80, 63-71.
- NOUISAINEN, I. & PUKKALA, T. (1992) Use of computer graphics for predicting the amenity of forest trials. *Silva Fennica* 26, 241-250.
- NOVAKOWSKI, N. & WELLAR, B. (2008) Using the Delphi technique in normative planning research: methodological design considerations. *Environment and Planning A*, 40: 1485-1500.
- ODDEN, A. (2004) Friluftsliv og ungdom: tradisjoner og trender (Outdoor recreation and young people: traditions and trends). DN-notat 2004(3), 110-130 Retrieved March 15, 2008, from www.dirnat.no (in Norwegian).
- ODE, Å. & FRY, G. (2002) Visual aspects in urban woodland management. Urban For Urban Green 1:15-24. [in Tyrvainen et al. 2005]
- O'LEARY, T., MCCORMACK, A. & CLINCH J. (2000) Afforestation in Ireland regional differences in attitude. *Land Use Policy* 17, 39-48.
- O'LEARY, T. & MCCORMACK, A. (1995) Public perception of forestry where to next? In: HYTTINEN, P., KÄHKÖNENM A. & PELLI, P. (eds) Multiple use and environmental values

in forest planning: Proceedings of the International Summer Course, 5. – 10 June 1995, Tohmajärvi, Finland. European Forestry Institute, *EFI Proceedings* 4, Joensuu, 133-146.

- OTT, W. & BAUR, M. (2005) Der monetäre Erholungswert des Waldes. Umwelt-Materialien Nr. 193. Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern. 68 S.
- OTT, W. (1980) Wald und Forstwirtschaft im Spiegel der öffentlichen Meinung. Allg. Forstzeitschrift 15: 397-399.
- PALMER, J.F. (1990) Aesthetics of the northeastern forest: the influence of season and time since harvest. Proceedings of the 1990 Northeastern Recreation Research Symposium. USDA Forest Service, General Technical Report NE-145, pp. 185-190.
- PALMER, J.F. (1997) Stability of landscape perceptions in the face of landscape change. *Landscape Urban Plann.*, 37: 109-113.
- PARSONS, R. (1995) Conflict between ecological sustainability and environmental aesthetics: conundrum, canard or curiosity. *Landscape Urban Planning* 32, 227-244.
- PARSONS, R. & DANIEL, T. C. (2002) Good looking: in defense of scenic landscape aesthetics. Landscape and Urban Planning, 43-56.
- PATEY, R.C., & EVANS, R.M. (1979) Identification of scenically preferred forest landscapes. Pages 532-538 in ELSNER, G.H. AND SMARDON, R.C. (eds.). Our national landscape: Proceedings of a conference on applied techniques for analysis and management of the visual resource. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report PSW-35. Pacific southwest Forest and Ranger Experiment Station, Berkeley, California.
- PINGS, P. (1993) Managing eastern hardwood forest for visual quality. Proceedings of the 1993 Northeastern Recreation Research Symposium. USDA Forest Service, General Technical Report NE-185, pp. 89-93.
- POSAVEC, S. (2001) A discussion on the methods of assessing forest values. *Sumarski list*, 125, 611-617.
- POSAVEC, S. (2006) The selection of biological parameters in the evaluation of natural resources. *Periodicum Biologorum*, 108, 671-676.
- POUTA, E., SIEVÄNEN, T. & HEIKKILA, M. (2000) National outdoor recreation demand and supply in Finland: an assessment project. *Forestry*, 73, 103-106.
- POWELL. M. (1981) Landscape evaluation and the quest for objectivity. *Landscape Research* 6(2), 16-18. [cited in Lee 2001]
- PRICE, C. (1995) The pros and cons of alternative valuation methods, pp 160-77. In: WILLIS, K.G. & CORKINDALE, J.T. (eds). Environmental valuation: new perspectives. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- PRICE, C. (2003) Quantifying the aesthetic benefits of urban forestry. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening 1, 123-33.
- PRICE, C. & CHAMBERS, T.W.M. (2000) Hypotheses about recreational congestion: tests in the Forest of Dean (England) and wider management implications. In: FONT, X. & TRIBE, J. (Eds.) Forest tourism and recreation: case studies in environmental management. Wallingford, Oxford, CABI publishing.
- PRÆSTHOLM, S., JENSEN, F. S., HASLER, B., DAMGAARD, C. & ERICHSEN, E. (2002) Forests improve qualities and values of local areas in Denmark. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 1, 97-106.
- PRÖBSTL, U. (2007) Forests in balance? Forest under the spell of economic, ecological and recreational requirements – Considerations about the European model. Allgemeine Forst und Jagdzeitung, 178, 68-73.
- PUKKALA, T., NUUTINEN, T. & KANGAS, J. (1995) Integrating scenic and recreational amenities into numerical forest planning. *Landscape Urban Plann.* 32, 185-195.
- PUKKALA, T. & KELLOMÄKI, S. (1988) Simulation as a tool in designing forest landscape. Landscape and Urban Planning 16, 253-260.
- PUKKALA, T., KELLOMÄKI, S. & MUSTONEN, E. (1988) Prediction of the amenity of a tree stand. *Scandanavian Journal of Forest Research*, 3, 533-544.
- RADAR, T.D. (1971) A study of surburban forests: Suburban forest landowners and aesthetic values. Unpublished PhD. Thesis, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York.

RAMETSTEINER, E. & KRAXNER, F. (2003) Europeans and their Forests: What Do Europeans think about Forests and Sustainable Forest Management?

- RAUTALIN, M., UUSITALO, J. & PUKKALA, T. (2001) Estimation of tree stand characteristics through computer visualization. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 53, 85-94.
- RIBE, R.G. (1989) The aesthetics of forestry: what has empirical preference research taught us? *Environmental Management* 13, 55-74.
- RIBE, R. (1990) A general model for understanding the perception of scenic beauty in Northern Hardwood forests. *Landscape J*. 9(2), 86-101.
- RIBE, R. (1999) Regeneration harvests versus clearcuts: public views of the acceptability and aesthetics of Nothwest Forest Plan Harvests. *Northwest Science* 73: 102-117.
- RIBE, R. G. (2002) Is scenic beauty a proxy for acceptable management? The influence of environmental attitudes on landscape perceptions. *Environment and behaviour*, 34, 757-780.
- RIBE, R. G. (2005) Aesthetic perceptions of green-tree retention harvests in vista views. The interaction of cut level, retention pattern and harvest shape. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 73, 227-293.
- RIERA, P., DESCALZI, C. & RUIZ, A. (1995) El valor de los espacios de interés natural en España. Aplicación de los métodos de valoración contingente y el coste del desplazamiento. *Revista Española de Economía, monográfico "Recursos naturales y medio ambiente*, 207-229.
- RIERA, P. & MOGAS AMORÓS, J. (2003) Validación del experimento de elección en la transferencia de beneficios. *Hacienda pública española*, 165, 75-95.
- ROLLINS, R. & ROBINSON, D.W. (2002) Social science, conservation, and protected areas. In: DEARDON, P. AND ROLLINS, R. (eds). Parks and protected areas in Canada: planning and management. 2nd ed. Pp 117-147. Oxford University Press, Toronto.
- ROOVER, P., HERMY, M. & GULINCK, H. (2002) Visitor profile, perceptions and expectations in forests from a gradient of increasing urbanisation in central Belgium. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 59, 129-145.
- ROTH, R. & KRÄMER, A. (2000) Entwicklungskonzeption Sporttourismus im Naturpark Südschwarzwald. Forschungsbericht 2 (Tourism and sport in the Nature Park South Black Forest: development conception, second study report.). Inst. für Natursport und Ökologie, Deutsche Sporthochschule Köln. 258S.
- ROZSNYAY, Z. (1972) Ergebnisse eines Jahrzehnts forstlicher Meinungsumfragen. Forstarchiv 8: 149-159.
- ROZSNYAY, Z. (1979) Kennen die Stadtbewohner die Waldbäume? Allg. Forstzeitschrift 1/2: 26-28.
- RUDIS, V.A., GRAMANN, J.H., RUDDELL, E.J. & WESTPHAL, J.M. (1988) Forest inventory and management-based visual preference models of southern pine stands. *Forest Science*, 34, 846-863.
- RUSSELL, D. (2000) Planning for the compatability of recreation and forestry: recent developments in woodland management planning within the National Trust. In: FONT, X. & TRIBE, J. (Eds.) *Forest tourism and recreation:case studies in environmental management.* Wallingford, Oxford, CABI publisher.
- RYDBERG, D. (1998a) Preferences of children and teenagers for various stand densities of young forests in Sweden. (Study IV). PhD. Thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå.
- RYDBERG, D. (1998b) Urban forestry in Sweden: Silvicultural aspects focusing on young forests. PhD. Thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå.
- RYDBERG, D. & FALCK, J. (2000) Urban forestry in Sweden from a silvicultural perspective: A review. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 47, 1-18.
- SAASTAMOINEN, O. (1982) Economics of multiple-use forestry in the Saariselkä forest and fell area. *Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae* 104, 1-102.
- SALISCH, H.v. (1911) Forstästhetik. Julius Springer, Berlin.
- SARLÖV-HERLIN, I. (1994) Woodland edges in the agricultural landscape. Studies of structural characteristics as a base for management, new construction and conservation. Proceedings SNS Multiple Use Group Meeting and Excursion in Vejle, Denmark, 23-25 May, 1993, pp. 29-36.
- SAVOLAINEN, R. & KELLOMÄKI, S. (1981) Scenic value of forest landscape. *Acta. For. Fenn.* 170, 75pp. (in Finnish, with English summary).

- SCARPA, R. (2003) The recreation value of woodlands. In: WILLIS, K., GARROD, G., SCARPA, R., POWE, N., LOVETT, A., BATEMAN, I., HANLEY, N. & MACMILLAN, D. (2003) *The Social and Environmental benefits of Forestry in Great Britain*. Centre for Research in Environmental Appraisal and Management, University of Newcastle, UK.
- SCARPA, R., GEORGE HUTCHINSON, W., CHILTON, S. M. & BUONGIORNO, J. (2000) Importance of forest attributes in the willingness to pay for recreation: a contingent valuation study of Irish forests. *Forest policy and economics*, 1, 315-329.
- SCHELHAAS, M-J., DIDION, M., HENGEVELD, G., NABUURS, G-J., MASON, B., LINDNER, M., MOISEYEV, A. & EDWARDS, D. (in prep). Impact of different levels of nature conservation designation on European forest resources. Submission to Ecology and Society.
- SCHINDLER, B., LIST, P. & STEEL, B.S. (1993) Managing federal forests: Public attitudes in Oregon and nationwide. *Journal of Forestry* 91(7): 36-42.
- SCHMITHÜSEN, F., KAZEMI, Y. & SEELAND, K. (1997) Perceptions and attitudes of the population towards forests and their social benefits: social origins and research topics of studies conducted in Germany, Austria and Switzerland between 1960 and 1005. IUFRO Occasional Paper 7. ETH, Zurich. 64 pp. (In English and German.)
- SCHNEEKLOTH, L. (1989) "Where did you go?" "The forest". "What did you see?" "Nothing". *Children's Environments Quarterly*, 6, 14-17.
- SCHRAML, U. & VOLZ, K.-R. (2004) Conversion of coniferous forests in social and political perspectives. Findings from selected countries with special respect to Germany. In: SPIECKER, H., HANSEN, J., KLIMO, E., SKOVSGAARD, J.P., STERBA, H. & TEUFFEL K.v. (eds). Norway spruce conversion options and consequences. *EFI Research Report* 18, S. Brill, Leiden, Boston, Koln, pp. 97-119.
- SCHRAML, U. & VOLZ, K.-R. (2009) Do species matter? Valuable broadleaves as an object of public perception and policy. In: SPIECKER, H. (ed): *Valuable Broadleaved Forests in Europe*. S. Brill, Leiden, Boston, Köln, pp. 213-236.
- SCHRIEWER, K. (1998) Die Wahrnehmung des Waldes im Wandel. Vokus 2: 4-17.
- SCHROEDER, H. & DANIEL, T.C. (1981) Progress in predicting the perceived scenic beauty of forest landscapes. *Forest Science*, 27, 71-80.
- SCHWEITZER, D.L., ULLRICH, J.R. & BENSON, R.E. (1976) Esthetic evaluation of timber harvesting in the northern rockies: A progress report. USDA Forest Service Research Note INT-203. Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station, Ogden, Utah.
- SCOTT, A., CARTER, C., BROWN, K., & WHITE, V. (2009) 'Seeing is not everything': Exploring the landscape experiences of different publics. *Landscape Research*, Vol. 34, No. 4, 397-424, August 2009.
- SCRINZI, G. & FLORIS, A. (2000) Featuring and modelling forest recreation in Italy. *Forestry*, 73, 173-185.
- ŠEGOTIĆ, K. & POSAVEC, S. (2007) Assessing the forest value with the eigenvector method. *Ekologia*, 26.
- SELMAN, P. (1997) The role of forestry in meeting planning objectives. Land Use Policy, 14, 55-73.
- SHELBY, B., THOMPSON, J. R., BRUNSON, M. & JOHNSON, R. (2005) A decade of ratings for six silvicultural treatments in Western Oregon. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 75, 239-246.
- SHEPPARD, S.R.J. & HARSHAW, H.W. (2001) Forest and Landscapes. Linking Ecology, Sustainability and Aesthetics. IUFRO Research Series No. 6. CABI Publishing, Wallingford.
- SIEVÄNEN, T. (1993) Outdoor recreation household survey in the city of Hämeenlinna [In Finnish, with English summary]. Folia Forestalia 824, 1-62.
- SIEVÄNEN, T. (1993) Kaupunkiväestön ulkoilukäyttäytyminen ja ulkoilualueiden käyttö. Folia. For. 824: 62, (In Finnish).
- SILVENNOINEN, H., PUKKALA, T. & TAHVANAINEN, L. (2002) Effect of cuttings on the scenic beauty of a tree stand. *Scandanavia Journal of Forest Research*, 17, 263-273.
- SILVENNOINEN, H., ALHO, J., KOLEHMAINEN, O. & PUKKALA, T. (2001) Prediction models of landscape preferences at the forest stand level. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 56, 11-20.
- SMITH, T.W. (1994) Is there real opinion change? International Journal of Public Opinion Research, 6: 187-203.

- SOLIVA, R. & HUNZIKER, M. (2008 (in press) Beyond the visual dimension: Using ideal type narratives to analyse people's assessments of landscape scenarios. *Land Use Policy*.
- SOMMER, R. & SUMMIT, J. (1996) Cross-national rankings of tree shape. *Ecol. Psychol.* 8(4), 327-341.
- STAMPS, A.E. (1999) Demographic effects in environmental aesthetics: A meta analysis. *Journal of Palnning Literaturel 14: 125-175.*
- STAMPS, A.E., (2004) Mystery, complexity, legibility, and coherence: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 24, 1-16.
- SKÄRBÄCK, E. (1980) Őresundsprojektet: landskapsanalys. (Őresund-project: landscape analysis.) Metodrapport, SNV pm 1268. 209pp. (In Swedish.)
- STRUMSE, E. (1994) Demographic differences in the visual preferences for agrarian landscapes in western Norway. *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 16, 1-15.
- STRUMSE, E. (1996) Demographic differences in the visual preferences for agrarian landscapes in western Norway. *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 16, 1-15.
- STRUMSE, E. (2002a) Allmennhetens oppfatninger av opplevel-sesverdier I kulturlandskapet (Public preferences for amenity values in the cultural landscape). Tidsskriftet Utmark 1. (in Norwegian).
- STRUMSE, E. (2002b) Oppfatninger av jordbruk og jordbruk-slandskap hos lokalbefolkningene I Hedmark og Indre Sogn (Views about agriculture and the agricultural landscape among residents of Hedmark and Sogn). In: AUSTAD, I. & ÅDLAND, E. (Eds.), Kultur-turisme. Muligheter. Problemer. Utfordringer. Bergen Museums skrifter. University of Bergen (in Norwegian).
- SUMMIT, J. & SOMMER, R. (1999) Further studies of preferred tree shapes. *Environ. Behav.* 31(4), 550-576.
- TAHVANAINEN, L., TYRVÄINEN, L., NOUISAAINEN, I. (1996) Effect of afforestation on the scenic value of rural landscape. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 11, 397-405.
- TAHVANAINEN, L., TYRVÄINEN, L., IHALAINEN, M., VUORELA, N. & KOLEHMAINEN, O. (2001) Forest management and public perceptions visual versus verbal information. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 53, 53-70.
- TÖNNES, S., KARJALAINEN, E., LÖFSTRÖM, I. & NEUVONEN, M. (2004) Scenic impacts of retention trees in clear-cutting areas. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 19, 348-357.
- TRAKOLIS, D. (2001) Local people's perceptions of planning and management issues in Prespes Lakes National Park, Greece. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 61, 227-241.
- TYRVÄINEN, L. & TAHVANAINEN, L. (1999) Using computer graphics for assessing the aesthetic value of large-scale rural landscapes. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 14, 282-288.
- TYRVÄINEN, L., NOUISIAINEN, I., SILVENNOINEN, H. & TAHVANAINEN, L. (2001) Rural tourism in Finland: tourist expectation of landscape and environment. *Scandinavian Journal of Hospitality and Tourism* 1, 133-149.
- TRYVÄINEN, L., SILVENNOINEN, H., & KOLEHMAINEN, O. (2003) Ecological and aesthetic values in urban forest management. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening* 1, 135-149.
- TRYVÄINEN, L., PAULEIT, S., SEELAND, K. & VRIES, S. (2005) Benefits and uses of urban forests and trees. In: KONIJNENDIJK, C.C., NILSSON, K., RANDRUP, T.B. & SCHIPPERIJN, J., (Eds.), Urban forests and trees, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 81-114.
- TRYVÄINEN, L., GUSAVSSON, R. & KONIJNENDIJK, O., Å. (2006) Visualisation and landscape laboratories in planning, design and management of urban woodlands. *Forest policy and economics*, 8, 811-823.
- VAN DEN BERG, A., VLEK, C. & COETHERIER, F. (1998) Group differences in aesthetic evaluation of nature development plans: a multilevel approach. J. Environ. Psychol. 18: 141-157.
- VAN DEN BERG A.E., KOOLE, S.L. (2006) New wilderness in the Netherlands: An investigation of visual preferences for nature development landscapes. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 78: 362-372.
- VAN RENSBURG, T. M., MILL, G. A., COMMON, M. & LOVETT, J. (2002) Preferences and multiple use forest management. *Ecological Economics*, 43, 231-244.

- VANDERLINDEN, I. & LUST, N. (1998) Kenntnis und Einstellung der Bevölkerung in Bezug auf den Wald in relativ waldreichen und waldarmen Regionen in Flandern, Paper presented at the meeting of Forest Policy Scientists, 01. 03, 04 1998, Freising, Germany.
- VANWIJNSBERGHE, S. & VAN DE LEEMPUT, C. (25-27 November 2002) Analyse des consultations publiques lors de la mise au point du plan de gestion de la forêt de Soignes partie Bruxelles Capitale. [Analysis of public consultations when developing the management plan for the Soignes forest Brussels capital section.]. *Colloque « la perception de la forêt ».* Paris.
- VODAK, M. C., ROBERTS, P.L., WELLMAN, J.D. & BUHYOFF, G.J. (1985) Scenic impacts of Eastern Hardwood management. *Forest Sci.*, 31, 289-301.
- VOLK, H. (1992) Neue Entwicklungen bei der Walderholung in Südwestdeutschland. Forstwissenschaftliches Centralblatt Verlag Paul Parey. Hamburg und Berlin. S, 111, 282-292.
- VOLK, H. (1995) Wieviel Wald gehört zur Erholungslandschaft? Befra-gungsergebnisse für das Naturschutzgebiet Feldberg im Schwarzwald. Natur und Landschaft 60: 500-504.
- YU, K. (1995) Cultural variations in landscape preferences: Comparisons among Chinese sub-groups and Western design experts. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 32: 107-126.
- WARD THOMPSON, C. & BOYD, F. (1998) Review of research in landscape and woodland perceptions, aesthetics and experience. Landscape Design and Research Unit, Edinburgh.
- WHERRETT, J.R. (2001) Predicting preferences for scenic landscapes using computer simulations. In: SHEPPARD, S.R.J. & HARSHAW, H.W. (Eds.), Forest and landscapes: Linking ecology, sustainability and aesthetics, IUFRO Research Series 6, CABI Publishing, Wallingford, pp. 247-260.
- WILLHITE, R.G., BOWLUS, D.R. & TARBET, D. (1973) An approach for resolution of attitude differences over forest management. *Environment and Behavior* V. 351-365.
- WILLHITE, R.G. & SISE, W.R. (1974) Measurement of reaction to forest practices. *Journal of Forestry* 72:567-571.
- WILLIAMSON, D.N. & CHALMERS, J.A. (1982) Perception of forest scenic quality in northeast Victoria: A technical report of research phases I and II. Landscape management series. Forests Commission Victoria, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia.
- WILLIS, K. & GARROD, G. (1992) Amenity value of forests in Great Britain and its impact on the internal rate of return from forestry. *Forestry*, 65(3): 331-346.
- WILLIS, K., GARROD, G. & SCARPA, R. (2000) Non-market benefits of forestry: Phase 1. Centre for Research in Environmental Appraisal and Management, University of Newcastle.
- WILLIS, K. (2003) Woodland its Contribution to Sustainable Development and the Quality of Life. Report by Environmental Resources Management for The Woodland Trust, UK.
- WILLIS, K G., GARROD, G., SCARPA, R., POWE, N., LOVETT, A., BATEMAN, I.J., HANLEY, N. & MACMILLAN, D.C. (2003) The Social and Environmental Benefits of Forests in Great Britain: Report to Forestry Commission, Edinburgh. *Social and Environmental Benefits of Forestry, Phase 2.* Centre for Research in Environmental Appraisal & Management, University of Newcastle.
- WING, M.G. & JOHNSON, R. (2001) Quantifying Forest Visibility with Spatial Data. *Environmental Management*, 27, 411-420.
- WÖBSE, H.H. (1972) Untersuchung zum Nutzungs- und Bestandswandel der Solling-Wälder. Die vom Urlauber bevorzugten Waldtypen und Folgerungen für die Planung. Diss. TU Hannover.
- YARROW, C. (1966) A preliminary survey of the public's concepts of amenity in British forestry. *Forestry* 39:59-67.
- YEISER, J.L. & SHILLING, C.L. (1978) Student responses to selected terms and scenes in natural resource management. *Journal of Forestry* 76:497-498.
- ZANDERSEN, M. & TOL, R.S.J. (2005) A meta-analysis of forest recreation values in Europe. Working paper FNU-86.
- ZANDERSEN, M., TERMANSEN, M. & JENSEN, F.S. (2007) Evaluating approaches to predict recreation values of new forest sites. *Journal of Forest Economics*, 13, 103-128.
- ZEIDENITZ, C., JOACHIM MOSLER, H. & HUNZIKER, M. (2007) Outdoor recreation: from analysing motivations to furthering ecologically responsible behaviour. *For. Snow Landsc. Res*, 81, 175-190.

ZUBE, E.H., SELL, J.L. & TAYLOR, J.G. (1982) Landscape perception: research, application and theory. *Landscape Planning*, 9, 1-33.
ZUNDEL, R. & VÖLKSEN., G. (2002) *Ergebnisse der Walderholungsforschung*, <u>www.forstbuch.de</u>.